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We are committed to creating value for
stakeholders by providing comprehensive
and innovative solutions that achieve high
quality results.
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SIGNIFICANT EVENTS OF THE YEAR
AFKXKEORR

Completion of disposal of the property
and facility management business in
Hong Kong and ancillary business to
China Resources Property Management
Limited.

CoyLtd & ISP Holdings Ltd. . s _ .
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Commencement for construction work for
proposed residential redevelopment at
Bisney Road, Pokfulam.
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SIGNIFICANT EVENTS OF THE YEAR
AFERSORE

Recognised as MPF Good Employer 2021-2022 by The Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Authority.
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Awarded an alteration and
addition works at Middle Gap
Road, Wanchai.
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SIGNIFICANT EVENTS OF THE YEAR
AEREORE

Awarded a residential redevelopment
project at Headland Road, Repulse Bay.
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Awarded a renovation work for an office at
Wang Chiu Road, Kowloon Bay.
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Won three awards including Proactive
Safety Contractor Award for the Year
2021, Safety Person-in-charge Award for
the Year 2021 and Safe Supervisor Award
for the Year 2021 from the Hong Kong
Construction Association.
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SIGNIFICANT EVENTS OF THE YEAR
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Won 14th Hong Kong Outstanding
OSH Employee Award — Silver
Award in Foreman Category from
Occupation Safety and Health
Council.
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Practical Completion of a
nominated sub-contractor
contract for fitting out work of a
temple in Wan Chai.
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Won 21st Hong Kong
Occupational Safety and
Health Award 2022 — Safety
Performance Award from
Occupation Safety and Health
Council.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
EFRMWS

Chairman

Mr. Kingston Chu Chun Ho
£

RIREEE

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board of Directors (the “Board”) of ISP Holdings
Limited (the “Company”), I am pleased to present to you the annual
performance of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively, the
“Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2022 (the “Reporting
Year”).

2022 was a tough year for Hong Kong’s economy, which was
battered by the fifth wave of the novel coronavirus (“COVID-19")
outbreak throughout the year. The Group was inevitably affected
by the economic downturn and uncertain environment. For the
Reporting Year, the Group recorded consolidated revenue of
approximately HK$224.9 million, representing a decrease of
approximately 47.8% as compared to the approximately HK$430.7
million for the year ended 31 December 2021 (the “Corresponding
Year”). Under this unfavorable environment, the gross profit of
the Group still increased 29.7% over the Corresponding Year to
approximately HK$22.7 million. Such increase in gross profit was
mainly contributed by the effort of the management and project
team on cost saving from certain completed projects with some
subcontractors’ final acceptance of more realistic final payment on
their work performed and non-recurrence of significant downward
adjustment on both revenue and gross profit of a completed project

ISP HOLDINGS LIMITED
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in the Corresponding Year. Aim to recoup the unpaid sum in relation
to the aforesaid project recognised in the Corresponding Year, the
Group has proceeded to take legal actions during the end of 2022.

During the Reporting Year, the Company disposed of the property
and facility management business in Hong Kong (the “PFM HK
Business”) and ancillary business (the “Ancillary Business”)
(collectively, the “Disposal Group”) to China Resources Property
Management Limited at a consideration of HK$539.0 million (the
“Disposal”). Benefitting from the disposal gain of approximately
HK$438.4 million, the Group recorded a profit attributable to
Shareholders of approximately HK$436.7 million for the Reporting
Year.

The Disposal was a valuable opportunity for the Group to realise the
intrinsic value of the PFM HK Business and return to the Company’s
shareholders. Special dividends of HK$0.59 per share and HK$0.20
per share, totaling approximately HK$297.9 million and HK$101.0
million, had been paid to shareholders out of the proceeds from the
Disposal on 22 February 2022 and 21 December 2022 respectively.
Also, the Disposal strengthened the Group’s financial position
and cash reserves to prepare for the uncertainties brought on by
a prolonged COVID-19 period, and particularly during the current
environment where consumer and business confidence has been
greatly affected by the COVID-19 outbreak. Following the Disposal,
the Group will concentrate on developing the interiors and special
projects business (“ISP Business”).

Stepping in 2023, Hong Kong’s economy is showing signs of gradual
recovery with the relaxation of the COVID-19 policies in both Hong
Kong and China. However, the business environment remains
challenging and uncertain. The rapid increase in interest rate hikes
announced by the US Federal Reserve, along with a high inflation
rate has led to an increased cost of materials and labor, further
challenging our potential project tenders. During this difficult time,
our ISP Business will adopt an active approach to closely monitor
the completion of existing projects, while focusing our tendering
on luxury residential projects and rehabilitation of sizable estates,
both of which are more resilient to economic downturns. A notable
major future prospect of sufficient land sale for private housing
development in the next five years to meet projected demand
to stabilise private housing supply as promulgated in the Chief
Executive Policy Address, should give rise to an increase in the
demand for building construction and fitting out works, and the
Group will strive to capture the opportunities to drive our business
growth. Leveraging its solid foundation, past record and committed
management team, the Group has full confidence in overcoming
future challenges and tapping the vast growth potentials ahead.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
EREBSE

Aligning our values of customer-focus, integrity, teamwork,
innovation and the pursuit of excellence, together with responsible
business and sustainability, is our core long term strategy. We
are committed to proactively making improvements under
the implementation of Total Quality Management, through the
comprehensive and innovative solutions in our provisions of
quality of services, with the aim to enhance customer satisfaction.
The Group is cautiously optimistic about the outlook of our core
business amidst continuing challenge and uncertainties in 2023.

On behalf of the Board, I would like to express my most sincere
gratitude to our Directors and dedicated staff members for their
unwavering commitment and passion towards our business
during these difficult times, driving the Group towards sustainable
development. I would also like to sincerely thank all our valued
service providers, business partners as well as our shareholders
for their continuous support and patience throughout the years.
Looking to the future, although the construction industry is still full
of challenge and uncertainty, we still have confidence to overcome
and create value for stakeholders by leveraging our professional
management team, and continue to provide comprehensive one
stop solutions for our customers.

Kingston Chu Chun Ho
Chairman

Hong Kong, 24 March 2023
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEwmEAM

FINANCIAL OVERVIEW Rt ES
Change
b=

HK$’ million BEEET 2022 2021 Amount %
Continuing Operations BEREEK
Revenue Uz 224.9 430.7 (205.8) L 47.8%
Gross profit EF 22.7 17.5 5.2 129.7%
Gross profit margin FEFIE 10.1% 4.1% - 1 6.0%
Operating expenses KERT (M EREFE)

(excluding interest) (25.7) (30.7) 5.0 1 16.3%
Interest expenses in bank loans $R17E X & A # f& & %

and convertible bonds o= - (2.7) 2.7 1 100.0%
Operating loss KRR (3.0) (15.9) 12.9 1 81.1%
Otherincome and gainor loss ~ Ef Ut A M8z 5.1 8.3 (3.2) 1 38.6%
Government subsidy R e B 2.1 - 2.1 -
Interest expenses for lease HEFBFRX (0.2) (0.2) 0.1 ! 50.0%
Direct cost in relation to the BN ENEERA

Disposal (5.6) (6.3) 0.7 L 11.1%
Taxation g (0.2) (1.3) 1.1 1 84.6%
Loss for the year from FARBFELEER

Continuing Operations o) gl a.7) (15.4) 13.7 1 89.0%
Discontinued Operations SRIEEK
Profit for the year from FERRECKRIEEEH

Discontinued Operations el 438.4 35.0 403.4 1 1,152.6%
Continuing Operations & BEREERR

Discontinued Operations ERIEER
Profit attributable to the equity &2 F#EFEZEF A

holders of the Company PEAE R 436.7 19.6 4171 12,1281%
EBITDA REM - HER

B H A2 AN 440.0 44.1 3959  1897.7%

Basic earnings per share BRERRZR

(HK cents) (BEAL) 87.9 4.6 83.3 11,810.9%

ISP HOLDINGS LIMITED ..................................................................................... 2022 ANNUAL REPORT



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Continuing Operations

The interiors and special projects business (“ISP Business”) and the
property management and facility management business in China
(“PFM China Business”) constituted the Continuing Operations of
the Group. The Continuing Operations together reported revenue of
approximately of HK$224.9 million for the year ended 31 December
2022 (the “Reporting Year”), representing a decrease of 47.8%
over that of last year (2021: HK$430.7 million). Such decrease was
mainly due to (1) completion of several key contracts last year;
(2) late sites handover and confirmation of design, materials and
nominated subcontractors, which disrupted our original progress
of on-going projects; and (3) the outbreak of the fifth wave of novel
coronavirus (“COVID-19”), which reduced the available tenders in
the industry and incredibly increased the difficulty to replenish our
workload as the business environment became competitive.

Under this unfavourable environment, the gross profit of the Group
still increased by 29.7% over that of last year to approximately
HK$22.7 million and the gross profit margin increased from 4.1%
to 10.1% for the Reporting Year as compared with that of last
year. One of the factors for the increase in gross profit and gross
profit margin was that the downward adjustment in revenue and
gross profit recognised last year on a completed project for billed
but unpaid work done had not recurred in the Reporting Year and
legal action was taken at the end of the Reporting Year targeting to
recoup such unpaid sum. Another crucial factor contributed to such
increase was cost saving from certain completed projects with some
subcontractors’ final acceptance of more realistic final payments
on their performed works through the effort of management and
project team. These two factors offset the negative impact on
the decrease of revenue in the Reporting Year and brought an
acceptable result on both gross profit and gross profit margin to the
Group.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BB R RD I

To optimise its capital structure and reduce finance costs, all the
convertible bonds had been redeemed at time prior to maturity
date last year. Loss of early redemption recognised last year
had not recurred in the Reporting Year. Also, certain corporate
overheads were reduced as a result of disposal of property
and facility management business in Hong Kong (the "PFM HK
Business") and Ancillary Business (the "Ancillary Business")
(collectively, the “Disposal Group”). Under these circumstances,
the operating expenses (excluding interest) decreased by 16.3% to
approximately HK$25.7 million for the Reporting Year as compared
with that of last year (2021: HK$30.7 million). Meanwhile, with the
full repayment of bank loans and redemption of convertible bonds,
no interest expenses in bank loan and convertible bonds were
incurred for the Reporting Year. Together with the direct cost of
approximately HK$5.6 million in relation to the disposal and various
factors mentioned above, the Continuing Operations still recorded
a loss of approximately HK$1.7 million for the Reporting Year, but
has been able to decrease its loss by 89.0% from last year (2021:
HK$15.4 million).

Discontinued Operations

Discontinued Operations of the Group comprised the PFM HK
Business and the Ancillary Business, which contributed profit of
approximately HK$35.0 million to the Group for the year ended
31 December 2021, were disposed to China Resources Property
Management Limited on 10 January 2022 for the consideration of
HK$539.0 million and the disposal gain of approximately HK$438.4
million was recognised in the Reporting Year.

Continuing Operations and Discontinued Operations

Including both the results of Continuing Operations and disposal
gain from Discontinued Operations, the Group recorded the profit
attributable to equity holders of the Company of approximately
HK$436.7 million for the Reporting Year (2021: HK$19.6 million)
whilst basic earnings per share of the Group were 87.9 HK cents
(2021: earnings per share was 4.6 HK cents).

ISP HOLDINGS LIMITED
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PROSPECTS

Business Overview

In early January 2022, the Group disposed the PFM HK Business
and the Ancillary Business to a third party. Upon completion of
disposal, the Group focused on the expansion and development of
ISP Business and maintained the existing operating scale of PFM

China Business.

BB m RO
RIEOBNRAIR

SR EES

M2022F 1A - REBERKEEMERRE
EREBLENEBLEETE =7 - THHE
FIHE  AEBFIRERRERERNRMR
FRORTE B ¥75 - WIS RIMERREEEE
W RBEERE -

Business Results EEE
ISP Business PFM China Business
EREMRBHRIEE EK FENERRBERER
Change Change
- -]
HK$’ million BERER 2021 Amount % 2021 Amount %
% x|
Revenue Yrzs 217.7 418.9 (201.2)  148.0% 7.2 11.7 (45)  1385%
Gross Profit E7 18.1 8.9 9.2  1103.4% 4.6 8.6 (4.0  1465%
Operating Expenses & &FH% (14.9) (12.8) 1)  116.4% 4.7 (8.7) 40 146.0%
Interest Expenses  F 2B % - 2.7) 2.7 1100.0% = - - -
Operating Profit/  E&%F/
(Loss) (2 3.2 (6.6) 9.8 1148.5% 0.2) 0.2) - -
Government BTG
Subsidies (Note) (FE) 2.1 - 2.1 - = - - -
Others Hity 0.7 31 (2.4)  177.4% 0.7 0.2) 0.9 1450.0%
Taxation HE (0.2) (1.3) 11 184.6% - - - -
Net Profit/(Loss) %%,/ (18) 5.8 (4.8) 10.6  1220.8% 0.6 (0.3) 0.9 1300.0%
Note: Government subsidies — Employment Support Scheme launched by the Hong BT @ BFiBh — BB RITTHEBUFH#E R ORMRE S -

Kong Government.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEES W R D

ISP Business

After the completion of the disposal of the PFM Business and the
Ancillary Business, ISP Business has become the major business
arm of the Group and contributed over 95% revenue of the Group.
The ISP Business, which has been in operation since 2006 before
being acquired by the Group in late of 2012, had completed over
249 projects with a contract sum of over HK$9.0 billion up to 31
December 2022 in a large variety of services, including interior
design, fitting out, renovation and conservation, alterations and
additions (“A&A”), construction, maintenance, and buildability
and feasibility studies for building related projects, to its local
customers.

2022 was a challenging year for our ISP Business. Our ISP
Business was inevitably affected by economic downturns and
uncertain business environment caused by the outbreak of the
fifth wave of the COVID-19 throughout the year. The tightening or
reimplementation of social distance measures, travel restriction
and isolation measures gave a further serious attack to economic
activities and even led to the halt of the local operation, in particular
to retails and restaurant industries until signs of recovery surfaced
at the end of last year. Our potential business operators and
property owners were hesitated and took a prudent business
approach to defer or even abandon their fitting out, A&A works
or new construction project plans. The available tenders in the
market decreased sharply and the competition in the industry
became stiff. Meanwhile, ISP Business has been cautious during
the Reporting Year in tendering projects and more selective
in tender opportunities due to the depressed environment.
These all resulted in decrease in our new contracts awarded
during the Reporting Year. Meanwhile, the work progress of our
existing projects was disrupted by (1) tight manpower due to the
sustainable high infected COVID-19 index; (2) the lockdown policy
and transportation restriction implemented in several Provinces
in China, which affected the supply of materials to our projects;
and (3) late handover of site and confirmation of design, materials
and nominated subcontractors. All these factors caused project
construction period to drag longer. Although notice of claims had
been submitted to employers to avoid any disputes in future, it still
served a hit to the revenue of ISP Business, which decreased by
48.0% from last year. During the Reporting Year, ISP Business had
completed a nominated fitting out project of temple in Wanchai and
several offices A&A projects. Together with the workload of two on-
going residential development projects in Peak Road and Pokfulam
and two nominated fitting out projects in Aberdeen and Mongkok,
ISP Business recorded a revenue of approximately HK$217.7
million for the Reporting Year (2021: HK$418.9 million).

ISP HOLDINGS LIMITED
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Besides the adverse impact of COVID-19, the Russo-Ukrainian
conflict disrupted the global supply chain and resulted in a dramatic
increment on the price of the building materials, especially concrete,
steel and diesel, as well as machinery and transport cost. Benefit
from the vision of our management, ISP Business had early signed
the agreements with suppliers for most of the materials required by
our existing projects in order to fix the costs once awarded. For that
reason, the impact on price rise in building materials was limited to
our existing projects only. On the other hand, with the unremitting
effort of the management and project teams, there were significant
savings from certain completed projects with final acceptance by
some of the subcontractors for a more realistic final payment on
their performed works. Aside from the cost saving, the fact that the
downward adjustment in revenue of a completed project recorded
last year had not recurred in the Reporting Year would be another
crucial factor for ISP Business to achieve an acceptable result on
gross profit with an increase of 103.4% over that of last year to
approximately of HK$18.1 million for the Reporting Year even in the
economic downturns. As all the bank loans and convertible bonds
were repaid and redeemed last year, there were no more loan
interest expenses incurred for ISP Business in the Reporting Year.
Albeit the operating expenses increased by 16.4% over that of last
year to approximately of HK$14.9 million as more professional fees
were incurred for the legal cases, the aforesaid factors together had
contributed to a turnaround for ISP Business from operating loss
of approximately HK$6.6 million for last year to operating profit of
approximately of HK$3.2 million for the Reporting Year. As well as
the subsidy from the Employment Support Scheme launched by the
Government of HKSAR, ISP Business recorded the net profit for the
Reporting Year of approximately HK$5.8 million.

With the hard works of our management team and good past
performance in the industry amid the uncertain economic
environment, ISP Business was awarded two significant contracts
during the Reporting Year, which included an A&A works at Middle
Gap Road and a residential development project at Headland
Road. The total awarded contract amounted to approximately
HK$152.1 million for the Reporting Year. Meanwhile, the total
outstanding workload for contracts on hand as of 31 December
2022 was approximately HK$285.9 million, all of which is expected
to be recognised in 2023. As of the report date, ISP Business
had tendered for 5 projects and pended for the result, including
new build, fitting out, rehabilitation and A&A works with the total
contract sum over HK$660.0 million. These new projects would
bring in substantial income to the Group in the next few years if
awarded.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BB R RD I

In early of 2023, there are signs of COVID-19 faltered with the
relaxation of travel restriction, social distance measure and mask
mandate in several Asian countries and regions including Hong
Kong. However, the continuing rising benchmark interest rate
by the US Fed and when the Russo-Ukrainian conflicts to cease
have posed uncertainty to the global economy. ISP Business is
unavoidably weakened under this hostile environment. During
the tough time, our ISP Business adopted an active approach to
complete the existing projects while simultaneously vigilantly
tendered for new projects to replenish our workload. ISP Business
was successively awarded 2 projects related to luxury residential
sector for the Reporting Year. ISP Business would continue to
reposition our market with strategic focus on the luxury residential
sector. Meanwhile, we would also seize the opportunities from
rehabilitation of sizable estates, which is relatively less susceptible
to the economic downturns. As announced in the latest Chief
Executive Policy Address (the “Policy Address”), the Government
would provide sufficient land for private housing development in
the next five years to meet projected demand to stabilise private
housing supply. The Policy Address should give rise to an increase
in the demand for building construction and fitting out works, which
would provide plentiful business opportunities to ISP Business.

By virtue of our enhanced financial resource and taking into account
of the Policy Address , the projects currently on hand, the tenders
submitted recently as well as more sizable tenders, which we
plan to submit this year, Directors are confident that there will
be considerable business opportunities and growth impetus in
the market for ISP Business to expand. Also, ISP Business is well
positioned to capture these business opportunities and market
growth in the near future.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

PFM China Business

Following the disposal of the PFM HK Business and the Ancillary
Business, our supporting team in Shenzhen of PFM HK Business was
dismissed and transferred to the buyer. The relative intercompany
income from PFM HK Business did not recur during the Reporting
Year, which had incurred last year. Furthermore, lockdown policy
in Shanghai served a serious punch to PFM China Business as our
PFM China Business focused on Shanghai in recent year. Despite of
all these negative impacts, the performance of PFM China Business
did not get deteriorated with effective cost control measure and
incurred an operating loss of HK$0.1 million for the Reporting Year,
which was same as last year.

Subsequent to the Reporting Year, our PFM China Business
successful renewed a property and facility management contract for
a composite building with office and retail pavilions in Shanghai for
two years. Meanwhile, our PFM China Business was also awarded
a property management contract for a commercial building in
Qingdao for one year.

Going forward, although there was relaxation of the COVID-19
measure in China in the beginning of 2023, the competition faced
by PFM China Business is still keen. The Group will adopt prudent
approach to maintain the existing structure while simultaneously
explore new or alternative business development opportunities to
enhance income streams of PFM China Business.

Disposal of PFM HK Business and Ancillary Business

During the Reporting Year, the Company completed the disposal
of the PFM HK Business and the Ancillary Business to China
Resources Property Management Limited at a consideration of
HK$539.0 million and a disposal gain of approximately HK$438.4
million was recognised by the Group. For details, please refer to
the announcements of the Company dated 26 November 2021,
23 December 2021 and 10 January 2022 and the circular of the
Company dated 1 December 2021.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEES W R D

Outlook of the Group

Looking ahead, we expect the local economy remains challenging,
amid deteriorating investor and consumer confidence, rising global
inflation and local economic downturn. Under these unstable
environment, our ISP Business would expect to suffer from these
negative impacts to a certain degree. Nevertheless, we are well-
equipped to target the opportunity on the relatively steady of
development and rehabilitation of luxury residential sector as well
as commercial sector, local residential property. Leveraging on
our good historical track records and experience in the industry,
diversified professional team and our strengthened liquidity and
financial position, we are able to undertake more sizable projects
in the coming year and strive to maintain a continuous business
growth.

On a Group-wide overview, we consider that the overall financial
performance of the Group remains stable with growth. Same as
the past, alongside improving financial performance, we must
continue a transparent, responsible and embracing approach
to business so that we can continue our journey to sustainable
development. Aligning our values of customer focus, integrity,
teamwork, innovation and pursuit of excellence, sustainability
is our core business strategy. We are committed to enhancing
customer satisfaction through better communication with clients
and continual improvement to our services. Besides, with the rapid
change of business environment, we will take appropriate measures
to manage various operational and financial risks. By virtue of its
solid foundation and committed management team, the Group has
full confidence in overcoming all the difficulties ahead of us.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Financial Position and Financial Risk Management

As at 31 December 2022, there was no outstanding bank loan
for the Group as all bank loans were repaid last year. During the
Reporting Year, the Group’s sources of fund were generated
primarily from operating and investing activities (including proceeds
from disposal of the PFM HK Business and the Ancillary Business).

With regard to the current portfolio of businesses, management
expects that financial requirements for the foreseeable future
will be met from a combination of shareholders’ equity and
banking facilities. Meanwhile, the Company disposed of the PFM
HK Business and the Ancillary Business with a consideration of
HK$539.0 million and disposal gains of approximately HK$438.4
million was recognised during the Reporting Year. Following the
Disposal, special dividends of HK$0.59 per share and HK$0.20
per share, totaling approximately HK$297.9 million and HK$101.0
million, had been paid to shareholders in February 2022 and
December 2022 respectively out of the proceeds from the Disposal.
In addition, part of the proceeds from the disposal after dividend is
proposed to be deployed towards further strengthening competitive
advantage of the Continuing Operations of the Group with extra
cash for the purchase of surety bonds and payment of upfront cost,
which will enable the Continuing Operations to tender for larger
and/or more projects which in turn can contribute to increase in
tender success rate and facilitate the expansion of the ISP Business.
The Group would continue to proactively monitor the financial
position and maintain sufficient working capital and liquidity in the
way that can enable us to capture more business opportunities in
the market when they arise, hereby benefiting their profitability.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BB R RD I

Financial position (HK$’000) BRI (GB¥E T T) m 2021
Total assets EEH#E 424,314 521,963
Receivables and other assets FEWERR R & E 249,187 246,978
Cash and cash equivalents and pledged ReEkHAeFELDEMA

bank deposits/time deposits with BITER R AR A=EA

original maturities over three months Z EHITFER 172,951 82,661
Assets classified as held for sale DA IEHE 2 EE - 188,017
Current assets REBEE 422,138 517,656
Payables and other liabilities ERTERR R B B E 223,871 268,413
Liabilities classified as held for sale DERFBIEHEZBE = 87,457
Current liabilities RBERE 223,871 355,870
Non-current liabilities kRBER 245 1,116
Net assets EEFRE 200,198 164,977
Net assets per share (HK cents) BREEZEGBEW) 39.7 32.7
Current ratio mENLL =R 1.9 1.5

The Group adopts a conservative approach in the management
of its financial risks and resources, under the supervision of the
Directors.

The Group’s business is conducted primarily in Hong Kong, and
its majority assets and liabilities are denominated in Hong Kong
Dollars. Therefore, the Group has minimal foreign currency
exposure. The growth of the Group’s business in China has been
funded via permanent capital injection, which is for the long-term
and as such, foreign currency hedging is considered unnecessary.

There were no material investments, capital commitments or
contingent liabilities as at 31 December 2022 and up to the date
of this report, other than a writ of summons received by ISP
Construction (Engineering) Limited, an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, from the employer of the factory
development at Yuen Long, details of which are disclosed in the
announcement of the Company dated 18 January 2021.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Cash Management

The Group operates a centralised cash management system. Cash
balances surplus to meet immediate requirements are mainly
placed as short-term bank deposits with licensed banks in Hong
Kong.

Human Resources

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had a total of 317 staff
(including Directors of the Company) in Hong Kong and China (2021:
4,810, of which 4,492 were employed by the PFM HK Business and
the Ancillary Business and 318 staff by the ISP Business and the
PFM China Business).

The economy, business and the job market in Hong Kong staged a
slight recovery since the second half end of 2022. Human resources
are continuously playing a major role in supporting the Group under
new normal environment. To advance workplace wellness programs
to achieve employees’ well being and work-life balance, we have
been instrumental in maintaining business continuity and preparing
the Group for sustainable growth. Being more flexible, remote-
friendly and digital working norms, the changes in processes,
workspaces, collaboration systems, and employee wellness are
more critical. In order to sustain our quality services, it is always
our long-term goal to retain top talent for the Group. We put a lot
of efforts in ensuring our staff members are enjoying competitive
remuneration and benefits through market research for regular
benchmarking review. Our Human Resources team always strives
their best to keep track of changes in the latest market conditions
for attracting more high caliber candidates to join our winning team.
In addition, aiming for the mutual growth of the staff and the Group,
we do our utmost to invest and share resources with our staff.
We do believe our staff will reward the Company and customers
through providing quality services and thus gain more appreciation
and recognition from the customers.
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PROFILES OF DIRECTORS
ESZEN

(aged 37)

Mr. Kingston Chu Chun Ho
(“Mr. Chu”) was appointed as
an Executive Director and the
Chairman of the Company with
effect from 9 March 2017. He is also
the chairman of the Investment
Committee and a member of each
of the Executive Committee, the
Nomination Committee and the
Remuneration Committee.

Mr. Chu is a licensed person under Securities and Futures Ordinance
for Type 1 (dealing in securities) and Type 6 (advising on corporate
finance) regulated activities for Kingston Securities Limited and
Kingston Corporate Finance Limited, respectively. Mr. Chu is a
member of Guangxi Committee of The Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference, a member of General Committee of The
Chamber of Hong Kong Listed Companies, vice president of Hong
Kong CPPCC Youth Association, vice director of Youth Committee
of HKCPPCC (Provincial) Members Association, vice president
of Federation of Hong Kong Guangxi Community Organisations,
vice chairman of Hong Kong Guangdong Youth Association,
honorary chairman of Hong Kong Guangxi Youth Organisations and
founder chairman of Youth Committee of Hong Kong Federation
of Dongguan Associations. Mr. Chu holds a Bachelor Degree of
Science in Business Administration from the University of Southern
Californiain the U.S.A..

Mr. Chu has been an executive director of Kingston Financial Group
Limited since 21 August 2015, the shares of which were withdrawn
voluntarily from listing on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”) on 27 February 2023. He has also been
an executive director of Sincere Watch (Hong Kong) Limited (stock
code: 444) since 29 May 2012, which is listed on the main board (the
“Main Board”) of the Stock Exchange.

He is the son of Mrs. Chu Yuet Wah, the ultimate beneficial owner of

Champ Key Holdings Limited, which is the controlling shareholder
of the Company.
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(aged 49)

Mr. Lam Chun Kit (“Mr. Lam”) was
appointed as a Non-executive
Director of the Company with
effect from 16 February 2022.
He is also a member of the
Investment Committee.

Mr. Lam is the financial controller
of VMS Investment Group Limited,
which is an investment company
specializing in equity investments, private equity investments and
structured financing.

Before that, Mr. Lam worked in a private group engaging in
investment properties and oil and gas industry as head of finance
control, and in international audit firms over 10 years. Mr. Lam
has developed extensive experience in finance and accounting,
treasury, tax and corporate governance. Mr. Lam graduated from
The Hong Kong Polytechnic University with a bachelor’s degree
of Arts in Accountancy. He is also a member of The Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
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PROFILES OF DIRECTORS
EEZBN

(aged 53)

Mr. Lau Man Tak (“Mr. Lau”) has
been appointed as an Independent
Non-executive Director since 28
September 2017. He is also the
chairman of the Audit Committee,
and a member of each of the
Remuneration Committee, the
Nomination Committee and the
Investment Committee.

Mr. Lau graduated from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University with
a bachelor’s degree of arts in accountancy in November 1991.
Mr. Lau has more than 20 years of experience in finance and
accounting. He is an associate member of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants and a fellow member of each of the
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants in United Kingdom,
The Hong Kong Institute of Directors and the Hong Kong Securities
and Investment Institute.

Mr. Lau is currently the chairman and a non-executive director of
REF Holdings Limited (stock code: 1631), a company listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange. He was also an independent
non-executive director of Kingston Financial Group Limited (the
shares of which were withdrawn voluntarily from listing on the
Stock Exchange on 27 February 2023) until his resignation on 8
March 2023. Mr. Lau was an executive director and chairman of
TEM Holdings Limited (“TEM”) since 2015 and was re-designated
as a director in January 2021 upon the withdrawal of the listing
of TEM by way of privatisation. He was also an independent non-
executive director of Chinese Food and Beverage Group Limited
since February 2019 until his resignation upon its cancellation of
listing on GEM of the Stock Exchange on 13 July 2021.
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MR. ERIC LEE HON MAN
(aged 56)

Mr. Eric Lee Hon Man (“Mr.
Lee”) has been appointed as
an Independent Non-executive
Director since 28 September
2017. He is the chairman of the
Nomination Committee, and a
member of each of the Audit
Committee and the Remuneration
Committee.

Mr. Lee is currently an independent non-executive director of REF
Holdings Limited (stock code: 1631), a company listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange. He was an independent non-executive
director of TEM Holdings Limited (“TEM”) since April 2016 until
his resignation in January 2021 upon the withdrawal of the listing
of TEM by way of privatization. Mr. Lee is currently employed by
Opus Capital Limited, a company engaging in advising on corporate
finance and dealing in securities, as managing director. He
graduated from the University of Birmingham, the United Kingdom
with a bachelor’s degree of engineering in electronic and electrical
engineering in July 1988, and obtained a master’s degree in
business administration from the Chinese University of Hong Kong
in December 1993.

Mr. Lee has over 20 years of experience in the corporate finance
industry. From December 2020 to July 2022, he worked at Alliance
Capital Partners Limited, a company engaging in advising on
corporate finance and dealing in securities, as managing director.
From March 2017 to June 2020, he worked at Orient Capital
(Hong Kong) Limited, a company engaging in advising on corporate
finance, as managing director of investment banking department.
From August 2015 to February 2017, Mr. Lee worked at LY Capital
Limited, a company engaging in advising on corporate finance,
as a director. From April 2002 to November 2014, he worked at
First Shanghai Capital Limited, a company engaging in advising
on corporate finance, and his last position was managing director.
From July 1997 to March 2002, he worked at DBS Asia Capital
Limited, a company engaging in advising on corporate finance, and
his last position was vice president.
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PROFILES OF DIRECTORS
EEZBN

(aged 66)

Mr. To Chun Wai (“Mr. To”)
has been appointed as an
Independent Non-executive
Director since 1 March 2021.
He is the chairman of the
Remuneration Committee, and
a member of each of the Audit
Committee and the Nomination
Committee.

Mr. To is at present the chief executive officer of a Hong Kong
registered consultancy company, and an independent non-
executive director of Auto Italia Holdings Limited (stock code: 720)
and Greenheart Group Limited (stock code: 94), both of which
are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. Mr. To spent
most of his career with the Hong Kong Police, beginning in 1974
and rising up the ranks to Assistant Commissioner (Crime), being
responsible for the overall charge of policy designs and operations
of, among others, the Commercial Crime Bureau, Organized Crime &
Triad Bureau, Criminal Intelligence Bureau, Financial Investigation
Bureau (anti money-laundering), and Technology Crime Bureau,
until his retirement in 2011.

Mr. To was awarded the Police Meritorious Service Medal by the
Chief Executive of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region,
in recognition of his long and staunch service and contribution to
the Hong Kong society. From 2011 to 2012, he served as a part-
time tutor at the University of Hong Kong. Between April 2013 and
August 2018, he served as the chief strategic officer, chief operating
officer, and a non-executive director of Integrated Waste Solutions
Group Holdings Limited (“IWS”), the shares of which are listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 923), and sat on
both the remuneration and nomination committees of IWS during
his tenure of services.

Mr. To has wide administrative and management experiences in

both the public and private sectors, and holds a master degree of
public administration from the University of Hong Kong.
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PROFILES OF THE GROUP’S KEY PERSONNEL

MR. GARY TSE CHI CHIU

MEng (Civil & Architectural),
CEng, MIStructkE, MCIOB, MHKIE,
MHKICM, ICE, RPE(Structural),
Chartered Construction Manager
(aged 45)

Mr. Gary Tse Chi Chiu (“Mr. Tse”)
was appointed as an Acting
Managing Director for the interiors
and special projects business (the
“ISP Business”) and a member
of the Executive Committee with
effect from 7 May 2020. He is also a director of certain subsidiaries
of the Company and is responsible for strategic planning, business
development and overall operation of ISP Business and in charge of
Planning, Engineering and Plant Department of the Group.

Mr. Tse joined interiors and special projects division in 2011. He has
strong background in structural design and consultation knowledge
and processes 20 years of experience in the design, construction,
supervision and project management. He has also been involved in
various building, civil and renovation projects in Hong Kong, Macau,
United Kingdom and Middle East.

Mr. Tse is a qualified contractor specialising in construction
management in a wide range of construction projects including high
rise class residential and commercial development, social facilities,
shopping complex, hotel, hospital building; fitting out works
together with alteration and addition works, major demolition and
repair works. He also qualified as a combined Chartered Civil and
Structural Engineer as well as a Registered Professional Engineer.
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PROFILES OF THE GROUP'S KEY PERSONNEL
EBEREZENMN

MR. LEUNG CHI MING
EMBA RICS CIH CPM (aged 49)

Mr. Leung Chi Ming (“Mr.
Leung”) is the Regional Director
(China) and a director of certain
subsidiaries of the Company.
Mr. Leung holds an Executive
Master’s Degree of Business
Administration in Real Estate
from Shanghai Advanced Institute
of Finance. He is also currently a
Registered Professional Housing Manager of Institute of Real Estate
Management and a member of each of the Chartered Institute of
Housing Asia Pacific Branch and Royal Institution of Chartered
Surveyor.

Mr. Leung joined the Group in 1999 and has over 20 years of
extensive experience in real estate consultancy and service in Hong
Kong and China. He is responsible for the overall strategic planning,
business development and management operations of the real
estate business of the Group in China.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Company recognises the interests of and its responsibility to
one of its most important stakeholders — the shareholders. It is
committed to upholding high standards of corporate governance
as a means of protecting and enhancing shareholder value and
ensuring the integrity of operations of the Group. Its corporate
governance standards are built on the principles of independence,
accountability, transparency and fairness with an appropriate
system of checks and balances.

The Group has the mission to provide comprehensive and
innovative solutions to achieve high quality results in both interiors
and special projects business in Hong Kong and property and
facility management business in China, so as to create value for
its stakeholders whilst maintaining long-term profitability and
assets growth with the adoption of flexible business model and
prudential risk and capital management framework. The Board
and the management always play a visionary role in the Group’s
development of business model to align the culture of the Group
emphasizing on customer-focus, integrity, teamwork, innovation
and the pursuit of excellence, together with responsible business
and sustainability. Through the implementation of our Group’s
business model, we are committed to proactively providing
comprehensive and innovative solution in our provisions of quality
services, with the aim to enhance customer satisfaction. The
Group’s business strategies drive for business goal and expansion,
setting of the Group’s risk appetite and tolerance levels, and
undertaking appropriate initiatives to motivate staff to achieve
business and financial targets. The Directors at their Board meetings
during the year 2022 discussed business strategies, development
and opportunities and followed up on the implementation status.
Details of the Group’s business performance and financial review
for the year 2022 are set out in the “Management Discussion and
Analysis” section of this annual report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

The Company has applied the principles and code provisions set out
in the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as contained in
Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the
“Listing Rules”) on the Stock Exchange.

Throughout the Reporting Year, the Company complied with all
code provisions of the CG Code.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EXEBHRS

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS

The Board has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in
Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules (as amended from time to time
by the Stock Exchange) as its own code of conduct for regulating
securities transactions by Directors. Having made specific enquiry
by the Company, all Directors confirmed that they have complied
with the required standard set out in the Model Code throughout
the Reporting Year.

The Board has further adopted the Model Code as the written
guidelines for regulating securities transactions by the senior
management (whose names are set out in Profiles of the Group’s
Key Personnel on pages 27 to 28 of this annual report) and certain
employees (collectively, the “Relevant Employees”) of the Group.
The Board believes that the Relevant Employees may, by virtue
of their positions, likely be in possession of unpublished inside
information of the Group.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Composition

As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprised five
Directors, including one Executive Director, one Non-executive
Director and three Independent Non-executive Directors.

The names of the Directors are set out below:

Executive Directors

Mr. Kingston Chu Chun Ho (Chairman)

Ms. Mandy Hui Suk Man
(Deputy Chairman and Managing Director for property and facility
management business) (resigned with effect from 9 January 2022)

Non-executive Director

Mr. Lam Chun Kit (appointed with effect from 16 February 2022)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Lau Man Tak
Mr. Eric Lee Hon Man
Mr. To Chun Wai

ISP HOLDINGS LIMITED

ERETEIRALZIRETR

EXQCHRMEMARIMBSRI0MEZ(EmE
TAESETEFRZNRESTR) ([FRES
A1) (BB RPN RHER] ) (EREREAR R R E
SETREFR P 2B TE - @ARBMELR
EERR  AEEFHRRANSINAREFE
—BEETIRETRIFRE ZIRE -

S IRAEETAESREARER
BEBAB(REZUBHNANFRFE2TE
28EEEZBHN) RETRE (5 B
BEDETESFRXHZEHES - EFZRMAE
EREBFIBHEAGBUREARERARZ
ARHEE e

g58
#B A%

RAFEHAY EFSHRREFAN - B
—RPTES  —BIIFPTESR=RBIUF
HITES -

SR

HITES
RIEELAE(EE)
RS £
B EFYER R EIEE B FAAETE)
(B2022%F1 89 HEET)
FHITES

LA (B 2022F2 A 16 HEEZR(T)

BYFHTES

Bkt
FHXELE
HIRESTE

2022 ANNUAL REPORT



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

An updated list of Directors identifying their roles and
functions is available on the websites of the Stock Exchange
(www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company (www.isp-hk.com.hk).

Coming from diverse businesses and professional backgrounds, the
Board members possess a balance of skills, expertise and diversity
of perspectives appropriate for the requirements of the business
of the Group and they are collectively responsible for promoting
the success of the Company by directing and supervising the
Company’s affairs. Save as disclosed in the Profiles of Directors set
out on pages 22 to 26 of this annual report, there is no relationship
among the Board members.

The Company currently has three Independent Non-executive
Directors representing more than one-third of the total number of
Board members and is in compliance with the requirement under
Rule 3.10 of the Listing Rules. The views of the Independent Non-
executive Directors carry weight in the Board’s decisions, and
their participation helps the Board exercise judgement, make
decisions and act objectively in the interests of the Company and its
shareholders as a whole.

Each of the Independent Non-executive Directors has given to the
Company an annual confirmation of independence in compliance
with Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers that all
the Independent Non-executive Directors are and have remained
independent. Mr. Lau Man Tak, chairman of the Audit Committee,
has the appropriate accounting and financial management expertise
required under Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules.

The Company has put in place mechanisms to ensure independent
views and input are available to the Board. This is achieved by
giving Directors access to external independent professional advice
from legal advisers and auditor, as well as the full attendance of
all independent non-executive Directors at all the meetings of the
Board and its relevant committees held during the Reporting Year.

The Board reviews the implementation and effectiveness of the
aforementioned mechanisms on an annual basis. The Board has
reviewed the mechanisms and is satisfied with the implementation
and effectiveness of such mechanisms.

The Board members, including all the Independent Non-executive

Directors, are expressly identified in all corporate communications
which disclose the names of the Directors of the Company.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EXEBHRS

Functions

The Board has an ultimate oversight of the Group’s activities. Its
primary functions are to set and direct the Company’s strategy
and to monitor and measure the management’s performance. The
Board is accountable for the overall strategic development of the
Group with the objective to enhance shareholder value. Material
matters are reserved for the Board’s considerations or decisions
which include, among other things, overall strategy of the Group,
business plans, annual budgets, significant capital expenditure,
interim and annual results and reports, dividend policy and
payments, material acquisitions, disposals or investment proposals,
directors’ appointments, re-appointments or removal, and other
material transactions.

The Board has delegated certain of its responsibilities to the Audit
Committee, Remuneration Committee, Nomination Committee,
Investment Committee and Executive Committee. It has also
delegated the day-to-day operations of the Group’s business to the
senior management. Delegation of duties to the Board committees
and daily business operations to the management are discussed on
pages 37 to 47 of this report.

Board Chairman and Managing Director

Code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code provides that the roles of
chairman and chief executive should be separate and should not be
performed by the same individual. The division of responsibilities
between the chairman and chief executive should be clearly
established and set out in writing.

Mr. Kingston Chu Chun Ho is the Chairman of the Board. During
the Reporting Year, the role of chief executive of the Company was
played by Ms. Mandy Hui Suk Man as the Managing Director for
the property and facility management business for the period from
1 January 2022 to 8 January 2022 and by Mr. Gary Tse Chi Chiu as
the Acting Managing Director for the ISP Business for the Reporting
Year (collectively, the “Chief Executives”).

At all times, the Chairman of the Board and the Chief Executives
are not related to each other and there are clear divisions among
their responsibilities with a view to achieving a balance of power
and authority. The Chairman of the Board provides leadership
to the Board in terms of formulating policies and strategies,
and discharges those duties set out in code provision C.2 of the
CG Code. The Chief Executives has the overall responsibility of
implementing the decisions, policies and strategies approved by the
Board, and overseeing the Group’s business and operations. The
duties of the Chairman and the Chief Executives are set out in their
respective service agreements entered into with the Company.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

With the support from the Chief Executives and the Company
Secretary, the Chairman of the Board ensures that all Directors
are properly briefed on all issues arising from Board meetings and
receive adequate, complete and reliable information in a timely
manner.

Appointment, Re-election and Removal of Directors

The Board has assumed the responsibility to consider the
appointment, re-election and removal of the Directors. The Board
set up a Nomination Committee in 2011 to recommend the
appointment, re-election and removal of the Directors.

All the Independent Non-executive Directors have entered into
letters of appointment with the Company for a term of three years
subject to the requirements of the Listing Rules and the bye-laws of
the Company (“Bye-laws”), including the requirement of retirement
by rotation and re-election or standing for re-election at annual
general meetings (“AGM(s)”) of the Company at least once every
three years. The term is renewable upon expiry.

Any new Director to be appointed by the Company shall be provided
with information on duties and obligations of director, relevant
regulatory requirements and the Group’s business affairs. All
Directors appointed to fill a casual vacancy on the Board or as an
addition to the existing Board shall hold office only until the next
following general meeting or next following AGM respectively and
shall then be eligible for re-election at the meeting according to the
Bye-laws.

Board Meetings

Regular Board meetings are held at least four times a year at
approximately quarterly intervals. Tentative dates of regular Board
meetings for next year are scheduled approaching the end of
each calendar year in order to facilitate the Directors to plan for
attendance of the meetings. Additional Board meetings will be
convened, as and when required, to deal with ad hoc issues. Any
Director who is not able to present physically may participate at
any Board meeting through electronic means of communication,
such as conference telephone or other similar communication
equipment, in accordance with the Bye-laws.
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Board Proceedings

Notice convening each regular Board meeting is sent at least 14
days in advance, and reasonable notice is given for other Board
meetings. The Company Secretary assists the Chairman of the
Board to prepare the meeting notice and agenda. Each Director
may include any item in the agenda. The agenda, accompanied by
meeting papers with sufficient and reliable information, are sent to
each Director normally not less than three days before the date of a
Board meeting to enable the Directors to make informed decisions
on the matters to be discussed, except where a Board meeting
is convened on a very urgent basis to consider any urgent ad hoc
matter.

The Company Secretary is responsible for taking minutes of the
Board meetings, drafts and final versions of which will be circulated
to Directors for comment and records, respectively, and in both
cases, within a reasonable time after each meeting. Minutes shall
record in sufficient detail the matters considered by the Board at
the meeting and decisions reached, including any concerns raised
by the Directors or dissenting view (if any) expressed. Minutes of
Board meetings are open for inspection to any Director on request.

All Directors have access to the Company Secretary who is
responsible for ensuring that Board procedures are complied with
and all applicable rules and regulations relating to Board process
are followed. Directors have full and timely access to all relevant
information, including reports from the Board committees and
reports from the management. They are also provided with updates
on the latest developments of the Listing Rules and other relevant
legal and regulatory changes and matters of relevance to the
Directors in discharging their duties as and when appropriate.

To assist the Directors to discharge their duties, the Board has
adopted written procedures for any Director who wishes to seek
independent professional advice at the Company’s expenses.

Board approval is also given by circulation of resolution in writing
pursuant to the Bye-laws on urgent matters which require decisions
in a tight timeframe and hence convening a Board meeting is
difficult or not practicable. In the case where a resolution in writing
is circulated, sufficient information and explanatory materials will
also be provided to the Directors at the same time.
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If a substantial shareholder or a Director has a conflict of interest in
a matter (including material transactions with connected persons)
which the Board determines to be material, the Board will hold a
meeting to consider the relevant matter.

Appropriate insurance cover on Directors’ and officers’ liabilities has
been arranged to protect the Directors and officers of the Group.

Attendances of Meetings

Eight Board meetings, two Audit Committee meetings, two
Remuneration Committee meetings, one Nomination Committee
meetings, one Investment Committee meeting and two general
meetings were held during the Reporting Year. Attendances of
these meetings by Directors are set out below:
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Meetings attended|/Eligible to attend

HE/ BEREEES
Audit  Remuneration Nomination Investment General
Board Committee Committee Committee Committee Meetings
Name of Directors EEng EE®  ERZE® yMzEe REZE8 REZEE BRRAE
Executive Directors UITES
Kingston Chu Chun Ho R 8/8 nfa 2/2 1/1 11 2/2
Mandy Hui Suk Man F
(resigned with effect (B2022F1R9R#
from 9 January 2022) BHE) nfa n/a nfa nfa nfa nfa
Non-Executive Directors ~ F#{TEZ
Lam Chun Kit e
(appointed with effect (B202%2R16R%
from 16 February 2022)  EZ{E) 6/6 n/a n/a nfa 11 202
Independent BUFHTES
Non-executive Directors
Lau Man Tak 2z 8/8 202 212 111 11 202
Eric Lee Hon Man EHY 8/8 2/2 2/2 111 n/a 202
To Chun Wai tiRE 8/8 2/2 2/2 111 n/a 202
n/a: not applicable n/a: TiE A

During the Reporting Year, the Chairman of the Board also held one
meeting with the Independent Non-executive Directors without the
other Director present.

Code provision C.1.6 of the CG Code provides that independent non-
executive directors and other non-executive directors should attend
general meetings and gain and develop a balanced understanding
of the views of shareholders generally. All Independent Non-
executive Directors attended the AGM held on 20 May 2022 and the
Special General Meeting on 7 November 2022 by electronic means.
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Directors’ Training and Professional Development

Every Director keeps abreast of responsibilities as a Director of the
Company and of the conduct, business activities and development
of the Company.

Directors are aware of the requirement under the code provision
C.1.4 of CG Code regarding continuous professional development.
During the Reporting Year, the Company provided reading materials
to the Directors for self-study. In addition, the Directors have
attended external courses or conferences organised by various
organisations for their own continuous training.

Directors also reviewed the business and financial updates and
other reading materials provided to them concerning latest
developments in corporate governance practices, and relevant
legal and regulatory developments. A record of the Directors’
participation in various continuous professional development
programme is kept by the company secretarial department. A
summary of training received by the Directors for the Reporting Year
according to the records provided by the Directors is as follows:
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Giving talks or
attending seminars/

conferences/

forums

BITHEERHE

Name of Directors BEEHS Wae 28 WwiE

Kingston Chu Chun Ho ENE 4
Mandy Hui Suk Man FRER

(resigned with effect from 9 January 2022) (8202249189 HERET) n/a
Lam Chun Kit (appointed with effect UNETES

from 16 February 2022) (B20224F2 A16 AEEERT) v

Lau Man Tak 2= v

Eric Lee Hon Man FTEHX v/

To Chun Wai MIRE 4

n/a: not applicable

ISP HOLDINGS LIMITED
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BOARD COMMITTEES

During the Reporting Year, each of the Board committees,
namely, the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee,
the Nomination Committee, the Investment Committee and the
Executive Committee, assisted in the execution of the Board’s
responsibilities and to oversee particular aspect of the Group’s
affairs. Each Board committee is provided with sufficient resources
to discharge its duties properly, and holds meetings in accordance
with the Bye-laws, its specific written terms of reference and, where
applicable, the proceedings of Board meeting.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee currently comprises three Independent
Non-executive Directors. The members of the Audit Committee
during the Reporting Year and up to date of this report were:

Mr. Lau Man Tak (Chairman)
Mr. Eric Lee Hon Man
Mr. To Chun Wai

None of the Audit Committee members is or has been a former
partner of the Company’s existing external auditor for the past two
years.

The Audit Committee is primarily responsible for conducting an
independent and objective review of the financial reporting process,
internal controls and audit function with emphasis on:

(i) appraise the quality of the audit effort of the Company’s
internal and external auditors;

(i) serve as an independent and objective party to review
the financial information presented by management to
shareholders, regulators and the general public;

(iii) ascertain the adequacy of the Company’s systems of risk
management and internal control which management and the
Board have established; and

(iv) serve as useful channel of communication between the Board

and the external and internal auditors on matters relating to
and arising out of the external and internal audit.
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The authority and duties of the Audit Committee are set out in
its specific written terms of reference. Full text of the terms of
reference of the Audit Committee is available on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange.

The principal duties of the Audit Committee include, among
other things, recommending to the Board on the appointment,
reappointment or removal of the Company’s external auditor and
on its remuneration; reviewing the Company’s interim and annual
financial statements and other financial reports; and reviewing the
Company’s financial reporting system, internal control procedures
(including monitoring the effectiveness of the internal audit
function) and risk management system. The Audit Committee has
explicit authority to investigate any activity within its duties and
responsibilities and the authority to obtain external legal or other
independent professional advice if it considers necessary.

The Audit Committee shall meet at least twice a year. During
the Reporting Year, two Audit Committee meetings were held.
Attendances of the meetings have been disclosed on page 35 of
this report.

During the Reporting Year, the Audit Committee members with
the participation of the internal and external auditors and the
management, (i) reviewed the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group; (ii) reviewed the annual results for the year
ended 31 December 2021 and the interim results for the period
ended 30 June 2022 and the related financial statements of the
Company with a view to ensuring that these financial statements
were prepared in accordance with the accounting principles and
standards generally accepted in Hong Kong; (iii) considered the
reports from the external auditor on the scope and findings of its
independent review of the interim financial statements and audit
of the annual financial statements; (iv) reviewed the adequacy of
resources, qualifications and experience of staff of the Group’s
accounting, internal audit and financial reporting functions and
their training programmes and budget; (v) reviewed and approved
the external auditor’s fees for audit and non-audit services; (vi)
reviewed the independence of the external auditor; and (vii)
recommended the Board to nominate the re-appointment of the
external auditor at AGM.

There is no disagreement between the Board and the Audit
Committee’s view on re-appointment of external auditor, and
they both have agreed to recommend the re-appointment of BDO
Limited as the Company’s external auditor for the ensuing year at
the 2023 AGM.
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Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee currently comprises four Directors,
a majority of whom are Independent Non-executive Directors. The
members of the Remuneration Committee during the Reporting
Year and up to date of this report were:

Mr. To Chun Wai (Chairman)
Mr. Kingston Chu Chun Ho
Mr. Lau Man Tak

Mr. Eric Lee Hon Man

The authority and duties of the Remuneration Committee are set
out in its specific written terms of reference. Full text of the terms
of reference of the Remuneration Committee is available on the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

The Remuneration Committee is primarily responsible for reviewing
the remuneration policy of the Group and the remuneration
packages of the Directors and senior management of the Company.
Its duties are summarised below:

() make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s
policy and structure for all Directors and senior management
remuneration and on the establishment of a formal and
transparent procedure for developing remuneration policy;

(i) review and approve the management’s remuneration
proposals with reference to the Board’s corporate goals and
objectives;

(iii) make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of individual Executive Directors and senior
management;

(iv) make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of
Non-executive Directors;

(v) consider salaries paid by comparable companies, time
commitment and responsibilities, and employment conditions
elsewhere in the Group;

(vi) review and approve compensation payable to Executive
Directors and senior management for any loss or termination
of office or appointment to ensure that it is consistent with
contractual terms and is otherwise fair and not excessive;
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(vii) review and approve compensation arrangements, relating to
dismissal or removal of Directors for misconduct to ensure
that they are consistent with contractual terms and are
otherwise reasonable and appropriate;

(viii) ensure that no Director or any of his associates is involved in
deciding his own remuneration; and

(ix) to review and/or approve matters relating to share schemes
under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

The Remuneration Committee shall meet at least once a year.
During the Reporting Year, two Remuneration Committee meetings
were held. Attendance of the meetings has been disclosed on page
35 of this report.

During the Reporting Year, the Remuneration Committee members
reviewed (i) the Directors’ fees for the year ended 31 December
2022 and for the year ending 31 December 2023; (ii) the salary
revision proposal for general staff for the year ended 31 December
2022 and for the year ending 31 December 2023; (iii) the bonus
distribution proposal for managerial staff; and (iv) recommended
the aforesaid matters to the Board for approval.
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Remuneration Policy of the Group

The Group sets out its remuneration policy by making reference
to the prevailing market conditions and benchmark of the industry
and formulating an appropriate performance-based reward
system, so as to ensure that the Group is able to attract, retain and
motivate executives of the highest calibre, which is essential to
the successful leadership and effective management of the Group.
The performance measures are balanced between financial and
industrial comparatives. The components of remuneration package
may consist of basic salary, allowances, benefits-in-kind, fringe
benefits including medical insurance and contributions to pension
funds, as well as incentives like discretionary bonus, participation in
a share option scheme or long-term rewards.

The remuneration packages of the Executive Directors and senior
management of the Company are determined by the Remuneration
Committee and approved by the Board by reference to their
respective duties and responsibilities in the Group, individual
performance, achievement of the Group’s targets and the prevailing
market terms in the industry.

The remunerations of the Non-executive Director and the
Independent Non-executive Directors are approved by the Board
with the recommendation of the Remuneration Committee by
reference to their duties and responsibilities in the Group, time
involvement and the prevailing market situation.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee currently comprises four Directors, a
majority of whom are Independent Non-executive Directors. The
members of the Nomination Committee during the Reporting Year
and up to date of this report were:

Mr. Eric Lee Hon Man (Chairman)
Mr. Kingston Chu Chun Ho

Mr. Lau Man Tak

Mr. To Chun Wai

The authority and duties of the Nomination Committee are set out
in its specific written terms of reference. Full text of the terms of
reference of the Nomination Committee is available on the websites
of the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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The Nomination Committee is primarily responsible for formulating
nomination policy and leading the process of identifying and
nominating suitable candidates. Its duties are summarised below:

(i)  review the structure, size and diversity (including without
limitation, gender, age, cultural and educational background,
ethnicity, skills, knowledge, professional experience and
length of service) of the Board at least annually and make
recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board to
complement the Group’s corporate strategy;

(i) identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board
members and select or make recommendations to the Board
on the selection of individuals nominated for directorships
based on the objective criteria with due regard for the benefits
of diversity on the Board;

(iii) taking into account the Group’s corporate strategy and mix
of skills, knowledge, experience and diversity needed in
the future, to make recommendations to the Board on the
appointment or re-appointment of Directors and succession
planning for Directors, in particular, the Chairman and the
Chief Executives;

(iv) assess the independence of Independent Non-executive
Directors and review the Independent Non-executive
Directors’ annual confirmations on their independence;
and make disclosure of its review results in the Corporate
Governance Report;

(v)  regularly review the time required from a Director to perform
his/her responsibilities and report to the Board of their
findings; and

(vi) review the policies on both the Board Diversity Policy and the
Nomination Policy, as appropriate; and review the measurable
objectives that the Board had set for implementing the Board
Diversity Policy, and the progress on achieving the objectives;
and make disclosure of its review results in the Corporate
Governance Report annually.

The Nomination Committee shall meet at least once a year. During
the Reporting Year, a Nomination Committee meeting was held.
Attendance of the meeting has been disclosed on page 35 of this
report.
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The Board has adopted a Board Diversity Policy. Pursuant to the
Board Diversity Policy, the Board shall consider the benefits of
diversity when they review the Board composition. In designing the
Board composition, Board diversity has been considered from a
number of aspects, including but not limited to skills, background,
experience, knowledge, expertise, culture, independence, race,
gender, and other qualities of Directors. All Board appointments will
be considered against objective criteria, having due regard for the
benefits of diversity on the Board.

The Nomination Committee will monitor the implementation of
the Board Diversity Policy and review the Board composition under
diversified perspectives annually to ensure the Board has a balance
of skills, knowledge, experience and diversity of perspectives
appropriate to the achievement of the strategic objectives and
sustainable development of the Company.

Currently, all Board members are male. The Board has set down
its goals to appoint one female as Board member no later than
31 December 2024 as part of its effort to achieve diversity on
the Board level. The Nomination Committee will continue to
monitor and actively consider different aspects of diversity in the
boardroom, and recommend further actions or plan to the Board
when necessary.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s global workforce had more
than 27.1% of female, among which no senior management roles
were held by women. The chart below summarizes the share
of women at different position levels across the Group as at 31
December 2022.

The Board considers that the Group's workforce (including senior
management) are adequately diverse of gender presently in view of
the business activities and nature of the Group.
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Note: The above data is calculated based on the number of total employees of the
Group as of 31 December 2022.

The Board, through the Nomination Committee, has reviewed the
implementation and effectiveness of the Board Diversity Policy
and confirmed that the Board has an appropriate mix of skills and
experience to deliver the Company’s strategy.
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The Board has also adopted the Nomination Policy which sets out
the selection criteria and nomination procedures to identify, select
and recommend candidates for directorships.

Selection Criteria

When assessing the suitability of the proposed candidate to the
Board regarding the appointment or re-appointment of any existing
director(s) of the Board, the Nomination Committee should consider
the following factors:

1. The candidate should be of good character, integrity and
competent to act as director of the Company;

2.  The candidate should possess the skills, knowledge, and
experience in the commercial and professional fields which
are relevant to the principal business of the Group;

3. The candidate should be able to devote sufficient time and
attention to the Board; and

4. The candidates should be considered on merit, against
objective criteria and with due regard to the diversity
perspectives set out in the Board Diversity Policy of the
Company.

ISP HOLDINGS LIMITED ..........................................................

EX S RMITRIRE - JIEEA - R L
BEFENENERLERERERF -

BhERE

REEREFEREEANEFTSRAESMATE
EXeREEENAENK  RRZBQESE
BIATAE :

1. REAERBER  BERBENEE
RRAPESE

2. BREARAGEAKEEEXHAEMY
[HESEE S bed:ok IS ecd

3. REANEEHRARHNEELEET
BExesH K&

4. EREXBSEYRNEEBAFREES
KB ZTIEBRRPRENZ TLBRE
ZRIREN o

........................... 2022 ANNUAL REPORT



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Nomination Procedures

1. The Secretary of the Nomination Committee shall convene
a meeting, and invite nominations of candidates from Board
members (if any), for consideration by the Nomination
Committee. The Nomination Committee may also nominate
candidates for its consideration;

2. The Nomination Committee shall undertake adequate
due diligence in respect of appointment of any proposed
candidate to the Board, prior to making recommendations for
the Board’s consideration and approval;

3.  The Nomination Committee shall make recommendations
to the Board for its consideration and recommendation in
respect of re-appointment of any existing Director(s) of the
Board, for the proposed candidates to stand for re-election at
a general meeting;

4.  The procedures for shareholders’ nomination of any proposed
candidate for election as a director should follow the
“procedures for shareholders to propose a person for election
as a director of the Company” which are available on the
Company’s website; and

5.  The Board shall have the final decision on all matters relating
to its recommendation of candidates to stand for election at a
general meeting.

During the Reporting Year, the Nomination Committee members
(i) reviewed and considered the structure, size, diversity and
composition of the Board; (ii) assessed the independence of
Independent Non-executive Directors; (iii) considered the re-
election of directors at the AGM; (iv) the appointment of a new Non-
executive Director; and (v) recommended the aforesaid matters to
the Board for approval.
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Investment Committee

The Investment Committee was established on 12 March 2022
and currently comprises one Executive Director, one Non-executive
Director and one Independent Non-executive Director. The
members of the Investment Committee during the Reporting Year
were:

Mr. Kingston Chu Chun Ho (Chairman of the Board)
Mr. Lam Chun Kit
Mr. Lau Man Tak

The authority and duties of the Investment Committee are set out
in its specific written terms of reference. Full text of the terms of
reference of the Investment Committee is available on the website
of the Company. The principal duties of the Investment Committee
are to review and evaluating any investment projects proposed by
the Company and making recommendations to the Board on such
investment projects. Meetings of the Investment Committee shall
be held at least once a year.

During the Reporting Year, an Investment Committee meeting was
held to discharge their duties. Attendance of the meeting has been
disclosed on page 35 of this report.

Executive Committee

The Executive Committee currently comprises an Executive Director
and a senior management member of the Group. The members of
the Executive Committee during the Reporting Year were:

Mr. Kingston Chu Chun Ho (Chairman of the Board)

Ms. Mandy Hui Suk Man (Deputy Chairman of the Board and
Managing Director for property and facility management
business) (resigned as Deputy Chairman of the Board, Managing
Director for property and facility management business and a
member of Executive Committee with effect from 9 January
2022)

Mr. Gary Tse Chi Chiu (Acting Managing Director for ISP Business)

ISP HOLDINGS LIMITED
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The authority and duties of the Executive Committee are set out
in its specific written terms of reference. Full text of the terms of
reference of the Executive Committee is available on the website
of the Company. The principal duties of the Executive Committee
are, pursuant to the Authorisation Matrix/Limits of Authority of
each subsidiary, to approve tender submission and/or payment
requisition when the amount of tender or payment exceeds certain
limits, to approve banking matters, the issue of guarantees to third
party customers, the issue of shares under share option scheme
and promotion or appointment of senior management at operational
level, and other duties delegated by the Board from time to time.

The Executive Committee shall meet as and when required
depending on business and operation needs. Members’
attendances would depend on the importance of the matters to
be transacted. Instead of meetings, the members of the Executive
Committee would also adopt written resolutions to transact the
abovementioned corporate actions expeditiously should the
need arises. During the Reporting Year, the Executive Committee
executed seven times of written resolutions to discharge their
duties.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible for determining the policy for the
corporate governance of the Company and performing the corporate
governance duties as below:

(i)  develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance;

(i) review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

(iii) review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with all legal and regulatory requirements;

(iv) develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and

Directors; and

(v) review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure requirements in the Corporate Governance Report.

The Board has in place the procedures for Directors to seek an
independent professional advice if necessary.
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DELEGATION TO MANAGEMENT

The monitoring of the day-to-day business operations of the Group
and the implementation of the business plans and strategies
adopted by the Board are performed by the senior management led
primarily by the Managing Director(s) of the Company.

The Group has also organised a management meeting for senior
management and other relevant staff on a monthly basis to review
business operations with significant issue, review the financial
and business performance against the budget approved by the
Board, and review the implementation of the strategies and policies
adopted by the Board.

Risk Management Committee

With a view to further enhancing risk management at all levels, a
Risk Management Committee, as approved by the Audit Committee
and the Board, has been established to assume the responsibility
for identifying, evaluating, assessing and managing risk areas from
company-wide perspective. The Risk Management Committee
comprises senior management and corporate managers of the
Group. Its findings and recommendations are reported to the Audit
Committee and the Board.

Risk Management

The Board has the overall responsibility for establishing,
maintaining and evaluating the adequacy and effectiveness of the
risk management and internal control systems of the Group on
an ongoing basis. Such systems are designed to manage rather
than eliminate risk of failure to achieve business objective, and
can only provide reasonable but not absolute assurance against
material misstatement or loss. To ensure systematic coverage
of all auditable areas and effective deployment of resources, an
every 3-year internal audit (“IA”) plan with reference to the risk
assessment results has been formulated and approved by the
Audit Committee. During the Reporting Year, the IA plan focused
on the examination of the financial and treasury management,
management of construction and fitting out procedures, information
system strategy and control, procurement control and compliance
with applicable rules and regulations. Subsequent meetings were
conducted to update the IA plan in order to reflect the major
changes in the organisational structure and business objectives,
review the IA reports and highlight the more significant issues
identified from the IA reviews and follow up actions taken. Meetings
between the head of IA function and senior management are
conducted monthly to stay current with market developments and
changes in the business strategy.
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Management is responsible for setting the appropriate tone
from the top, performing risk assessments, and owning the
design, implementation and maintenance of internal controls.
The associated policies and procedures for risk management
and internal controls, which are properly documented and
communicated to staff, are designed to help ensure that the Group’s
assets are safeguarded against unauthorised use or disposition;
relevant rules and regulations are adhered to and complied with;
complete, accurate and reliable financial and accounting records
are maintained; and key risk factors including business strategic,
operational, financial, corporate reputation and regulatory
compliance risks which may impact the Group’s performance are
appropriately identified and managed.

To ensure the risk management process is consistent with the best
practice, the Directors of the Company review the existing practice,
and their suggestions will be incorporated into the Group’s risk
management framework in due course.

The Group’s risk management framework comprises the following
key features:

(i) A distinct organisational structure for different responsible
parties with defined authority, responsibilities and risk
management roles;

(i)  The Board sets forth the proper risk management culture and
risk appetite for the Group, evaluates and determines the
level of risk that the Group should take and monitor regularly;

(i) The Risk Management Committee facilitates the risk
assessment process and timely communication to the Audit
Committee and the Board. Also, it ensures key business and
operational risks being properly identified and managed; and

(iv) A Risk Management Policy has been established to provide
a framework for the identification, analysis, evaluation,
treatment, monitoring and reporting of key risks at all
levels across the Group to support the achievement of the
organisation’s overall strategic objectives.
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Identified potential risks are evaluated using appropriate qualitative
and quantitative techniques and risk responses (i.e. accept,
reduce, transfer and avoid) are formulated, which are consistent
with the Group’s risk appetite. Risks are assessed based on a risk
assessment matrix that helps to rank the risks into four risk levels
(i.e. Extremely High, High, Medium and Low) and to prioritise risk
management effort to determine the appropriate risk mitigation
plans.

Internal Control

The Group has an IA function, which plays a major role in monitoring
the internal governance of the Group, to conduct independent
reviews of the adequacy and effectiveness of its risk management
and internal control system and report the review results regularly
to the Board through the Audit Committee.

To ensure systematic coverage of all auditable areas and effective
deployment of resources, an every 3-year IA plan with reference to
the risk assessment results has been formulated and approved by
the Audit Committee. During the Reporting Year, the IA plan focused
on the examination of the fraud control, business strategy, financial
and treasury management, compliance with applicable rules and
regulations, management of litigation and claims, payment controls
and conflict of interest. Subsequent meetings were conducted
to update the IA plan in order to reflect the major changes in the
organisational structure and business objectives, review the IA
reports and highlight the more significant issues identified from the
IA reviews and follow-up actions taken. Meetings between the head
of IA function and senior management are conducted monthly to
stay current with market developments and changes in the business
strategy.

The Group is fully aware of its obligation of handling and
dissemination of inside information under the Listing Rules and the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong
Kong) (the “SFQ”). The Group has a set of procedures and controls
in place to preserve the confidentiality of inside information relating
to the Group. All Board members and senior management, who are
likely to possess the Group’s inside information because of their
offices or employments in the Group, are bound by Model Code. In
addition, every employee is required to follow the guidelines of the
code of conduct and the staff handbook to keep unpublished inside
information strictly confidential.
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Review of Risk Management and Internal Control
Systems

During the Reporting Year, the Board has conducted a review
on the effectiveness of risk management and internal control
systems of the Group through discussion with the Audit Committee,
which covers the major control procedures in areas of business/
strategy, operational, financial, compliance, corporate reputation
and regulatory risk, and was satisfied with the effectiveness of the
Group’s risk management and internal control systems.

The changes in the nature and extent of significant risks faced by
the Group and response plans to changes in its business and the
external environment have been evaluated. The scope and quality
of ongoing monitoring of risks and the internal control systems have
been assessed.

As the novel coronavirus (“COVID-19”) outbreak eased in early
of 2023, there is a surge in construction activities and labour
shortages become evident. Coupled with the ageing population in
the construction industry, future large scale construction projects
will be hugely limited by manpower supply. ISP will recruit and
allocate manpower in accordance with our work. In addition, we
also encourage our subcontractors to hire new recruits, to ensure
an adequate workforce for our demand. Also, the Russo-Ukrainian
conflicts took place and gave a rise to the price of the materials,
especially concrete, steel and petroleum. ISP Business had signed
the supplier agreement for most of the materials that the projects
required in order to fix the cost of our existing projects once
projects awarded. Meanwhile, the rapid increase in interest rate
hikes announced by the US Federal Reserve during the Reporting
Year, along with a high inflation rate has led to an increased cost
of materials and labor, further challenging our potential project
tenders.

In 2022, no significant areas of concern that may affect the
Group to achieve strategic goals have been identified. The Board
considered that the risk management and internal control systems
are functioning effectively and adequately.

In addition, confirmation from management on the effectiveness of
the risk management and internal control systems of the Group was
received during the Reporting Year.

The Board has reviewed and is satisfied with the adequacy
of resources, staff qualifications and experiences, training
requirements and budgets of the Group’s accounting, financial
reporting and IA functions.
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Integrity Monitoring Committee

Each of our staff is given clear guidelines and codes of standard in
the staff handbook with integrity being put as the first and foremost
code of conduct. An anti-corruption policy was set up to promote
and maintain a high level of integrity culture and professional ethics
of the Company to provide customers with quality services. The
policy has been prepared with necessary rules and regulations to
meet the police’s requirements that (among others) all directors
and employees shall abide by their commitments, perform their
duties professionally, and refrain from any conduct that violates the
law or damages the Company’s reputation. Meanwhile, a whistle-
blowing-type channel which is implemented by the Integrity
Monitoring Committee is to provide staff and contractors a channel
to report issues which might cause a significant financial loss to,
or an adverse impact on the image of the Company. The Integrity
Monitoring Committee comprises the Safety Manager as chairman
of the Committee, the Accounting Manager and the Assistant
Human Resources Manager as members.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR FINANCIAL
REPORTING

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
consolidated financial statements which give a true and fair view
of the state of affairs of the Company and the Group on a going
concern basis. With the support of the accounting and finance
functions led by the Accounting Manager of the Group, the Directors
have ensured that the consolidated financial statements for the
Reporting Year have been prepared in accordance with appropriate
accounting policies applied, if any, consistently save for those new
and amended accounting standards as disclosed in the notes to the
consolidated financial statements.

In preparing the interim and annual financial statements,
announcements and other financial disclosures required under
the Listing Rules, the Directors aim at presenting a balanced,
clear and understandable assessment of the Group’s position and
prospects. Financial information put before the Board for approval
by management is accompanied by sufficient explanation to enable
the Directors to make an informed assessment.

The independent auditor’s report, which contains the statement
of the external auditor about its reporting responsibilities on the
Company’s financial statements, is set out in pages 85 to 87 of this
annual report.
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AUDITOR'S REMUNERATION

The fees paid/payable to BDO Limited, the Company’s external
auditor, for services rendered for the Reporting Year are set out as
follows:
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Fees paid/payable

Services rendered FriR (AR 75 2t ENER
HK$’000
BT T
Audit services ENZ RS 1,000,000
Non-audit services IEEZ RS 150,000

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary is responsible for facilitating the Board
process, as well as communications among Board members. The
Company Secretary complied with all the qualifications under the
Listing Rules. The Company Secretary is Mr. Eric Chan Kwong Leung,
who is engaged and appointed by the Company from an external
secretarial services provider. The primary corporate contact person
at the Company during the Reporting Year was Mr. Gary Tse Chi
Chiu, Acting Managing Director of the ISP Business.

For the Reporting Year, Mr. Chan has undertaken net less than 15
hours of relevant professional training in compliance with Rule 3.29
of the Listing Rules.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS, INVESTOR RELATIONS
AND COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company engages with shareholders through various
communication channels and a Shareholders’ Communication
Policy is in place to ensure that shareholders’ views and concerns
are appropriately addressed.

In summary, the Shareholders’ Communication Policy aims to
ensure that, among others, the shareholders are provided with
ready, equal, regular and timely access to material information
about the Company in order to maintain an on-going dialogue with
the shareholders and to enable the shareholders to exercise their
rights in an informed manner.

The Company communicates information to the shareholders
through different channels, including, among others, its periodical
financial announcements and reports, annual general meetings
and other general meetings (if any), all the disclosures submitted
to the Stock Exchange and its corporate communications and other
publications on the Company’s website.
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The Company’s general meetings are a valuable forum for the
Board to communicate directly with the shareholders and to answer
questions that shareholders may raise. Separate resolutions are
proposed at general meetings for each substantial issue, including
the re-election and election of individual directors. The detailed
procedures of conducting a poll are explained to shareholders
at the commencement of the general meetings, to ensure that
shareholders are familiar with such procedures.

To solicit and get feedback from shareholders, the Company
provides shareholders with channels to express their views on
matters affecting the Company including Hong Kong Branch Share
Registrar of the Company, Computershare Hong Kong Investor
Services Limited, for enquiries on shareholdings.

The Board has reviewed the implementation and effectiveness
of the Shareholders” Communication Policy including steps taken
at the general meetings, the handling of queries received (if any)
and the multiple channels of communication and engagement in
place, and considered that the Shareholders’ Communication Policy
has been properly implemented during the Reporting Year and is
effective.

Procedures for directing Shareholders’ enquiries to the
Board

Enquiries from shareholders are welcome through the following
channels to the Company:

(i) by post to the Company’s Hong Kong principal place of
business at 3/F, Hay Nien Building, No. 1 Tai Yip Street, Kwun
Tong, Kowloon, Hong Kong

(i) by telephone at (852) 2635 8290

(iii) by facsimile transmission to (852) 2811 8401

(iv) by email at investor@isp-hk.com.hk

(v) on the Company’s website at www.isp-hk.com.hk under “IR
Contact” of “Investor Relations”
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Procedures for Convening a Special General Meeting by
Shareholders

In accordance with the Bye-laws, any shareholder holding not less
than one-tenth of the paid-up capital of the Company carrying the
right of voting at a general meeting shall have the right, by written
requisition served to the Board or the Company Secretary, to
require a special general meeting to be convened by the Board for
transaction of any business specified in such requisition. Any vote
of shareholders at a general meeting must be taken by poll. The
chairman of meeting will explain the poll voting procedures at the
relevant general meeting.

Procedures for Shareholders to Put Forward Proposals
at General Meetings

The following shareholders are entitled to put forward a proposal
(which may properly be put to the meeting) for consideration at a
general meeting of the Company:

(i) any number of members representing not less than one
twentieth of the total voting rights of the Company on the date
of the requisition; or

(i) not less than 100 members holding shares in the Company.

The requisition specifying the proposal, duly signed by the
shareholders concerned, together with a statement of not more than
1,000 words with respect to the matter referred to in the proposal
must be deposited at the Company’s principal place of business
in Hong Kong at 3/F, Hay Nien Building, No. 1 Tai Yip Street, Kwun
Tong, Kowloon, Hong Kong. The Company would take appropriate
actions and make necessary arrangements, and the shareholders
concerned would be responsible for the expenses incurred in giving
effect thereto in accordance with the requirements under Sections
79 and 80 of the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda once valid
documents are received.
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CONTINUOUS CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
ENHANCEMENT

The Board is committed to continuous corporate governance
enhancement including giving closer attention to any regulatory
changes with a view to maintaining a corporate culture built on
ethics and integrity and increasing Shareholder value as a whole.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The English name of the Company has been changed from Synergis
Holdings Limited” to “ISP Holdings Limited” and the Chinese name
=}

FiH#EALE R A F)” has been adopted as the secondary name of
the Company (the “Change of Company Name”).

The Change of Company Name was approved by the shareholders
of the Company at the special general meeting of the Company
held on 23 December 2021. The Certificate of Change of Name and
the Certificate of Secondary Name were issued by the Registrar of
Companies in Bermuda on 23 December 2021. The Certificate of
Registration of Alteration of Name of Registered Non-Hong Kong
Company was issued by the Registrar of Companies in Hong Kong
on 5 January 2022 confirming the registration of the new name
of the Company in Hong Kong under Part 16 of the Companies
Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong).

Save as disclosed above, there is no significant change in the
Company’s constitutional documents during the Reporting Year.
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HIGHLIGHTS OF 2022 ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND

GOVERNANCE REPORT
2022 FIRIE - M B ELEHRERE

As a responsible corporate citizen, we believe in doing well while
doing good. We are mindful that stable and responsible corporate
development can only be achieved when sustainability becomes the
cornerstone of the business. Furthermore, various environmental
and social issues may constitute risks that threaten the Group’s
sustainable development, but the act of venturing to solve such
issues may lead to new business opportunities. Hence, to foster
company longevity and growth, the Group commits to integrating
sustainability principles into every facet of the business.

The Company’s standalone 2022 Environmental, Social and
Governance (“ESG”) report has been prepared to communicate
our sustainability-related visions, commitments, policies
and performances. It adheres to the “Mandatory Disclosure
Requirements” and “Comply or Explain” provisions of the ESG
Reporting Guide under Appendix 27 of the Listing Rules on the
Stock Exchange.

Below are some key highlights of the Company’s 2022 ESG

ERBEENEEAR  RAIREMIFEBR
RINVEMI S RAAKEERKALRNE
B TREERRERBBENLEER - It
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ERMRERESRKARRT RKBEFIRFT A -
At - BleERRREER - AEEH KA
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performance:

REMETHRE :

Our Sustainable Development

BN TRHERR

Committed to performing this exercise annually to ensure our existing priorities,
strategies and policies align with stakeholders’ expectations, sustainability-
related risks and opportunities.
RAETFETRNAR  WEREMBEENEELEYF
B BA 28 LA K B AT R348 3 R AR R ) R PR RIS o

REMBRNTSRNE

Business

Incorporated ESG-related issues and risks, such as climate change, customer
satisfaction, supply chain management and talent retention into our Enterprise
Risk Management in order to reduce the possibility of risks occurrence and
their potential impact. This also strengthens our decision-making process and
allows us to focus on long-term value creation.

RRE g RECHBNRERARAARMN [PEXRBREEIER &
BREEE BEWEE HEEEENMATRESIE  UREZEERRLY
AR R HEERE - ENE T HMANREBIZ - URRMEBEINAER
=EE-

Customers

DE-FES

Established mechanism for handling and managing complaints and requests,
ensuring that all customers’ complaints are dealt with in a timely and
professional manner.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND

E
CEFRE TMERECHSRHEE

People Developed effective employee communication channels to maintain workplace
AT BRE harmony, encourage innovation, increase inter-departmental cooperation and
help manage a diverse workplace.
BYARNEIEBRE ARSI - e ASEIAIET - E s
FIMMAIEL B BN ERZ b TIESAT -
Community Continued to use “Sharing Love” as our theme to participate different
e ER community investment activities in order to express our sincere care and
concern to all walks of life.
BENHZER ] RBMANER  2ETANMEREEE  MERKERM
HHOBEMNET -
Partners Included “Environmental Protection” section in the contract with our suppliers
BHEHE to encourage them to take environmental measures in their operations.

ERERANSRTES T(REFR&E) B - @ bMEREZETETRRE
I °

Environment
RIEEE

Coordinated the Water Supplies Department and promoted the installation of
flow controllers on taps to improve water-saving efficiency.

BKFEE A - HEEEKEE L REAIKES - WIRSEIKEE -

Please visit the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchangeto Nk T&E{ AR AR 2 2022 F &R - @ NESR
download the full version of the Company’s 2022 ESG report. HEEX  FRAERNN R R FAAEE -
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The Directors present their report and the consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022 (the
“Reporting Year”).

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
principal activities of the Company’s subsidiaries are the provision
of interiors and special projects business (the “ISP Business”)
in Hong Kong and property and facility management business in
China. Particulars of the principal subsidiaries of the Company are
set out in note 36 to the financial statements.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Details of segment information are set out in note 7 to the financial
statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Details of the business review information are set out in the section
headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 10 to 21
of this annual report.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Directors consider that environmental protection is essential
to the long-term development of the Group and will constantly
improve management practices so as to minimise waste, maximise
efficiencies and reduce the Group’s negative environmental impact
on the environment.

For details, please refer to the Company’s standalone “2022
Environmental, Social and Governance Report”.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group recognises the importance of compliance with
regulatory requirements and the risk of non-compliance with such
requirements. The Group has been allocating system and staff
resources to ensure ongoing compliance with relevant rules and
regulations.

The Group’s operations are mainly carried out by the Company’s
subsidiaries in Hong Kong, China and Macau while the Company
itself was incorporated in Bermuda and listed on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) in Hong
Kong. Our establishment and operations accordingly shall comply
with relevant laws and regulations in Hong Kong, Bermuda, China
and Macau.
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To ensure compliance with the Competition Ordinance, the Group
has conducted trainings for staff. The Group also steps up measures
to increase safety awareness amongst the management and staff to
prevent accidents in contravention with safety regulations.

RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

Various risks that the Company may face have been disclosed in
the Corporate Governance Report and the Notes to the Financial
Statements on pages 48 to 51 and pages 130 to 140 of this annual
report respectively.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES, CUSTOMERS
AND SUPPLIERS

The Group ensures all staff are reasonably remunerated and
the Company regularly reviews and improves its policies on
remuneration and benefits, training, occupational health and safety.

The Group maintains a good relationship with its customers. A
customer complaint handling mechanism is in place to receive,
analyse and study complaints and make recommendations on
remedies with the aim of improving service quality.

The Group is in good relationship with its suppliers and conducts a
fair and strict appraisal of its suppliers.

For details, please refer to the Company’s standalone “2022
Environmental, Social and Governance Report”.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the Reporting Year are set out in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income on pages 88 to 89; and the state of affairs of the Group
and of the Company as at 31 December 2022 are set out in the
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position on pages 90 to 91;
and Statement of Financial Position and Change in Equity of the
Company are set out on note 34 to the financial statements.

On 20 January 2022 and 23 November 2022, the Board resolved to
declare the payment of special dividends of HK$0.59 and HK$0.20
per share/per convertible preference share, respectively, for the
Reporting Year. No interim dividend for the six months ended 30
June 2022 was paid (2021: nil). The Board did not recommend the
payment of final dividend for the Reporting Year (2021: nil).
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”),
pursuant to which the Company may declare and distribute
dividends to the shareholders to allow shareholders to share
the Company’s profits and for the Company to retain adequate
reserves for future growth. In proposing any dividend payout, the
Board shall also take into account, among others, the Group’s
actual and expected financial performance, operating results, cash
flow, financial condition and capital requirements, shareholders’
interests, contractual covenants, general business conditions and
strategies, possible effects on the Group’s creditworthiness, state
of economy and other factors that the Board deems appropriate.

Such declaration and recommendation of dividends shall be
determined at the sole discretion of the Board and are subject to
the restrictions under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda, the
Bye-laws and any other applicable laws, rules and regulations.

The Company will review the Dividend Policy from time to time
and reserves the right in its sole and absolute discretion to update,
amend and/or modify the Dividend Policy. The Dividend Policy shall
not constitute a legally binding commitment by the Company and
there is no assurance that dividends will be paid in any particular
amount in any given period.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and of the
Company during the Reporting Year are set out in the Consolidated
Statement of Changes in Equity on page 92 and in note 34 to the
financial statements, respectively.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the operating results and of the assets and liabilities
of the Group for the last four financial years and for the Reporting
Year is set out on page 194. This summary does not form a part of
the financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT, AND
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment, and
investment properties of the Group during the Reporting Year
are set out in note 17 and note 18 to the financial statements,
respectively.
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SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company
during the Reporting Year are set out in note 29 to the financial
statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Distributable reserves of the Company as at 31 December 2022,
calculated under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda, amounted
to HK$148,487,000 (31 December 2021: nil).

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Bye-laws
although there is no restriction against such rights under the laws of
Bermuda.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Reporting Year and up to the date of this
report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Kingston Chu Chun Ho (Chairman)

Ms. Mandy Hui Suk Man*
(Deputy Chairman and Managing Director for the property and
facility management business)
(resigned with effect from 9 January 2022)

Non-executive Director

Mr. Lam Chun Kit (appointed with effect from 16 February 2022)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Lau Man Tak
Mr. Eric Lee Hon Man
Mr. To Chun Wai

Ms. Mandy Hui Suk Man resigned as an Executive Director, the Deputy Chairman
of the Board and Managing Director for the property and facility management
business with effect from 9 January 2022 due to her other career development.
She had confirmed that she had no disagreement with the Board and there was
nothing relating to her resignation that needs to be brought to the attention of
the shareholders of the Company or the Stock Exchange.
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The profiles of Directors who are in office as at the date of this
report are set out on pages 22 to 26 of this annual report.

The Company has received from each of its Independent
Non-executive Directors an annual confirmation of independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, and considers that all
the Independent Non-executive Directors are independent in
accordance with the terms of the independence guidelines set out
in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

RE-ELECTION OF RETIRING DIRECTORS

In accordance with Bye-laws 87(1) and 87(2) of the Bye-laws, Mr.
Kingston Chu Chun Ho and Mr. To Chun Wai shall retire by rotation
at the 2023 AGM, and being eligible, have offered themselves for
re-election at the 2023 AGM. Save for the aforesaid, the other
remaining Directors would continue in office.

The proposed re-election of Mr. Kingston Chu Chun Ho as Executive
Director and Mr. To Chun Wai as Independent Non-executive
Director was made in accordance with the Nomination Policy
of the Company and took into account a wide range of diversity
perspectives, including but not limited to (where applicable) gender,
age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity, professional
experience, skills, knowledge, length of services and independency,
with due regard of the diversity perspectives as set out under the
Board Diversity Policy of the Company.

The Board had assessed and reviewed the written confirmation
of independence of Mr. To Chun Wai based on the independence
guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and is satisfied
that as at the date of this report, Mr. To Chun Wai remained
independent in accordance with Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

The Board is also of the view that Mr. Kingston Chu Chun Ho and Mr.
To Chun Wai would bring to the Board their respective perspectives,
skills and experience, and can contribute to the Company. The
Board believes that their re-election to the Board would be in the
best interests of the Company and its shareholders as a whole.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors offering themselves for re-election at AGM
have entered into a service contract with the Company or any of
its subsidiaries which is not determinable within one year without
payment of compensation (other than statutory compensation).

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Save for the agreements disclosed in the section headed “Continuing
Connected Transactions” below, there were no transactions,
arrangements and contracts of significance in relation to the
Group’s business to which the Company’s subsidiaries, its holding
companies or its fellow subsidiaries was a party and in which any
Director and the Director’s connected party had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of or at any time
during the Reporting Year.

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

Details of Directors’ emoluments are set out in note 12 to the
financial statements.

CHANGE IN INFORMATION OF DIRECTOR

Pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, change in Director’s
information, subsequent to the date of the interim report of the
Company for the six months ended 30 June 2022, is set out below:

Mr. Lau Man Tak

— resigned as an independent non-executive director of
Kingston Financial Group Limited (the shares of which were
withdrawn voluntarily from listing on the Stock Exchange on
27 February 2023) with effect from 8 March 2023.

Updated biographical details of the Directors are also available on
the websites of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, there is no other Directors’ information required
to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for disclosed in the sections headed “Share Option Scheme”,
“Convertible Securities, Options, Warrants or Similar Rights” and
“Substantial Shareholders’ Interests and Short Positions in the
Shares and Underlying Shares of the Company — Convertible
Preference Shares” of this report, the Company has not entered into
any equity-linked agreements during the Reporting Year.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

Pursuant to the Bye-law 168 of the Bye-laws, every Director or
other officers of the Company shall be entitled to be indemnified
out of the assets of the Company against all losses or liabilities
which he/she may sustain or incur in or about the execution of
the duties of his/her office or otherwise in relation thereto, and no
Director or other officers shall be liable for any loss, damages or
misfortune which may happen to or be incurred by the Company in
the execution of the duties of his/her office or in relation thereto,
provided that this Bye-law shall only have effect in so far as its
provisions are not avoided by the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda.
The Company has maintained Directors and officers liability
insurance during the Reporting Year.

BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS

There were no bank loans (2021: HK$Nil) and other borrowings
(2021: HK$NIl) of the Group as at 31 December 2022.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES' INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES,

UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE
COMPANY AND ITS ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31 December 2022, none of the Directors or chief executive
of the Company had any interests or short positions in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO),
which were required: (a) to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests and short positions which they are taken or
deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or (b) pursuant
to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to
therein; or (c) to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing
Rules.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

At the 2013 AGM, the shareholders approved the adoption of a new
share option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”). Details of the
Share Option Scheme as required to be disclosed under Chapter 17
of the Listing Rules are set out below:
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Summary of the Share Option Scheme

(@) Purpose of the Share Option Scheme

The Share Option Scheme is set up for the purpose of
recognising and motivating the contribution of the Eligible
Persons (as defined below) to the Company and/or any of its
subsidiaries and/or any Invested Entity (as defined below).

(b) Participants of the Share Option Scheme

Eligible persons entitled to participate in the Share Option
Scheme (the “Eligible Persons”) include:

i)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

v)

(vi)

ISP HOLDINGS LIMITED

any employee (whether full time or part time) of the
Company, any of its subsidiaries, or any entity in which
the Company or any of its subsidiaries holds an equity
interest (the “Invested Entity”); including any executive
director of the Company, any of its subsidiaries or any
Invested Entity and any employee employed or to be
employed by the Company, any of its subsidiaries or
any Invested Entity, whether in Hong Kong or in The
People’s Republic of China;

any non-executive director (including any independent
non-executive director) of the Company, any of its
subsidiaries or any Invested Entity;

any shareholder of the Company, any of its subsidiaries
or any Invested Entity or any holder of any securities
issued by the Company, any of its subsidiaries or any
Invested Entity who has, in the opinion of the Board,
made contribution to the business growth of the
Company, any of its subsidiaries or any Invested Entity;

any person or entity that provides research,
development or other technological support to the
Company, any of its subsidiaries or any Invested Entity;

any supplier of goods and/or services to the Company,
any of its subsidiaries or any Invested Entity;

any business collaborator, business consultant, joint
venture or business partner, or technical, financial,
legal and other professional advisers engaged by the
Company, any of its subsidiaries or any Invested Entity;
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(c)

ARERABRRA A

(vii) any associate (as defined under the Listing Rules) of
the directors or the substantial shareholders of the
Company, any of its subsidiaries or any Invested Entity
who has, in the opinion of the Board, made contribution
to the business growth of the Company, any of its
subsidiaries or any Invested Entity; or

(viii) the trustee of any trust pre-approved by the Board,

the beneficiary (or in case of discretionary trust, the

discretionary objects) of which includes any of the
abovementioned persons,

and, for the purposes of the Share Option Scheme, the options
may be granted to any company wholly owned by one or more
of the above Eligible Persons.

Maximum Number of shares available for issue under the
Share Option Scheme

At 2013 AGM, the scheme mandate limit for the Share
Option Scheme to allow the Company to issue a maximum
of 33,200,000 options under the Share Option Scheme,
representing approximately 7.81% of the total number of
issued shares of the Company (i.e. 424,850,000 ordinary
shares) as at 24 March 2023.

As at 31 December 2022, there were no outstanding share
options. During the Reporting Year, there were not any share
options granted, exercised, cancelled and lapsed under the
Share Option Scheme.

As at the date of this report, the maximum number of
shares available for issue under the Share Option Scheme is
29,600,000, representing approximately 6.97% of the total
number of issued shares of the Company (i.e. 424,850,000
ordinary shares) as at 24 March 2023.

The number of share options available for grant under the
scheme mandate as at 1 January 2022 and 31 December
2022 was both 29,600,000.

(c)
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(d)

ISP HOLDINGS LIMITED

ERWE

Maximum entitlement of each Eligible Person under the
Share Option Scheme

No option may be granted to any one Eligible Person in any
12-month period which, if exercised in full, would result in
the total number of shares already issued to such Eligible
Person under all the options previously granted to him/her
which have been exercised and, issuable to him/her under all
the options previously granted to him/her which are for the
time being subsisting and unexercised, exceeding 1% of the
share capital of the Company in issue on the last date of such
12-month period unless being approved by the shareholders
of the Company in a general meeting.

Where any proposed grant of option to a substantial
shareholder or an independent non-executive director of the
Company, or any of their respective associates (as defined in
the Listing Rules), would result in the shares issued and to be
issued upon exercise of all options already granted (including
options exercised, cancelled and outstanding) and to be
granted to such person in the 12-month period up to and
including the date of the proposed grant:

(i)  representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the total number
of shares in issue for the time being; and

(i) the aggregate value of which, based on the closing
price of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotation sheet on the date of the proposed grant,
is in excess of HK$5.0 million, such proposed grant
of option shall be subject to the prior approval of the
shareholders of the Company at a general meeting in
which all connected persons for the time being of the
Company (if any) (except where any connected person
intends to vote against the proposed grant of option and
his/her intention to do so has been stated in the circular)
shall abstain from voting at such general meeting and at
which any vote taken shall be taken on a poll.
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Period for and payment on acceptance of an option

An offer for grant of an option must be accepted by an Eligible
Person (and by no other person) in respect of all the shares for
which the offer is made. Acceptance shall be made by such
Eligible Person by signing and returning the duplicate of the
offer letter together with the payment of a consideration of
HK$1.00 for such grant to the Company within the time period
specified in the offer letter.

Exercise period

The period within which the options may be exercised must
expire no later than 10 years from the relevant date of grant.

The basis of determining the subscription price

The subscription price in respect of any option granted under
the Share Option Scheme shall be a price determined by the
Board and notified to each grantee and shall not be less than
the highest of (i) the nominal value of a share; (ii) the average
of the closing prices of the shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five business days
immediately preceding the date on which an offer for grant
of an option (the “New Offer Date”) is made to an Eligible
Person; and (iii) the closing price of the shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheet on the New Offer Date
which must be a business day, provided that the subscription
price shall be rounded upwards to the nearest whole cent.

Minimum period for holding an option before exercise

There is no minimum holding period for which an option must
be held before exercise pursuant to the Share Option Scheme.
The commencement date of the period during which an
option may be exercised shall be specified by the Board in the
relevant offer letter.

Remaining life

The Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a
period of ten years commencing on 17 June 2013, the date
of adoption of the Share Option Scheme, unless otherwise
terminated in accordance with the rules of the Share Option
Scheme.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHT TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

During the Reporting Year, the Company has the Share Option
Scheme pursuant to which options may be granted, inter alia, to the
Directors.

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Share Option Scheme”
above, at no time during the Reporting Year was the Company,
its holding company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any
arrangements to enable the Directors or their spouses or children
under the age of 18 to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition
of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body
corporate.

DIRECTOR’S INTEREST IN COMPETING BUSINESS

None of the Directors (excluding Independent Non-executive
Directors) nor their respective associates had any interest in
business which competes or is likely to compete, either directly or
indirectly, with the business of the Group for the Reporting Year.

CONVERTIBLE SECURITIES, OPTIONS, WARRANTS
OR SIMILAR RIGHTS

Convertible Preference Shares

The Company issued and allotted 80,000,000 convertible
preference shares (“CPSs”), as part of the consideration for
the acquisition of ISP Business in late 2012. The CPSs may be
convertible into the ordinary shares at HK$0.75 per share subject
to satisfaction of the minimum public float requirements under the
Listing Rules. As at 31 December 2022 and up to the date of this
report, none of the CPSs was converted nor redeemed.

Convertible Bonds

The Company placed the convertible bonds in an aggregate
principal amount of HK$42,000,000 (the “Convertible Bonds”) on
18 November 2019 pursuant to the placing agreement dated 24
October 2019 (the “Placing”) by the placing agents to six placees,
being individual and corporate investors who are independent
third parties and are not connected with the Company as well as
its connected persons, whereby the Convertible Bonds may be
convertible into a maximum of 84,000,000 conversion shares
based on the initial conversion price of HK$0.50 per conversion
share upon exercise in full of the conversion rights attaching to the
Convertible Bonds.

ISP HOLDINGS LIMITED
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The gross and net proceeds from the placing amounted to
approximately HK$42,000,000 and HK$41,000,000 respectively.
The net issue price for the Placing is approximately HK$0.49 per
conversion share. The net proceeds from the Placing were fully
used as the general working capital of the Group according to the
purpose of the Placing. The details of the Placing are set out in the
announcements of the Company dated 24 October 2019 and 18
November 2019 as well as note 27 to the financial statements.

On 29 April 2021, the Convertible Bonds were redeemed in
full. Following the redemption, there was no principal amount
outstanding under the Convertible Bonds and no Convertible Bonds
have been or will be converted into ordinary shares of the Company.

Save as above and other than the share option scheme described
in the section headed “Share Option Scheme” above, the Company
had no outstanding convertible securities, options, warrants or
similar rights as at 31 December 2022. There was no issue or
exercise of any convertible securities, options, warrants or similar
rights during the Reporting Year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company was
entered into or existed during the Reporting Year.

RETIREMENT SCHEMES

The Group participated in mandatory provident fund schemes in
Hong Kong and in the municipal government contribution scheme
in China. Particulars of the retirement schemes are set out in note
4(g)(iii) to the financial statements.

ARERABRRA A
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 December 2022, the following person/entity (other than
Directors or chief executive of the Company) had or were deemed
or taken to have interests or short positions in the shares and
underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the register
of interests and short positions of substantial shareholders (the
“Register of Substantial Shareholders”) required to be kept by the
Company pursuant to section 336 of the SFO:

Long Positions in the Shares and Underlying Shares of
the Company

(@) Ordinary Shares

EERRICANTRIND K AEE AR 0 D5
BZREBERE

HZE2022%F 128310 REZFEHRBEK
BIZE 336 A RRABATFHFEZ EBREERD M
KEBRM(EBREELZM]) R - T5
AL/ BE(KRAREBHITHRARGRIN AR
AR KA D R A SRR B

RANARRG RABBARMDZ TR
(@ BHERERSD

Approximate

percentage of

Number of interests in the
ordinary  total number of

Name of Shareholders Capacity shares held issued shares

HE T

FEZERER RGO BEZ

REER 54 ROBE BAEREIL

(Note (ii))

(B &E (i)

Chu Yuet Wah (“Mrs. Chu”) Interests of controlled corporation 225,518,633 53.08%
FRE(ZFXL]) R EE ks (Note (1))
(BT ()

Champ Key Holdings Limited Beneficial owner 225,518,633 53.08%

(“Champ Key”) EmEE A
Notes: B -

() Champ Key being a company wholly-owned by Mrs. Chu is deemed to be
a controlled corporation of Mrs. Chu under the SFO.

(ii) There were 424,850,000 ordinary shares of the Company in issue as at
31 December 2022.

ISP HOLDINGS LIMITED ..........................................................

@ RIBFESZ R GGG - Champ Key (TRt 2
BREBZARBERFTRLZRZIEE -

(if) ARBIHE2022F12 31 A2 ERTER
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(b)

Convertible Preference Shares
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(b) TEBRELR

Approximate

Number of percentage of
convertible interests in the
preference  total number of

Name of Shareholders Capacity shares held issued shares
HE BT
BEZERR RiTEEZ
REREHE B4 ROBE MMOEZEIL
(Note (ii))
(B (i)
Mrs. Chu Interests of controlled corporation 80,000,000 100%
Tt YA E R (Note (i)
(BRFEE (1))
Champ Key Beneficial owner 80,000,000 100%
EnEEA
Notes: BiaE -
(i) The Company issued and allotted 80,000,000 CPSs to Smart Lane (0] A /A 7 [MSmart Lane Holdings Limited

(ii)

Holdings Limited (“Smart Lane”), as part of the consideration for the
acquisition of ISP Business in late 2012. As disclosed in the joint
announcement of Champ Key and the Company dated 30 November
2016, Champ Key (a company wholly-owned by Mrs. Chu) as the offeror
entered into the sale and purchase agreement with Smart Lane as the
vendor of the sale and purchase of 169,116,777 ordinary shares and the
80,000,000 CPSs. Champ Key being a company wholly-owned by Mrs.
Chu is deemed to be a controlled corporation of Mrs. Chu under the SFO.

There were 80,000,000 CPSs of the Company in issue as at 31
December 2022.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2022, the Directors
were not aware of any persons/entities (other than Directors or
chief executive of the Company) who/which had or were deemed
or taken to have any other interests or short positions in the shares
or underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the Register
of Substantial Shareholders required to be kept by the Company
pursuant to section 336 of the SFO.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
Renewal of Continuing Connected Transactions

The terms of the 2017 General Business Services Master
Agreement and the 2018 ISP Works Master Agreement as well as
the annual caps for continuing connected transactions thereunder
expired on 31 December 2019. In order for the Group to continue to
provide general business services and ISP works to Mrs. Chu and/or
her associates, the Company and Mrs. Chu entered into the General
Business Services Master Agreement and the ISP Works Master
Agreement on 17 December 2019, each for a term of three years
commencing from 1 January 2020 to 31 December 2022 (both
days inclusive). Details of the above transactions were summarised
below and disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated
17 December 2019.

During the Reporting Year, the Company and/or its subsidiaries had
entered into the following continuing connected transactions which
are subject to annual review and reporting requirements under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules:

(@

General Business Services Master Agreement

Pursuant to the General Business Services Master Agreement
dated 17 December 2019, Mrs. Chu and/or her associates
may engage the Group to provide general business services.
The annual cap under the General Business Services Master
Agreement for the Reporting Year was HK$6,600,000.

ISERIER 7

2017 F—REEBIRE B 1HE K 2018 FEAHE
£ SR A PR IA B AR 1h i M0 6 SR A SR IR It 1T
RSB I ZMFE LRER 2019412 A
MR AFAEEEEN T LT R K
E AR A IR RIS IR M E NS A
WRIBE T2 ARAHEFZ TN 2019F12 A
17 BT —BEFRBERZERERNEM K
FFERIEE TR R E - S B/ HR A 20204
1A1BZE2022F12A31A(BREEMK)
BEI=F - XHFFIBR TRBLE RAAF A H
A2019F 12 B17 BN AE AN °

RBEEER - ARBI N SEMBARERT
M RFEES EMARREUAZEZ FEEZR
BB ENFERERS :
() —MBEBRKAGS

BIEHEA2019F12 A17 B —R 2
BRI B ®H Ttk REBEA
Eféﬁ?ﬁ%.?If/\ ﬁX%ﬁ%ﬁ&% @i
REFE  E—MEBRSLHE T
FE LR AB 6,600,000 7T °

Connected Annual Nature and extent of the
person(s) Date of agreement(s) Terms Particulars Annual cap consideration connected person’s interest
BEAL  HEAH HR #E EELR FERE BEALEZMEEREE
Mrs. Chu General Business The period from Mrs. Chu and/or her associates to HK$6,600,000 Nl Mrs. Chuis a substantial
Services Master 1 January 2020 to engage the Group for providing shareholder and controlling
Agreement dated 31 December 2022 the general business services, shareholder of the Company
17 December 2019 (both days inclusive) including but not limited to, the and hence, a connected person
property and assets management, under the Listing Rules.
real estate advisory services,
fitting out works, renovation
works, general consultancy and
other ancillary services
3G AHAN19512A178 BE202051A1R18 ERLR/AEBEATRE 716,600,000 2 2Lt AARAZERRRR
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(b) ISP Works Master Agreement

Pursuant to the ISP Works Master Agreement dated 17
December 2019, Mrs. Chu and/or her associates may engage
the Group for providing ISP Works on a non-exclusive basis.
The annual cap under the ISP works Master Agreement for
the Reporting Year was HK$8,000,000.

(b)
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Connected Annual  Nature and extent of the connected
person(s) Date of agreement(s) Terms Particulars Annual cap consideration person’s interest
BEAL iE =k HR # EELR FERE BEALRENEREE
Mrs. Chu ISP Works Master The period from Mrs. Chu and/or her associates to HK$8,000,000 HK$1,809,500  Mrs. Chuis a substantial
Agreement on 1January 2020 to engage the Group for providing shareholder and controlling
17 December 2019 31 December 2022 ISP works shareholder of the Company

(both days inclusive)

£y Gy BHA019%F12F178  B20051518# SRtR/SEBEAZE
LENESRIHER Z2022%125318 FEEREZRES R
Ti#ihs HER(BEEERR) ERTE

and hence, a connected person
under the Listing Rules.

AH80000007  BEL809500T ZREARANZIERER

BRER - BRALHRY
TZBEAL-

The Directors (including the Independent Non-executive
Directors) have reviewed and confirmed that all the continuing
connected transactions mentioned above conducted in the
Reporting Year were entered into on the following basis:

(i) in the ordinary and usual course of the business of the
Group;

(i) on normal commercial terms or better; and

(iii) according to the relevant agreements governing these
transactions on terms that are fair and reasonable and
in the interests of the shareholders of the Company as a
whole.
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ISP HOLDINGS LIMITED

ERWE

The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the Group’s
continuing connected transactions in accordance with Hong
Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 “Assurance
Engagements other than Audits or Reviews of Historical
Financial Information” and with reference to Practice Note
740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions
under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The auditor
has issued an unqualified letter containing the findings
and conclusions in respect of the continuing connected
transactions disclosed by the Group as above in accordance
with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules. A copy of the auditor’s
letter has been provided by the Company to the Stock
Exchange.

In addition, the auditor of the Company has confirmed to
the Board that nothing has come to their attention that
causes them to believe that the above continuing connected
transactions for the Reporting Year:

(i)  have not been approved by the Board;

(i) were not, in all material respects, in accordance with
the pricing policies of the Group where the transactions
involve the provision of services by the Group;

(i) were not entered into, in all material respects, in
accordance with the relevant agreements governing the
transactions; and

(iv) have exceeded the relevant annual caps as disclosed
in the respective previous announcements of the
Company.

The Company has complied with the disclosure requirements
in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules in respect
of the continuing connected transactions mentioned above.
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In contemplation of the ISP Works Master Agreement which
expired on 31 December 2022, the Company and Mrs. Chu
entered into the new ISP Works Master Agreement (“2023 ISP
Works Master Agreement”) on 13 December 2022 to continue
the provision of the ISP works for a term of three years
commencing from 1 January 2023 to 31 December 2025.
The annual cap under the 2023 ISP Works Master Agreement
for each of the three years ending 31 December 2023, 2024
and 2025 are HK$5,000,000. As Mrs. Chu is the controlling
shareholder of the Company and hence, a connected person
of the Company under the Listing Rules, the transactions
contemplated under the 2023 ISP Works Master Agreement
constitute continuing connected transactions of the Company
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules and are subject to the
announcement, reporting and annual review requirements
but are exempt from the independent shareholders’ approval
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Details
of the transactions are set out in the announcement of the
Company dated 13 December 2022.

No renewal of the General Business Services Master
Agreement was made between the parties upon its expiration
on 31 December 2022 due to no such services is expected to
be rendered by the Group to Mrs. Chu in near future.

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEETHRS

ENENEMREREE IRRRHHED
2022412 A31 HER » AR FEZE
Z R 2022F 12 B13 BHEI L ERE
f R AFRIEE TR2H®E ([2023FFA
HEMREHRER IREWR])  NEE
REEAEMMIFRIER T2 - 52023
F1H1B £ E2025412 A31H It A
HI=F - TNREMNRIFKRIEE TIREH
& N B E2023%F « 2024 F K 2025F
12 A31 BIE=EAFERF  FF LR
#75#5,000,0007T °c HRELZ T AR
PDRIZEERAR R - AT LR A
KA ZEEAT @ #2023 FEANEEEAD
FERIEE TRBHEBET IR FHE
RARBIARE FTMRAUFEVUAET 2
BEMAER S BESTRE BREF
ERBMRT - HREEMARREILAE -
EHREEBETBEYREIHAERT - RP
HBEENAARHEA2022412 A13

EPr/N-

ST E—REB RIS AIHERN 2022 F
12 A31 HEmElEEE  BHAEHAKA
SEEERHATERZ=LTRERBER
7}%0



DIRECTORS" REPORT
EFETRS

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The aggregate revenue attributable to the Group’s five largest
customers accounted for approximately 82.1% (2021: 33.0%)
of the Group’s total revenue and the revenue attributable to the
Group’s largest customer accounted for approximately 24.0%
(2021: 13.1%) of the Group’s total revenue for the Reporting Year.

The aggregate purchases attributable to the Group’s five largest
suppliers were less than 30% of the Group’s total purchases for the
Reporting Year (2021: less than 30%).

None of the Directors, any of their close associates, or shareholders
(which, to the best knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5%
of the Company’s issued share capital), had any beneficial interest
in the Group’s five largest customers.

DONATIONS

The Group donated HK$22,000 (2021: HK$35,000) for charitable
and other purposes during the Reporting Year.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold
or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the
Reporting Year.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Related party transactions of the Group are set out in note 33 to the
financial statements. In relation to those related party transactions
that also constituted connected transactions or continuing
connected transactions of the Group as defined in the Listing Rules,
the relevant disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules have been complied with.

CHANGE OF COMPANY NAME

With effect from 23 December 2021, the English name and the
secondary name of the Company have been changed from “Synergis
Holdings Limited” and “& #& & I8 B R 2 #” to “ISP Holdings
Limited” and “ & 43 ¥ }& & R 2 7", respectively (the “Change of
Company Name”).

ISP HOLDINGS LIMITED
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The Change of Company Name was approved by shareholders of
the Company at the special general meeting held on 23 December
2021. The Certificate of Change of Name and the Certificate of
Secondary Name were issued by the Registrar of Companies in
Bermuda on 23 December 2021. The Certificate of Registration
of Alteration of Name of Registered Non-Hong Kong Company
was issued by the Registrar of Companies in Hong Kong on 5
January 2022 confirming the registration of the new name of the
Company in Hong Kong under Part 16 of the Companies Ordinance
(Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong). The stock short names
of the Company for trading in the shares of the Company on the
Stock Exchange were changed from “SYNERGIS HOLD” to “ISP
HOLDINGS” in English and from “& #& £ f%” to “& 4 £ B~ in
Chinese with effect from 13 January 2022.

The Board believes that the Change of Company Name will benefit
the Company’s future business development and is in the interests
of the Company and its shareholders as a whole.

PUBLIC FLOAT

At the date of this report, the Company has maintained the
prescribed public float under the Listing Rules, based on the
information that is publicly available to the Company and to the
best of knowledge of its Directors.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
Reporting Year were audited by BDO Limited who has expressed its
willingness to offer itself for re-appointment at the 2023 AGM.

A resolution will be proposed to the 2023 AGM to re-appoint BDO
Limited as the auditor of the Company for the ensuring year and to
authorize the Directors to fix its remuneration.

On behalf of the Board

Kingston Chu Chun Ho
Chairman

Hong Kong, 24 March 2023
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

38 37 #% BB IR 5

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF ISP HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of ISP
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together
the “Group”) set out on pages 88 to 193, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December
2022, the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2022, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”)
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance
with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the “Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements” section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA'’s “Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants” (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

ISP HOLDINGS LIMITED
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these
matters.

Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised as follows:

Accounting for construction contracts — including revenue
recognition, and contract assets/liabilities; and

Impairment assessment on receivables and contract assets.

ACCOUNTING FOR CONSTRUCTION CONTRACTS
INCLUDING REVENUE RECOGNITION, AND
CONTRACT ASSETS/LIABILITIES

We identified the accounting for construction contracts as a
key audit matter due to the significant judgements involved in
determining the completion status of construction works.

Refer to note 7 and note 19 to the consolidated financial statements

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group recognised
revenue from construction contracts relating to the interiors and
special projects which totalled HK$218.0 million. The contract
assets amounted to HK$116.0 million (after provision for
impairment of HK$0.6 million) as at 31 December 2022.

The recognition of revenue for the Group’s construction contracts
is based on the progress towards complete satisfaction of the
performance obligation.

Progress towards complete satisfaction of the performance
obligation is determined by reference to work performed up to
the end of the reporting period. The Group reviews and revises
the estimates of contract revenue, contract costs, variation orders
as well as the financial impact of claims, disputes and liquidation
damages prepared for each construction contract as the contract
progresses. The management’s estimate of revenue and the
completion status of construction works requires significant
judgement and has a significant impact on the amount and timing
of revenue recognised.
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Our response:

We tested the key controls on how management measure the
progress towards complete satisfaction of the performance
obligation, including controls on estimated total contract revenue
and costs, budgeted margins, progress billings and progress
payments of contracts.

Our work in relation to management’s estimated total contract
revenue and costs, and budgeted margins focused on the following
procedures in relation to material construction contracts within the
Group:

Discussing with the Group’s project managers for the status
of the projects, identifying any variations, claims and provision
on loss-making contracts, and obtaining explanations
for fluctuations in margins and the expected recovery of
variations.

Obtaining corroborative evidence, in relation to the above
points, by reviewing the project budgets, external architect’s
instructions, external architect’s certificates of work
performed and minutes of management’s regular internal
meetings, on a sample basis.

Inspecting signed contracts, on a sample basis, to identify the
total contract sum and terms.

. Agreeing the progress towards complete satisfaction of the
performance obligation to the surveyors’ latest valuation and/
or external architects certificates.

Testing the calculations of contract revenue, costs, and
construction contracts assets/liabilities.

Where applicable, inspecting correspondence with the
customers and sub-contractors to obtain audit evidence on
variations from customers, claims from customers and sub-
contractors.
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IMPAIRMENT ASSESSMENT ON RECEIVABLES AND
CONTRACT ASSETS

We identified the impairment assessment on receivables and
contract assets as a key audit matter due to the significance
of receivables and contract assets to the Group’s consolidated
financial position and the involvement of significant judgements and
management estimates in evaluating the impairment process.

Refer to note 19 and note 20 to the consolidated financial
statements

The Group had receivables (representing account receivables,
retention receivables and other receivables) of HK$103.0 million
(after provision for impairment of HK$6.0 million) and contract
assets of HK$116.0 million (after provision for impairment of
HK$0.6 million) as at 31 December 2022.

Receivables and contract assets of the Group in relation to the
Group’s business of interiors and special projects.

The recoverable amount is estimated by management based on
their specific recoverability assessment on individual counterparties
with reference to the aging profile, historical payment pattern, the
past record of default, forward-looking factors and assessment of
their financial position. Management would make specific provision
against individual balances with reference to the estimated
recoverable amount.

For the purpose of impairment assessment, significant judgements
and assumptions include specific recoverability assessment, the
credit risks of counterparty, the estimated timing and amount of
future cash flows for the determination of the impairment charge.

Our response:
We performed the following procedures in relation to the

recoverability of receivables and contract assets:

Testing the accuracy of aging of trade receivables at year end
on a sample basis.

Obtaining lists of outstanding receivables and contract assets,

and identifying any counterparty with potential financial
difficulty through discussion with management.
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Challenging management’s basis and judgement in
determining credit loss allowance on contract assets as at 31
December 2022 through the discussion with the management,
including management’s identification of significant contract
assets, the reasonableness of management’s grouping of
the remaining contract assets into different categories in the
provision matrix and the basis of estimated loss rates applied.

Assessing the recoverability of the unsettled receivables and
contract assets on a sample basis through our evaluation
of management’s assessment with reference to the credit
profile of the counterparties, historical payment pattern of
the counterparties, publicly available information and latest
correspondence with the counterparties and to consider if any
additional provision should be made.

Testing subsequent settlement and contract work certification
of receivables and contract assets respectively after the end
of reporting date on a sample basis.

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises the information included in the Company’s
2022 annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

ISP HOLDINGS LIMITED
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable
the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations,
or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are also responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process. The Audit Committee assists the
directors in discharging their responsibilities in this regard.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This report is
made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with the terms of
our engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.
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As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required
to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if
such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to
the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a
going concern.

evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

ISP HOLDINGS LIMITED ...............................................................
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

BDO Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Lee Ka Leung, Daniel
Practising Certificate Number P01220

Hong Kong, 24 March 2023
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

GRoEaREMNZENER

For the year ended 31 December 2022

HE2022F12 A31HILEE
2022 2021
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
MaE BT T BRI
Continuing Operations FELEER
Revenue Uz 7 224,923 430,651
Cost of sales and service SHE MRS A AR (202,263) (413,155)
Gross profit EF 22,660 17,496
Other income and gain or loss HMUAFIE 8 7,229 8,272
General and administrative expenses  —#& &7 X (31,374) (36,754)
Interest expenses FERXZ 9 (87) (2,878)
Net allowances for impairment losses ~ JEUEEFR R AN EEZ
on receivables and contract assets BEE B R 36 (243)
Loss before taxation MR AT E 1R 10 (1,536) (14,107)
Taxation HiIE 14 (164) (1,339
Loss for the year from Continuing FARBFELEEBRNER
Operations (1,700) (15,446)
Discontinued Operations ERIEEWR

Profit for the year from Discontinued FRREERIEES R

Operations 13A 438,440 35,058
Profit for the year attributable to RATRERE AES
equity holders of the Company FRREF 436,740 19,612

Other comprehensive income/(loss): EH#2EUkZE (EE) :

Items that will not be reclassified to HiE T esHmoEs
profit or loss: BamzIEE
Remeasurement on long service RERBEBBECENTE
payment liabilities 10 (999)
Items that may be subsequently HESEHHEEES
reclassified to profit or loss: ZIEH :
Exchange differences on translating HEGINETFEE 2
foreign operations fE N =58 (2,697) 882
Other comprehensive loss for the year F X HEth 2 HEE (2,687) (117)
Total comprehensive income AATRERE AEM
for the year attributable to equity FREEKNZETE
holders of the Company 434,053 19,495
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

TR REMEENER

For the year ended 31 December 2022

HZE2022F12 A31BILFE

2022 2021

Note HK$’000 HK$’000

ftat BT T BT IT

Total comprehensive income/(loss)  ZNA T REZTEAEML
for the year attributable to equity DNTHBZFR
holders of the Company arises from  2EZE (EE)

— Continuing Operations — FEREEE (4,387) (14,574)
— Discontinued Operations —BERIEET 438,440 34,069
434,053 19,495
From Continuing Operations and REFELSEERR
Discontinued Operations CRILER

Earnings per share attributable to the ZRRATHEEABLEERER
owners of the Company

— basic (HK cents) — EARGEEBM) 16 87.9 4.6
— diluted (HK cents) — 58 (BB 16 86.5 3.9
From Continuing Operations REBELEENR

Loss per share attributable to the KATREEANELRERER

owners of the Company
— basic (HK cents) — AR GBI 16 (0.4) (3.6)

— diluted (HK cents) — B8 BRI 16 (0.3) (3.1)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

RS MBEARR

As at 31 December 2022
M20229F12 A31H

2022 2021
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
MaE BT T BRI
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment I - 3 N 17 1,936 4,039
Investment properties WEME 18 - -
Deferred tax assets RIEFRIBE B 28 240 268
_Totalnon-currentassets  FABEEA® 2176 4,307
Current assets REEE
Contract assets BHEE 19 115,899 139,628
Receivables JE L R K 20 102,839 104,348
Deposits and prepayments & MIERKRIE 1,796 2,906
Financial assets at fair value BAFEFABZNE )
through profit or loss (“Financial BE([HLAFEFAER
assets at FVTPL”) MEREE]) 21 28,653 -
Taxation recoverable G qEE A = 96
Pledged bank deposits/time BEMRITFERREIEB
deposits with original maturities iR =& A 2 7 BifE X
over three months 22 19,524 -
Cash and cash equivalents BHe MRS EE 22 153,427 82,661
422,138 329,639
Assets classified as held for sale DHEARELREEE 13B - 188,017
_Totalcurrentassets  ABEE®®E 422,138 517,656
Current liabilities REBEE
Payables and accruals JENRBRR R BT E A 23 222,699 265,673
Contract liabilities AHEE 19 - 497
Lease liabilities HEB®E 24 1,053 1,901
Amount due to the Disposal Group FEFT &S & BFRIE 25 - 333
Taxation payable JETHRIE 119 9
223,871 268,413
Liabilities classified as held for sale DEARBEHEAR 13B = 87,457
_Totalcurrent liabilites ~ aBAfesE 000 223871 355870
Net current assets RBEEFE 198,267 161,786
Total assets less current liabilities ZEZBRABERE 200,443 166,093

ISP HOLDINGS LIMITED .....................................................................................
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
= a8 B INR R

As at 31 December 2022

2022412 A31H
2022 2021
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
Mt et BT T BEET T
Non-current liabilities kRBESE
Long service payment liabilities ARG EE 26 128 133
Lease liabilities HEBE 24 59 854
Deferred tax liabilities EEFIEEE 28 58 129
_Totalnon-current liabilites ¥ #iB8FE#KHE 245 1,116
Net assets EEFE 200,198 164,977
Equity attributable to equity holders 72 7] IR#EFH AL ER
of the Company
Share capital L% 29 50,486 50,486
Reserves 1 30 149,712 114,491
Total equity B 200,198 164,977

The notes on page 94 to 193 are an integral part of these $94Z %193 B 2 ARSHEAMBHRE
consolidated financial statements. RIS o

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors — Bf &k &&= E 2R 2023 F3 A 24 BH# & -

on 24 March 2023 and were signed on its behalf. WHLTATREREZ -
Kingston Chu Chun Ho Lam Chun Kit

REE UNC RS

Chairman Non-Executive Director
FE FHITEE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
RENEDE2NR

For the year ended 31 December 2022

HZE2022F12 A31HIEFE
Attributable to equity holders of the Company
HERREARREREA
Equity REEE
component of earnings/
Share Share Merger Exchange convertible  (accumulated Total
capital premium reserve reserve bonds losses) Equity
TRERES RBER/
K& REEE At EifE  2Esd2 (B3B8 RHAE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BRTT AmTR #ETR #ETR #ETR BETR TR
At 1 January 2022 ®202251A1A 50,486 185,420 1,513 153 - (72,595) 164,977
Profit for the year FEREM = = = - - 436,740 436,740
Other comprehensive £t 2@/ (B8) -
income/(loss):
Remeasurement on RERBEEaEY
long service payment EifirE
liabilities - - - - - 10 10
Exchange differenceson  BEFHEBEEL
translating foreign EXEE
operations - - - (2,697) - - (2,697)
Total other comprehensive  Eft1 21 (§%8),/
(loss)/income ettt - - - (2,697) - 10 (2,687)

Total comprehensive income 2 E Yz &% - - - (2,697) - 436,750 434,053
Special dividends (Note 15)  #5Iik & (Fitr15) - - - - - (398,832) (398,832)
Share premium reduction  R{AEEBIE (H3)

(Note) - (185,420) - - - 185,420 -
At 31 December 2022 R2022612 8318 50,486 - 1,513 (2,544) - 150,743 200,198
At 1January 2021 R2021E18 18 50,486 185,420 1,513 (729) 5,180 (96,388) 145,482
Profit for the year FREH - - - - - 19,612 19,612
Other comprehensive Hh2ERS/(B8) -

income/(loss):

Remeasurement on REBREEAREY

long service payment Biite
liabilities - - - - - (999) (999)
Exchange differences RERNEBEEL
on translating foreign EXEE
operations - - - 882 - - 882
Total other comprehensive  E A2 EUE/

income/(loss) (i) es - - - 882 - (999) (117)
Total comprehensive income 2 M5 - - - 882 - 18,613 19,495
Early redemption of RABETERES

convertible bonds - - - - (5,180) 5,180 -
At 31 December 2021 R2021512 8318 50,486 185,420 1,513 153 - (72,595) 164,977

Note: Pursuant to a special resolution passed by the shareholders at the special Bz - HBIERFEN2022F11 A7 BRT 2 AR AIREE

general meeting of the Company on 7 November 2022, an amount of FARE LRBZERIAZRR  ARAROEEBRZ
HK$185,420,000 standing to the credit of the share premium account of the HEBRFE B 5 185,420,000 L2 T EIE - ML EA
Company was reduced and the credit arising therefrom be transferred to the ZERBEEREANTNMARKE

contributed surplus account of the Company.

The note on pages 94 to 193 are an integral part of these consolidated £ 94EF 193 B 2 MiE B SFH A M EHRE
financial statements. LR E S
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
REHERE

For the year ended 31 December 2022

HE2022F12 A31HIEEE
2022 2021
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
=3 BT T BEET T
Operating activities R
Cash (used in)/generated e E (R, EE
from operations Z2RE 31(a) (19,323) 9,051
Interest received B U F B 3,070 250
Interest paid ERFLE = (1,607)
Income taxes paid EFTSH = (14,392)
Net cash used in operating activities REXKERA R RE (16,253) (6,698)
Investing activities REXEW
Purchase of property, plant BEYE  WBENEE
and equipment (188) (1,203)
Proceeds from disposal of HEWME - S REHE
property, plant and equipment Fr8 k18 10 26
Purchase of financial assets at FVTPL  BEE IR A F(EIT ABZ Y
TRVEE (29,671) -
Dividend derived from financial RERAFEFABRZ
assets at FVTPL EMEECLKRE 1,335 -
Disposal of subsidiaries, HEMBAR - MREE
net of cash disposed of Be 529,197 -
(Placement of)/release in pledged (ER),/ k% B IR IRTT
bank deposits/time deposits ER/ BRI BBE
over three months =BAZEHER (19,524) 9,494
Net cash generated from investing REXBEL RS FHE
activities 481,159 8,317
Financing activities R T 31(b)
Drawdown of bank loans IREERITE K - 85,000
Repayment of bank loans BEIRITEN = (149,000)
Dividend paid BERRE 15 (398,832) -
Repayment of convertible bonds EETBRES = (42,000)
Repayment of principal portion EEHEEE Ae
and interest of the lease liabilities o KA E (2,443) (9,349)
Net cash used in financing activities BEXKERCRLRE (401,275) (115,349)
Net increase/(decrease) incashand BRE&RBESZF® M
cash equivalents (RA) 2 E%E 63,631 (113,730)
Cash and cash equivalents at the FUZRENMREE
beginning of the year 92,464 205,082
Exchange (loss)/gain on cash and HehkREFHEZIER
cash equivalents (B518) ke (2,668) 1,112
Cash and cash equivalents FRZBEERESEE
at the end of the year 153,427 92,464

ARERABRRA A

The note on pages 94 to 193 are an integral part of these
consolidated financial statements.



GENERAL INFORMATION

ISP Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated
in Bermuda under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda as
an exempted company on 4 August 2003. The address of
its registered office is Clarendon House, 2 Church Street,
Hamilton, HM 11, Bermuda. The Company’s shares were
listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) on 9 October 2003.

The principal business of the Group is principally engaged in
the provision of interiors and special projects business in Hong
Kong and property and facility management services in China.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
thousands of Hong Kong dollars (HK$), unless otherwise
stated, and were approved for issue by the Board on 24 March
2023.

ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")

(a) Adoption of revised standards — effective 1
January 2022

The HKICPA has issued a number of amended
standards, interpretations and amendments to
standards that are first effective for the current
accounting period of the Group:

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A1 #5 ¥R R BT o

— sy

SAZERERAR ([AAF]) » K 2003
FEHLIBBIEISIEBRERN AL
BREFMAL AERE QA o M
% B2 # HiE A& Clarendon House, 2 Church
Street, Hamilton, HM 11, Bermuda ° 7N
A A% 5 7R 2003 F 10 A 9 B 1F & 4 B
AXRGHAR AR (B i -

AEBETBXRTIZRNEENER
HE R MR R R LR T
RERHYE MRIEEIERT ©

BB ETIBAEIN - NERE B IEIRE A
BTy R WE KR202343 A24H8
KB EEHETIE o

RiABEMBERSREA ([ FBIMHE

WE2RA)

(a) RAMIEBETRRA - 1£2022F 1
A1BEH
EERHAARERFZENAE
402 BT B &R S M S8
TR REERERIET

Amendments to HKFRS 3

FARPBREERE 35 (BF])

Reference to the Conceptual Framework
BSELR 2 1R

Amendments to Hong Kong
Accounting Standards ("HKAS") 16

FEgtER((&HEatER])
F165% (1BFT)

Property, Plant and Equipment — Proceeds before
Intended Use
M - HEs MR — RMERUE RE R 2 RIS FUR

Amendments to HKAS 37
BEGFHERZE 3798 (BF])

Onerous Contracts — Costs of Fulfilling a Contract

EBIEMEAHN — BITREKIKA

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
2018-2020

BBV HRERER 2018 F £ 2020F
BHA 2 2 U

Amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 9, illustrative
examples accompanying HKFRS 16 and HKAS 41
BEAUBREENE 15  BEEUBRELENFE IR -
BBMBHREERE 16 KRB B SR E 415

2 BEMR B (153T)

ISP HOLDINGS LIMITED

The amended standards that are effective from 1
January 2022 did not have any material impact on the
Group’s accounting policies.

The adoption of the amendments to HKFRSs does not
have any significant impact on the Group’s financial
positions and performance for the current and prior
years.

R2022F 1 A1H A WMH KB
ERHAREERN ST BERBEE TR
BAFE -

RNEBHBRELER ZETH AR
SEAFEIEEFRE 2HBRR
REBIEEREATE -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
81 7R R MY 5

(b) New/revised standards that have been issued (b) ERMEBERERZIET E

but are not yet effective (BT EBRIRIRS AR
The following new/revised standards, potentially VAN AN 6R (B B 7 S R VB TE AR 2
relevant to the Group’s financial statements, have been 5]/ BT BB IEREERE
issued, but are not yet effective for the current financial KM BERABBFE R ARE
year. The Group’s current intention is to apply these Mo AEE B AIFTEINZ SR A
changes on the date they become effective. These MAMERZESE - ZZ%8TE
standards are not expected to have a material impact on HRS & 8 7R R 45 HA ] 3l R 2R R 5 B
the entity in the current or future reporting periods and Mz BRI RERNZZEKE
on foreseeable future transactions. -7

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current?

BASEERE 195 (1BE]) BESERRESIERE?

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Disclosure of Accounting Policies®

Practice Statement 2 BETHRH R

ERGHERE LR N EEM GRS
ERIBERHREF 258 (1BF])

HK Interpretation 5 (2022) Presentation of Financial Statements — Classification by
EBREE L5 (20224F) the Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains a

Repayment on Demand Clause*

G HRKR 2 25 — tERABFH AL B RKER BRI

EHERO SRR

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates?
BB GRS 85% (B3]) SHEEER?
Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax Related to Assets and Liabilities Arising
BB GRTERIE 125 (185]) from a Single Transaction®

HE-—QHEF 7 EEKAERRRLERIEA?
HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts?®
BRI RMEERE 17 5% RERE )
Amendments to HKFRS 17 Initial Application of HKFRS 17 and HKFRS 9 —
BB R EZERIZE 17 95 (185]) Comparative information?

BTSRRI 17 5 R B B A
EORMMIAMA — LEAR"

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor

BB EERE 105k K& and its Associate or Joint Venture?

BAGFHERIE 28 5% (185]) REEREBMENFNAEPECENEELES A
Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease liability in a Sale and Leaseback?
ERIBMEERSE 16 5% (IBFT) ERMADHERE?

Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants?
EEGETERISE 15% (B3T) MR 5E 2 JEMEN B B2
e Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January ! M2023F1 A1 BRAKERRL
2023. FEHRERR
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2 20241 A1 BRKKZEREZ
2024. FREARERR
E The amendments shall be applied prospectively to the sale or ? ZEET A KRR R R T A
contribution of assets occurring in annual periods beginning on e kA FRARMBEEZE
or after a date to be determined. EHEIEA °
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
81 F R R MY 5

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

ISP HOLDINGS LIMITED

Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with all applicable HKFRSs,
HKASs and Interpretations (hereinafter collectively
referred to as the “HKFRS”) and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. In
addition, the consolidated financial statements include
applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the
“Listing Rules”).

Basis of measurement

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared under the historical cost basis, except for
investment properties and certain financial instruments
that are measured at fair values, at the end of each
reporting period, as explained in the accounting policies
set out below.

Use of estimates and judgements

The preparation of consolidated financial statements
in conformity with HKFRSs requires the use of
certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires
management to exercise its judgement in the process
of applying the Group’s accounting policies. The areas
involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity or
areas where assumptions and estimates are significant
to the consolidated financial statement are disclosed in
note 6.

Functional and presentation currency

The financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars (“HK$”), which is the same as the functional
currency of the Company. All values are rounded to the
nearest thousand except when otherwise indicated.

3.

RNE%E

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

SRER
REMBHRRDRIEMEEREE
M mELER - FESHER N
B(TXHGERBEEMBREE
A1) REB R BRD 2 BKERTER
o I MEMBEHRRIEHR
Pragss EmARA (T EMARRLDRE
HERRESA -

StERE

BN T X PTE R & R BR AR
RIRBEMERETERTARAR
BFFE5  BEMERZEZE I
WK TIIRIREE L AR E RS o

{5 R FIER

HEEREEMHREERNRRYS
WRE - ARAETHRS G
8 BEENBEERAARES
B ZBIEFIELHE - P RBS
1 AR AR IR A SO0 S R AR I A
S EMBERRBEANEER
B 6 MIEE -

S ER T
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HEARXRDEESEHER - BRE
EREIN  FEEBESIRESE
ATE)TRIEL
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ARERABRRA A

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(@) Business combination and basis of

consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the
financial statements of the Group. Inter-company
transactions and balances between group companies
together with unrealised profits are eliminated in full
in preparing the consolidated financial statements.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of impairment on the
asset transferred, in which case the loss is recognised in
profit or loss.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed
of during the year are included in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income from the effective dates of acquisition or up to
the effective dates of disposal, as appropriate. Where
necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting
policies in line with those used by other members of the
Group.

Acquisition of subsidiaries or businesses is accounted for
using the acquisition method. The cost of an acquisition
is measured at the aggregate of the acquisition-date
fair value of assets transferred, liabilities incurred and
equity interests issued by the Group, as the acquirer.
The identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed
are principally measured at acquisition-date fair
value. The Group’s previously held equity interest in
the acquiree, if any, is re-measured at acquisition-
date fair value and the resulting gains or losses are
recognised in profit or loss. The Group may elect, on a
transaction-by-transaction basis, to measure the non-
controlling interests that represent present ownership
interests in the subsidiary either at fair value or at the
proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net
assets. All other non-controlling interests are measured
at fair value unless another measurement basis is
required by HKFRSs. Acquisition-related costs incurred
are expensed unless they are incurred in issuing equity
instruments in which case the costs are deducted from
equity.

8 35 R MY &E

4. EXRBHEE
(a) EBSHERGSER

REMBHRRBREAEENT K H
& RAIHENRS - REARFRE
RER BOR B3R A R LR & TS
WREBHEE - REBEBEOX
ZINTIAH - BRIER H B EIERR
TEREENTRE  YHEES
REEREIR o

FRUKBERLERBARNEES
BB EEE HELEREH
I (RBERBRME) NG BRE R
Htp2mPaRAR - WARE
AEBESHENBRRNTBER
&~ FEHSFHRREREE RN
BE—%-

W BB P B & RISk R SR A WA
B o —HWBHIRATNIZMERE
E FELEERAEE(ERK
B)BRTHRERKEERNR
RERBEE - IRBABANEE
LKA EABINRREEZREREE
BAREFE - ARBEEFIPTFEK
Wi R AE (0B ) ABE E H 2
REEHTE - MAEEANKEN
EERINBmRAER - AREA]
REERXHEERZARWEITH
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ISP HOLDINGS LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
81 F R R MY 5

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by
the acquirer is recognised at acquisition-date fair
value. Subsequent adjustments to consideration are
recognised against goodwill only to the extent that
they arise from new information obtained within the
measurement period (a maximum of 12 months
from the acquisition date) about the fair value at the
acquisition date. All other subsequent adjustments
to contingent consideration classified as an asset or a
liability are recognised in profit or loss.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the gain or
loss on disposal is calculated as the difference between
(i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration
received and the fair value of any retained interest
and (ii) the previous carrying amount of the assets
(including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary
and any non-controlling interest. Amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income in relation
to the subsidiary are accounted for in the same manner
as would be required if the relevant assets or liabilities
were disposed of.

Subsequent to acquisition, the carrying amount of non-
controlling interests that represent present ownership
interests in the subsidiary is the amount of those
interests at initial recognition plus the non-controlling
interest’s share of subsequent changes in equity. Total
comprehensive income is attributed to non-controlling
interests even if this results in the non-controlling
interest having a deficit balance.
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(b)

(c)

(d)

ARERABRRA A

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an investee over which the Company
is able to exercise control. The Company controls
an investee if all three of the following elements are
present: power over the investee, exposure, or rights,
to variable returns from the investee, and the ability to
use its power to affect those variable returns. Control is
reassessed whenever facts and circumstances indicate
that there may be a change in any of these elements of
control.

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less
impairment loss, if any. The results of subsidiaries are
accounted for by the Company on the basis of dividend
received and receivable.

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent
with the internal reporting provided to the chief
operating decision makers. The chief operating decision
makers, who are responsible for allocating resources
and assessing performance of the operating segments
and making strategic decisions.

Investment properties

Investment property is held for long-term rental yields
or for capital appreciation or both, and is not occupied
by the companies in the Group.

Investment property is measured initially at its
cost, including related transaction costs. After initial
recognition, investment property is carried at fair value.
Fair value is revaluated bi-annually based on active
market prices, adjusted for any necessary difference in
the nature, location or condition of the specific asset.

The fair value of investment property reflects, among
other things, rental income from current leases and
assumptions about rental income from future leases in
the light of current market conditions. Changes in fair
values are recognised in profit or loss.

(b)

(c)

(d)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
81 F R R MY 5

(e)

ISP HOLDINGS LIMITED

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal
or when the investment property is permanently
withdrawn from use and no future economic benefits
are expected from its disposals. Any gain or loss arising
on derecognition of the property (calculated as the
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset) is included in the profit or
loss in the period in which the property is derecognised.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical
cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses. Historical cost includes expenditure that is
directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in each asset’s carrying
amount only when it is probable that there is future
economic benefit to the Group and the cost of the item
can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the
replaced part is derecognised. All other repairs and
maintenance are charged to the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income during
the financial period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is
calculated using the straight-line method based on
estimated useful lives, as follows:

Leasehold improvements
Motor vehicles
Furniture and equipment

Over the lease period
25%—-33% per annum
10%-50% per annum

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of
each reporting period. An assets’ carrying amount is
written down immediately to its recoverable amount if
the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its estimated
recoverable amount (note 6(a)).

The gain or loss on disposal of an item of property, plant
and equipment is the difference between the net sale
proceeds and its carrying amount, and is recognised in
profit or loss on disposal.

(e)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(f) Financial Instruments

(®

ARERABRRA A

Financial assets

A financial asset (unless it is an account receivable
without a significant financing component) is
initially measured at fair value plus, for an item
not at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”),
transaction costs that are directly attributable
to its acquisition or issue. An account receivable
without a significant financing component is
initially measured at the transaction price.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial
assets are recognised on the trade date, that is,
the date that the Group commits to purchase or
sell the asset. Regular way purchases or sales are
purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the period generally
established by regulation or convention in the
market place.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are
considered in their entirely when determining
whether their cash flows are solely payment of
principal and interest.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments
depends on the Group’s business model
for managing the asset and the cash flow
characteristics of the asset. There are three
measurement categories into which the Group
classifies its debt instruments:

Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection
of contractual cash flows where those cash flows
represent solely payments of principal and interest
are measured at amortised cost. Financial assets
at amortised cost are subsequently measured
using the effective interest rate method. Interest
income, foreign exchange gains and losses and
impairment are recognised in profit or loss. Any
gain on derecognition is recognised in profit or
loss.
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ISP HOLDINGS LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
81 F R R MY 5

Fair value through other comprehensive income
(“FVOCI”): Assets that are held for collection
of contractual cash flows and for selling the
financial assets, where the assets’ cash flows
represent solely payments of principal and
interest, are measured at fair value through
OCI. Debt investments at fair value through
other comprehensive income are subsequently
measured at fair value. Interest income calculated
using the effective interest rate method, foreign
exchange gains and losses and impairment are
recognised in profit or loss. Other net gains and
losses are recognised in other comprehensive
income. On derecognition, gains and losses
accumulated in other comprehensive income are
reclassified to profit or loss.

FVTPL: Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss include financial assets held for
trading, financial assets designated upon initial
recognition at fair value through profit or loss,
or financial assets mandatorily required to be
measured at fair value. Financial assets are
classified as held for trading if they are acquired
for the purpose of selling or repurchasing in
the near term. Derivatives, including separated
embedded derivatives, are also classified as held
for trading unless they are designated as effective
hedging instruments. Financial assets with cash
flows that are not solely payments of principal
and interest are classified and measured at fair
value through profit or loss, irrespective of the
business model. Notwithstanding the criteria for
debt instruments to be classified at amortised
cost or at fair value through other comprehensive
income, as described above, debt instruments
may be designated at fair value through profit or
loss on initial recognition if doing so eliminates, or
significantly reduces, an accounting mismatch.
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(i)

AWERABRAR A

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Equity instruments

On initial recognition of an equity investment that
is not held for trading, the Group could irrevocably
elect to present subsequent changes in the
investment’s fair value in other comprehensive
income. This election is made on an investment-
by-investment basis. Equity investments at fair
value through other comprehensive income are
measured at fair value. Dividend income are
recognised in profit or loss unless the dividend
income clearly represents a recovery of part of
the cost of the investments. Other net gains and
losses are recognised in other comprehensive
income and are not reclassified to profit or loss. All
other equity instruments are classified as FVTPL,
whereby changes in fair value, dividends and
interest income are recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment loss on financial assets and
contract assets

The Group recognises loss allowances for
expected credit loss (“ECL”) on account
receivables, contract assets, and financial assets
measured at amortised cost. The ECLs are
measured on either of the following bases: (1) 12
months ECLs: these are the ECLs that result from
possible default events within the 12 months after
the reporting date: and (2) lifetime ECLs: these are
ECLs that result from all possible default events
over the expected life of a financial instrument.
The maximum period considered when estimating
ECLs is the maximum contractual period over
which the Group is exposed to credit risk.

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of
credit losses. Credit losses are measured as the
difference between all contractual cash flows
that are due to the Group in accordance with the
contract and all the cash flows that the Group
expects to receive. The shortfall is then discounted
at an approximation to the assets’ original effective
interest rate.

(ii)
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ISP HOLDINGS LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
81 F R R MY 5

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result
from all possible default events over the expected
life of the relevant instrument. In contrast,
12-month ECL represents the portion of lifetime
ECL that is expected to result from default events
that are possible within 12 months after the
reporting date. Assessments are done based
on the Group’s historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors,
general economic conditions and an assessment
of both the current conditions at the reporting date
as well as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group has elected to measure loss allowances
for account receivables and contract assets using
HKFRS 9 simplified approach and has calculated
ECLs based on lifetime ECLs. The Group has
established a provision matrix that is based on the
Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted
for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors
and the economic environment.

For other debt financial assets, the ECLs are based
on the 12-month ECLs. However, when there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since
origination, the allowance will be based on the
lifetime ECLs.

Significant increase in credit risk

When determining whether the credit risk of a
financial asset has increased significantly since
initial recognition and when estimating ECL, the
Group considers reasonable and supportable
information that is relevant and available without
undue cost or effort. This includes both quantitative
and qualitative information analysis, based on
the Group’s historical experience and informed
credit assessment and including forward-looking
information.
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AWERABRAR A

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Group assumes that the credit risk on a
financial asset has increased significantly if it is
more than 30 days past due, unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that
the credit risk on a debt instrument has not
increase significantly since initial recognition
if the debt instrument is determined to have
low credit risk at the reporting date. A debt
instrument is determined to have low credit risk
if i) it has a low risk of default, ii) the borrower
has a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash
flow obligations in the near term and iii) adverse
changes in economic and business conditions
in the longer term may, but will not necessarily,
reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfil its
contractual cash flow obligations.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been
a significant increase in credit risk and revises
them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are
capable of identifying significant increase in credit
risk before the amount becomes past due.

Credit-impaired financial assets

The Group considers a financial asset to be credit-
impaired when: (1) the borrower is unlikely to pay
its credit obligations to the Group in full, without
recourse by the Group to actions such as realising
security (if any is held); or (2) the financial asset is
more than 90 days past due.

Interest income on credit-impaired financial assets
is calculated based on the amortised cost (i.e. the
gross carrying amount less loss allowance) of the
financial asset. For non credit-impaired financial
assets, interest income is calculated based on the
gross carrying amount.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

81 F R R MY 5

Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting
an event of default for internal credit risk
management purposes as historical experience
indicates that receivables that meet either of the
following criteria are generally not recoverable:

when there is a breach of financial covenants
by the debtor; or

information developed internally or obtained
from external sources indicates that the
debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors,
including the Group, in full (without taking
into account any collaterals held by the

Group).

The Group considers that default has occurred
when a financial asset is more than 90 days
past due unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information to demonstrate that a
more lagging default criterion is more appropriate.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the debtor is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect
of recovery, e.g. when the counterparty has been
placed under liquidation or has entered into
bankruptcy proceedings. Financial assets written
off may still be subject to enforcement activities
under the Group’s recovery procedures, taking
into account legal advice where appropriate. Any
recoveries made are recognised in profit or loss.

ISP HOLDINGS LIMITED
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ARERABRRA A

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and
the exposure at default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given default is
based on historical data adjusted by forward-
looking information as described above. As for
the exposure at default, for financial assets, this is
represented by the assets’ gross carrying amount
at the reporting date.

For financial assets, the ECL is estimated as the
difference between all contractual cash flows
that are due to the Group in accordance with the
contract and all the cash flows that the Group
expects to receive, discounted at the original
effective interest rate.

If the Group has measured the loss allowance
for a financial instrument at an amount equal to
lifetime ECL in the previous reporting period, but
determines at the current reporting date that the
conditions for lifetime ECL are no longer met, the
Group measures the loss allowance at an amount
equal to 12-month ECL at the current reporting
date, except for assets for which simplified
approach was used.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL
for receivables and contract assets without
significant financing components. The ECL on
these assets are assessed individually for debtors
with significant balances and collectively using a
provision matrix with appropriate groupings.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss
in profit or loss for all financial instruments with a
corresponding adjustment to their carrying amount
through a loss allowance account.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

81 F R R MY 5

(iii) Financial liabilities

(iii)

The Group classifies its financial liabilities as at
FVTPL when the financial liability is (i) contingent
consideration for an acquirer in a business
combination to which HKFRS 3 applies, (ii) held
for trading or (iii) it is designated as at FVTPL.
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit
or loss are initially measured at fair value and
financial liabilities at amortised costs are initially
measured at fair value, net of directly attributable

costs incurred.

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or

loss

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or
loss include financial liabilities held for trading
and financial liabilities designated upon initial
recognition as at fair value through profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are classified as held for
trading if they are acquired for the purpose of sale
in the near term. Derivatives, including separated
embedded derivatives, are also classified as held
for trading unless they are designated as effective
hedging instruments. Gains or losses on liabilities
held for trading are recognised in profit or loss.

Where a contract contains one or more embedded
derivatives, the entire hybrid contract may be
designated as a financial liability at fair value
through profit or loss, except where the embedded
derivative does not significantly modify the cash
flows or it is clear that separation of the embedded
derivative is prohibited.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Financial liabilities may be designated upon
initial recognition as at fair value through profit
or loss if the following criteria are met: (i) the
designation eliminates or significantly reduces
the inconsistent treatment that would otherwise
arise from measuring the liabilities or recognising
gains or losses on them on a different basis; (ii) the
liabilities are part of a group of financial liabilities
which are managed and their performance
evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance
with a documented risk management strategy; or
(iii) the financial liability contains an embedded
derivative that would need to be separately
recorded.

Subsequent to initial recognition, financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are
measured at fair value, with changes in fair
value recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they arise, except for the gains and losses
arising from the Group’s own credit risk which are
presented in other comprehensive income with
no subsequent reclassification to the statement
of profit or loss. The net fair value gain or loss
recognised in the statement of profit or loss does
not include any interest charged on these financial
liabilities.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities at amortised cost including
account and other payables are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest method. The related interest expense is
recognised in profit or loss.

Gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss
when the liabilities are derecognised as well as
through the amortisation process.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

81 F R R MY 5

(iv) Convertible bonds (iv)

ISP HOLDINGS LIMITED

Convertible bonds issued by the Group that
contain both the liability and conversion option
components are classified separately into their
respective items on initial recognition. Conversion
option that will be settled by the exchange of a
fixed amount of cash or another financial asset
for a fixed number of the Company’s own equity
instruments is classified as an equity instrument.

On initial recognition, the fair value of the liability
component is determined using the prevailing
market interest of similar non-convertible debts.
The difference between the proceeds of the
issue of the convertible bonds and the fair value
assigned to the liability component, representing
the conversion option for the holder to convert
the loan bonds into equity, is included in equity
reserve.

In subsequent periods, the liability component of
the convertible bonds is carried at amortised cost
using the effective interest method. The equity
component, represented by the option to convert
the liability component into ordinary shares of
the Company, will remain in equity component
of convertible bonds reserve until the embedded
option is exercised (in which case the balance
stated in equity component of convertible bonds
will be transferred to share capital and share
premium. Where the option remains unexercised
at the expiry dates, the balance stated in equity
component of convertible bonds reserve will be
released to the retained earnings. No gain or loss
is recognised upon conversion or expiration of the
option.

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the
convertible bonds are allocated to the liability and
equity components in proportion to the allocation
of the proceeds. Transaction costs relating to
the equity component are charged directly to
equity. Transaction costs relating to the liability
component are included in the carrying amount
of the liability portion and amortised over the
period of the convertible bonds using the effective
interest method.
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(v)

(vi)

AWERABRAR A

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset
or financial liability and of allocating interest
income or interest expense over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
or payments through the expected life of the
financial asset or liability, or where appropriate, a
shorter period.

Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset when
the contractual rights to the future cash flows
in relation to the financial asset expire or when
the financial asset has been transferred and the
transfer meets the criteria for derecognition in
accordance with HKFRS 9.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the
obligation specified in the relevant contract is
discharged, cancelled or expires.

Where the Group issues its own equity instruments
to a creditor to settle a financial liability in whole
or in part as a result of renegotiating the terms
of that liability, the equity instruments issued are
the consideration paid and are recognised initially
and measured at their fair value on the date the
financial liability or part thereof is extinguished.
If the fair value of the equity instruments
issued cannot be reliably measured, the equity
instruments are measured to reflect the fair
value of the financial liability extinguished. The
difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability or part thereof extinguished and
the consideration paid is recognised in profit or
loss for the year.

(v)

(vi)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
81 F R R MY 5

(g) Employee benefits

(®

(i)

(iii)

ISP HOLDINGS LIMITED

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave and long
service leave are recognised when they accrue
to employees. It is the Group’s policy to forfeit
any untaken annual leave with a specific time
period. Subject to regular assessment of staff
turnover rate, a provision will be made or reversed.
Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity
leave are not recognised until the time of leave. A
provision is made for the estimated liability up to
the end of reporting date.

Profit sharing and bonus plans

Provisions for profit sharing and bonus are made
for the estimated liability for incentive bonus as a
result of services rendered by employees up to the
end of reporting date, where there is a contractual
obligation or past practice that has created a
constructive obligation, and a reliable estimate of
the obligation can be made.

Retirement contribution benefit plans

The Group participates in mandatory provident
fund schemes in Hong Kong which are defined
contribution plan generally funded through
payments to trustee — administered funds. The
assets of the schemes is held separately from
those of the Group in independently administered
funds. Payments to defined contribution
retirement benefit plans are recognised as an
expense when employees have rendered service
entitling them to the contributions.
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(iv)

ARERABRRA A

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Pursuant to the relevant regulations of the
government in the People’s Republic of China
(“PRC”), the subsidiaries in PRC participates in
the municipal government contribution scheme
whereby the subsidiaries are required to contribute
to the scheme for the retirement benefit of eligible
employees. The municipal government of the PRC
is responsible for the entire benefit obligations
payable to the retired employees. The only
obligation of the Group with respect to the scheme
is to pay the ongoing contributions required by the
scheme. The Group’s contributions to the scheme
are expensed as incurred.

Retirement benefit cost

For defined benefit retirement benefit plans, the
cost of providing benefits is determined using
the projected unit credit method, with actuarial
valuations being carried out at the end of each
annual reporting period. In determining the
present value of the Group’s defined benefit
obligations and the related current service cost
and, where applicable, past service cost, the Group
attributes benefit to periods of service under the
plan’s benefit formula. However, if an employee’s
service in later years will lead to a materially
higher level of benefit than earlier years, the Group
attributes the benefit on a straight-line basis from:

(@) The date when service by the employee first
leads to benefits under the plan (whether or
not the benefits are conditional on further
service) until

(b) the date when further service by the
employee will lead to no material amount of
further benefits under the plan other than
from further salary increases.

(iv)

8 35 R MY &E

REEFEARKXMBE( F
BDBREzBERHRD  FE
A= PN R
T RO RE &) Btk - BB
REIARBEREERRZA
ArEI R R IRE AR -
BHEAR RN TRKE
BRMARAMALE  A&H
Lz BT BT AE 2 E— &
ERBREBEZAEREFENE
HEK o REE BT 8 2 1
BB A B ERI SIS o

RMKERNER

T TE B8 18 A R K48 K 5t &l
5 REEF 2 A TSR A
EHEMEREETE TR
BEFEEREPRETHREM
B REEAKEREREF
BERRE MEERE RS
PR 38 1 AR 75 B AR (0 3E
) B AERERE BIEF
DR 1R 5B R RS B
o AT - fWiE B RBERF
JE 7 AR 75 1% 18 BUAR K SE K
EERREFE  AAKH
BERAKENEBR

(@ EBEIRBEXREHER
srElEA /AR (ER
BAEENE— T RS
BIEHE)  BEE

(b) REMNE—FRBES
SEYGRE—TNFHLZ
SNEOET &I T B Al —
FERBNEEMA
HA o



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

81 F R R MY 5

(v)

ISP HOLDINGS LIMITED

Remeasurement, comprising actuarial gains and
losses, the effect of the changes to the asset
ceiling (if applicable) and the return on plan assets
(excluding interest), is reflected immediately in
the consolidated statement of financial position
with a charge or credit recognised in other
comprehensive income in the period in which
they occur. Remeasurement recognised in other
comprehensive income is reflected immediately
in retained earnings and will not be reclassified to
profit or loss.

Share option scheme

Where share options are awarded to employees
and others providing similar services, the fair value
of the services received is measured by reference
to the fair value of the options at the date of grant.
Such fair value is recognised in profit or loss over
the vesting period with a corresponding increase
in the share option reserve within equity. Non-
market vesting conditions are taken into account
by adjusting the number of equity instruments
expected to vest at the end of each reporting
period so that, ultimately, the cumulative amount
recognised over the vesting period is based on the
number of options that eventually vest. Market
vesting conditions are factored into the fair value
of the options granted. As long as all non-market
vesting conditions are satisfied, a charge is
made irrespective of whether the market vesting
conditions are satisfied. The cumulative expense is
not adjusted for failure to achieve a market vesting
condition.

Where the terms and conditions of options are
modified before they vest, the increase in the fair
value of the options, measured immediately before
and after the modification, is also recognised in
profit or loss over the remaining vesting period.
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(h)

AWERABRAR A

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Group also operates a phantom share option
scheme which is determined to be a cash-settled
share-based payment transaction with employees.
An option pricing model is used to measure the
Group’s liability at grant date and subsequently
at the end of each reporting period, taking into
account the terms and conditions on which
the bonus is awarded and the extent to which
employees have rendered service. Movements
in the liability (other than cash payments) are
recognised in profit or loss.

Foreign currency

Transactions entered into by the group entities in
currencies other than the currency of the primary
economic environment in which it/they operate(s) (the
“functional currency”) are recorded at the rates ruling
when the transactions occur. Foreign currency monetary
assets and liabilities are translated at the rates ruling at
the end of reporting period. Non-monetary items carried
at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies
are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date when
the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items
that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign
currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the translation of monetary
items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they arise. Exchange differences arising on the
retranslation of non-monetary items carried at fair
value are included in profit or loss for the period except
for differences arising on the retranslation of non-
monetary items in respect of which gains and losses are
recognised in other comprehensive income, in which
case, the exchange differences are also recognised in
other comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
81 F R R MY 5

(i)

ISP HOLDINGS LIMITED

On consolidation, income and expense items of foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency
of the Group at the average exchange rates for the year,
unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during the
period, in which case, the rates approximating to those
ruling when the transactions took place are used. All
assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated
at the rate ruling at the end of reporting period.
Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity
as exchange reserve. Exchange differences recognised
in profit or loss of group entities” separate financial
statements on the translation of long-term monetary
items forming part of the Group’s net investment in the
foreign operation concerned are reclassified to other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity as
exchange reserve.

On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative
exchange differences recognised in the exchange
reserve relating to that operation up to the date of
disposal are reclassified to profit or loss as part of the
profit or loss on disposal.

Impairment of assets (other than financial
assets)

At the end of each reporting period, the Group
reviews the carrying amounts of the following assets
to determine whether there is any indication that
those assets have suffered an impairment loss or an
impairment loss previously recognised no longer exists
or may have decreased:

property, plant and equipment; and
investments in subsidiaries

If the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to
be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount
of the asset is reduced to its recoverable amount.
An impairment loss is recognised as an expense
immediately, unless the relevant asset is carried at a
revalued amount under another HKFRSs, in which case
the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease
under that HKFRSs.
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ARERABRRA A

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount, to the extent that
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined had
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior
years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised as
income immediately, unless the relevant asset is carried
at a revalued amount under another HKFRSs, in which
case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a
revaluation increase under that HKFRSs.

Value in use is based on the estimated future cash
flows expected to be derived from the asset or cash
generating unit, discounted to their present value using
a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset or cash generating unit.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain
timing or amount when the Group has a legal or
constructive obligation arising as a result of a past event,
which it is probable will result in an outflow of economic
benefits that can be reliably estimated.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow
of economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations,
the existence of which will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future
events, are also disclosed as contingent liabilities
unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits is
remote.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
81 F R R MY 5

(k) Current and deferred income tax (k) EBHRARBIEFREH

ISP HOLDINGS LIMITED

The current income tax charge is calculated on the
basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted
at the end of reporting date in the countries where
the Group’s entities operate and generate taxable
income. Management periodically evaluates tax related
situations and establishes provisions where appropriate
on the basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax
authorities.

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability
method, on temporary differences arising between the
tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying
amounts in the consolidated financial statements.
However, deferred income tax is not accounted for if it
arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction other than a business combination that at
the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor
taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined
using tax rates and laws that have been enacted or
substantially enacted by the end of reporting date and
are expected to apply when the related deferred income
tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax liability
is settled.

Deferred income tax asset is recognised to the extent
that it is probable that future taxable profit will be
available against which the temporary differences can
be utilised.

Deferred income tax is provided on temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries
except where the timing of the reversal of the temporary
difference is controlled by the Group and it is probable
that the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.
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ARERABRRA A

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset
when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current
tax assets against current tax liabilities and when the
deferred income taxes assets and liabilities relate to
income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on
either the taxable entity or different taxable entities
where there is an intention to settle the balances on a
net basis.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss,
except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this
case, the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, respectively.

Lease
(i) The Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and
measurement approach for all leases, except
for short-term leases and leases of low-value
assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to
make lease payments and right-of-use assets
representing the right to use the underlying assets.

Right-of-use asset

The Group recognises right-of-use assets at the
commencement date of the lease (i.e. the date
which the underlying asset is available for use).
Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses,
and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease
liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes
the amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial
direct costs incurred, and lease payments made
at or before the commencement date less any
lease incentives received. The right-of-use assets
are also subject to impairment. The Right-of-use
assets are depreciated on straight-line basis over
the lease terms.
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ISP HOLDINGS LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
81 F R R MY 5

Lease liability

Lease liabilities are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease at the present
value of lease payments to be made over the lease
term. The lease payments include fixed payments
(including in-substance fixed payments) less
any lease incentives receivable, variable lease
payments that depend on an index or a rate, and
amounts expected to be paid under residual value
guarantees. The lease payments also include the
exercise price of a purchase option reasonably
certain to be exercised by the Group and payments
of penalties for termination of a lease, if the lease
term reflects the Group exercising the option to
terminate the lease. The variable lease payments
that do not depend on an index or a rate are
recognised as an expense in the period in which
the event or condition that triggers the payment
occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments,
the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate
at the lease commencement date because the
interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily
determinable. After the commencement date, the
amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect
the accretion of interest and reduced for the
lease payments made. In addition, the carrying
amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there
is a modification (i.e. a change in the lease term, a
change in lease payments (e.g. a change to future
lease payments resulting from a change in an
index or rate) or a change in the assessment of an
option to purchase the underlying asset).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term leases (i.e. those
leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less
from the commencement date and do not contain
a purchase option). It also applies the lease of
low-value assets recognition exemption to leases
of office equipment that are considered to be
low value. Lease payments on short-term leases
and leases of low-value assets are recognised as
expense on a straight-line basis over the lease
term.

(ii) The Group as a lessor

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever
the terms of the lease transfer substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership of the leased
assets to the lessee. All other leases are classified
as operating leases.

The Group has leased out its investment property
to a number of tenants. Rental income from
operating leases is recognised in profit or loss on
a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant
lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating
and arranging an operating lease are added to
the carrying amount of the leased asset and
recognised as an expense on the straight-line
basis over the lease term.

(m) Revenue and income recognition

Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable for the sale of goods and
services in the ordinary course of the Group’s activities.
Revenue is shown net of returns and discounts and after
eliminating sales within the Group.
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ISP HOLDINGS LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
81 F R R MY 5

Revenue are recognised when or as the control of
the services or goods is transferred to the purchaser.
Depending on the terms of the contract and the laws
that apply to the contract, control of the services or
goods may transfer over time or at a point in time.
Control of the services or goods is transferred over time
if the Group’s performance:

provides all the benefits received and consumed
simultaneously by the purchaser; or

creates or enhances an asset that the purchaser
controls as the Group performs; or

do not create an asset with an alternative use to
the Group and the Group has an enforceable right
to payment for performance completed to date.

If control of the services or goods transfers over time,
revenue is recognised over the period of the contract by
reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction
of that performance obligation. Otherwise, revenue
is recognised at a point in time when the purchaser
obtains control of the asset.

The progress towards complete satisfaction of the
performance obligation is measured based on output
method that best depict the Group’s performance
in satisfying the performance obligation. The output
method is made reference to the gross value of
contracting work to date as compared to the total
contract sum receivable under the contracts.

An entity is a principal if it controls the promised good or
service before transferring it to the customer. An entity
is an agent if its role is to arrange for another entity to
provide the good or service.

In determining the transaction price, the Group adjusts
the promised amount of consideration for the effect of a
financing component if it is significant.
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ARERABRRA A

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Provision of services of property and facility
management business

Property and facility management fees and other
supporting service fees are recognised when the
services are rendered and in accordance with the terms
of agreements. There are two types of agreement,
namely management remuneration contracts (“MR
Contracts”) and lump sum contracts (“LS Contracts”).
Under a MR Contract, the Group is remunerated based
on a fixed percentage of the costs involved in the
management of the property or facility, and only such
fee is recognised as the Group’s revenue. Under a
LS Contract, the Group is paid a lump sum fee which
normally covers the costs involved, thus the whole of
lump sum fee is recognised as the Group’s revenue. The
Group satisfies the performance obligation over time
for both MR Contracts and LS Contracts and therefore,
recognises revenue over time in accordance with input
method for measuring progress.

Provision of construction services in interiors and
special projects business

Under HKFRS 15, revenue from construction contracts
is recognised when or as the construction projects
are transferred to the customer. The control of the
construction projects transfer over time in accordance
with the terms of the contracts and the laws that are
applicable to the contracts. If construction projects
create or enhance an asset that the customer controls
as the asset is created or enhanced, the Group satisfies
the performance obligation over time and therefore,
recognises revenue over time in accordance with the
output method for measuring progress.

Where the outcome of a construction contract can be
estimated reliably, revenue and costs are recognised by
applying the stage-of-completion method of individual
contract using output method with reference to the
certificates issued by the customers, measured based
on the value of work performed to date to the contract
value. Variations in contract work, claims and incentive
payments are included to the extent that the amount
can be measured reliably and its receipt is considered
probable.
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ISP HOLDINGS LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
81 F R R MY 5

The excess of cumulative revenue recognised in
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income over the cumulative billings to
customers is recognised as contract assets. The excess
of cumulative billings to customers over the cumulative
revenue recognised in consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income is recognised
as contract liabilities.

Variable consideration

For the consideration promised in a contract includes
a variable amount, the Group estimates the amount
of consideration to which the Group will be entitled in
exchange for transferring the promised services to a
customer.

The Group estimates an amount of variable
consideration by using either the expected value method
or the most likely amount method, depending on which
method the Group expects to better predict the amount
of consideration to which it will be entitled.

The estimated amount of variable consideration is
included in the transaction price only to the extent that
it is highly probable that such an inclusion will not result
in a significant revenue reversal in the future when the
uncertainty associated with the variable consideration is
subsequently resolved.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group updates
the estimated transaction price (including updating
its assessment of whether an estimate of variable
consideration is constrained) to represent faithfully the
circumstances during the reporting period.

Sale of goods

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when
control of the goods has transferred, being when the
products are delivered to the customer. A receivable
is recognised when the goods are delivered as this is
the point in time that the consideration is unconditional
because only the passage of time is required before the
payment is due.
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ARERABRRA A

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Operating lease rental income

Operating lease rental income is recognised on a
straight-line basis over the term of the lease.

Interest income

Interest income is recognised on a time proportion
basis, taking into account the principal amounts or
refundable deposits outstanding and the effective
interest rates applicable.

Contract assets and liabilities

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to
consideration in exchange for services that the
Group has transferred to a customer that is not yet
unconditional. In contrast, a receivable represents the
Group’s unconditional right to consideration, i.e. only
the passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to
transfer services to a customer for which the Group has
received consideration (or an amount of consideration is
due) from the customer.

Contract asset is recognised when (i) the Group
completes the construction works under such services
contracts but yet certified by architects, surveyors or
other representatives appointed by customers, or (ii)
the customers retain retention money to secure the due
performance of the contracts. Any amount previously
recognised as a contract asset is reclassified to account
receivables at the point at which it is invoiced to the
customer. If the considerations (including advances
received from customers) exceeds the revenue
recognised to date under the output method then the
Group recognises a contract liability for the difference.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

81 F R R MY 5

(n) Related parties

(@) A person ora close member of that person’s family
is related to the Group if that person:

(i)  bhas control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of key management personnel
of the Group or the Company’s parent.

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions apply:

(i)  The entity and the Group are members of the
same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to
the others).

(i) One entity is an associate or joint venture
of the other entity (or an associate or joint
venture of a member of a group of which the
other entity is a member).

(iii) Both entities are joint ventures of the same
third party.

(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the
third entity.

(v)  The entity is a post-employment benefit plan
for the benefit of the employees of the Group
or an entity related to the Group.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled
by a person identified in (a).

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of
key management personnel of the entity (or
of a parent of the entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of
which it is a part, provides key management
personnel services to the group or to the
group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those
family members who may be expected to influence, or
be influenced by, that person in their dealings with the
entity and include:

(i)  that person’s children and spouse or domestic
partner;

(i) children of that person’s spouse or domestic
partner; and

(iii) dependents of that person or that person’s spouse
or domestic partner.

Government grant

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with
the conditions attaching to them and that the grants will
be received.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation
for wages and salaries already incurred or for the
purpose of giving immediate financial support to the
Group with no future related costs are recognised
in profit or loss in the period in which they become
receivable and are recognised as other income, rather
than reducing wages and salaries.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
81 F R R MY 5

()

(q)

(r)

ISP HOLDINGS LIMITED

Cash and cash equivalents

Bank balances and cash in the consolidated statement
of financial position comprise cash at banks and on hand
and short-term deposits with original maturity of three
months or less.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of
cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of bank
balances and cash as defined above.

Deposit with a maturity over three months that are
not readily convertible into known amounts of cash
are defined as deposit with a bank in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

Dividend distribution

Provision is made for the amount of any dividend
declared, being appropriately authorised and no longer
at the discretion of the entity, on or before the end of
the reporting period but not distributed at the end of the
reporting period.

Non-current assets held for sale and
discontinued operations

(i) Non-current assets (and disposal groups) are
classified as held for sale if their carrying amounts
will be recovered principally through a sale
transaction rather than through continuing use.
This condition is regarded as met only when the
asset (or disposal group) is available for immediate
sale in its present condition subject only to terms
that are usual and customary for sales of such
asset (or disposal group) and its sale is highly
probable. Management must be committed to
the sale, which should be expected to qualify for
recognition as a completed sale within one year
from the date of classification.
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(ii)

ARERABRRA A

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

When the Group is committed to a sale plan
involving loss of control of a subsidiary, all of
the assets and liabilities of that subsidiary are
classified as held for sale when the criteria
described above are met, regardless of whether
the Group will retain a non-controlling interest in
the relevant subsidiary after the sale.

Non-current assets (and disposal groups)
classified as held for sale are measured at the
lower of their previous carrying amount and fair
value less costs to sell.

Impairment losses on initial classification as held
for sale, and on subsequent re-measurement
while held for sale, are recognised in profit or loss.
As long as a non-current asset is classified as held
for sale, or is included in a disposal group that is
classified as held for sale, the non-current asset is
not depreciated or amortised.

Discontinued operations

A discontinued operation is a component of the
Group’s business, the operations and cash flows of
which can be clearly distinguished from the rest of
the Group and which represents a separate major
line of business or geographical area of operations,
or is a part of a single co-ordinated plan to
dispose of a separate major line of business or
geographical area of operations, or is a subsidiary
acquired exclusively with a view to resale.

Classification as a discontinued operation occurs
upon disposal or when the operation meets the
criteria to be classified as held for sale, if earlier. It
also occurs if the operation is abandoned.

Where an operation is classified as discontinued,
a single amount is presented on the face of the
statement of profit or loss, which comprises
the post-tax profit or loss of the discontinued
operation and post-tax gain or loss recognised on
the measurement to fair value less costs to sell,
or on the disposal, of the assets or disposal group
constituting the discontinued operation.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
81 F R R MY 5

ISP HOLDINGS LIMITED

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 5. HMERARER
5.1 Financial risk factors 5.1 MERARER
Categories of financial instruments SR T AR

2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BEET T
Financial assets EREE
Amortised cost BSER R 277,157 333,780
FVTPL BAFESAER 28,653 -
Financial liabilities =K
Amortised cost BB 223,811 268,761
Financial risk management objectives and policies BEEREE B ERBER

The Group’s financial instruments include trade
receivables, financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss, other receivables, deposits, bank balances, trade
payables, other payables and lease liabilities. Details
of the financial instruments are disclosed in respective
notes. The risks associated with these financial
instruments include credit risk, market risks (currency
risk and interest rate risk) and liquidity risk. The policies
on how to mitigate these risks are set out below. The
management manages and monitors these exposures
to ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a
timely and effective manner.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(@) Marketrisk

®

ARERABRRA A

Foreign currency exchange risk

The Group mainly operated in Hong Kong
with most of the transactions settled in
functional currency Hong Kong dollar
(“HK$”) while most of the Group’s
operations are transacted in the functional
currency of the respective group entities,
the Group undertakes certain transactions
denominated in foreign currencies. At
the end of the reporting period, certain
bank balances, trade receivables, other
receivables, trade payables and other
payables of the Group are denominated in
foreign currencies. The Group manages its
foreign currency risk by performing regular
reviews of the Group’s net foreign exchange
exposure.

At the end of the Reporting Year, the carrying
amounts of the Group’s major monetary
assets and monetary liabilities denominated
in currency other than the functional
currency of the relevant group entities are as
follows:
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2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Assets BE
Renminbi (“RMB”) ARE(TAR%]D 24,123 26,927
Liabilities =Kt
RMB AR 2,836 3,514




ISP HOLDINGS LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
81 F R R MY 5

Sensitivity analysis

The following table details the Group’s
sensitivity to a 5% increase or decrease in
HK$ against the RMB for the years ended
31 December 2022 and 2021. 5% (2021:
5%) is the sensitivity rate used when
reporting foreign currency risk internally to
key management personnel and represents
management’s assessment of the reasonably
possible change in foreign exchange rates.
The sensitivity analysis includes only
outstanding foreign currency denominated
monetary items, and adjusts their translation
at the end of the reporting period for a 5%
(2021: 5%) change in foreign currency rates.

A positive number below indicates an
increase in post-tax profit where the
respective functional currencies of the
reporting entity strengthening 5% (2021:
5%) against the relevant foreign currencies.
For a 5% (2021: 5%) weakening of the
respective functional currencies against the
relevant foreign currencies, there would be
an equal and opposite impact on the profit,
and the balances below would be negative.

Profit or loss B
RMB AREE

TRFAINAEBREZE
2022F 2021412
A31BIEFEH B
Hipa A\REAENEE
5% K 8 X [E 5%
(20214 : 5%) &A1 *
TEIE A B A EERIN
W 2\ B B T R 2 SRR
bR REREEE I
[EERSIEAEEE) 2
il - MREDTEER
FEAINEFHE 2 R EE
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RIE5% (20214 : 5%)
HNEE [ B o
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(ij) Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest
rate risk in relation to fixed-rate lease
liabilities. The Group is also exposed to cash
flow interest rate risk in relation to variable-
rate pledged bank deposits and bank
balances. The Group’s cash flow interest rate
risk is mainly concentrated on the fluctuation
of interest rates on pledged bank deposits
and bank balances.

The directors of the Company consider that
the overall interest rate risk is not significant
as the fluctuation of the interest rates on
pledged bank deposits and bank balances is
minimal. Accordingly, no sensitivity analysis
is prepared and presented.

Credit risk

The Group has no significant concentration of
customer credit risk, with exposure spread over a
number of debtors. The Group’s credit risk mainly
arises from deposits, cash and bank balances,
contract assets and receivables. Current policies
ensure that sales and services are made to
customers with an appropriate credit history and
subject to periodic credit evaluations. Collection of
outstanding receivables is closely monitored on an
ongoing basis.

The Group’s concentration of customer credit risk
by geographical locations is mainly in Hong Kong
which accounted for 97% (2021: 95%) of the total
trade receivables as at 31 December 2022.

As at 31 December 2022, a provision of
approximately HK$5,623,000 (2021:
HK$5,856,000) and HK$649,000 (2021:
HK$973,000) against receivables and contract
assets respectively based on the impairment
assessment.

(b)
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In order to minimise the credit risk, the directors of
the Company are responsible for determination of
credit limits, credit approvals and other monitoring
procedures to ensure that follow-up action is taken
to recover overdue debts. Certain customers have
exceeded their respective credit terms during the
reporting. However, management does not expect
any significant losses from non-performance by
these counterparties because of their satisfactory
repayment history.

Starting from 1 January 2019, for trade
receivables, retention receivables and contract
assets, the Group has applied the simplified
approach in HKFRS 9 to measure the loss
allowance at lifetime ECL. The Group determines
the ECL collectively by using a provision matrix,
estimated based on historical credit loss
experience, as well as the general economic
conditions of the industry in which the debtors
operate. In this regard, the directors of the
Company consider that the Group’s credit risk is
significantly reduced.

For other non-trade related receivables, the Group
has assessed whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition. If
there has been a significant increase in credit risk,
the Group will measure the loss allowance based
on lifetime rather than 12-month ECL.

The credit risk associated with deposits and
cash and bank balances is limited because the
counterparties are bank with high credit rating.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Group considers the probability of default
upon initial recognition of asset and whether
there has been a significant increase in credit
risk on an ongoing basis throughout the reporting
period. To assess whether there is a significant
increase in credit risk the Group compares the
risk of a default occurring on the asset as at the
reporting date with the risk of default as at the
date of initial recognition. It considers available
reasonable and supportive forwarding-looking
information. Especially the following indicators are
incorporated:

— internal and external credit rating

— actual or expected significant adverse
changes in business, financial or economic
conditions that are expected to cause a
significant change to the borrower’s ability to
meet its obligations

— actual or expected significant changes in the
operating results of the borrower

— significant changes in the expected
performance and behaviour of the borrower,
including changes in the payment status of
borrowers in the Group and changes in the
operating results of the borrower
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The Group’s exposure to credit risk ANEEZ ZEE R
The tables below detail the credit quality of the Ti‘%%’it$ SEzERMEE
Group’s financial assets and contract assets as REHNEENEEEEZEUAN
well as the Group’s maximum exposure to credit AEEFAEBGH RN EER
risk. % o
Gross carrying Accumulated Net carrying
31 December 2022 Notes 12-month or lifetime ECL amount Loss allowance amount
2022412 A31H Wi 12@A%zHRBEEER RHAE Rt ERER REFE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BETT BETT BETT
Account receivables (@)  Lifetime ECL (Simplified approach) 40,454 (2,422) 38,032
FENCR L 2 HREBEEEE (RE)
Retention receivables (b)  Lifetime ECL (Simplified approach) 56,548 (220) 56,328
FENIRE € > HREBEEEE (RE)
Cash and 12-month ECL
cash equivalents 153,427 - 153,427
RelkReSE REAEREEEE
Pledged bank deposits 12-month ECL 19,524 = 19,524
BEARITER REREREEEE
Other receivables (©)  12-month ECL 11,460 (2,981) 8,479
Hh A REREREEEE
281,413 (5,623) 275,790
Contract assets (d)  Lifetime ECL (Simplified approach) 116,548 (649) 115,899
BHEE PHERBEEEE (BhE)
Deposits (c)  12-month ECL 1,367 - 1,367
g 12 EAEBEEEE
Gross carrying Accumulated Net carrying
31 December 2021 Notes 12-month or lifetime ECL amount Loss allowance amount
2021412A31H W 12@A%ZHBRHEEER REEE R B RAE REFE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT BB
Account receivables (@)  Lifetime ECL (Simplified approach) 142,478 (2,746) 139,732
FENCR L > HEBEEEE (RE)
Retention receivables (b)  Lifetime ECL (Simplified approach) 68,334 (196) 68,138
FENRE € > HEBEEEE (FRE)
Cash and 12-month ECL
cash equivalents 82,661 - 82,661
RekReSE REREREEEE
Other receivables (©)  12-month ECL 37,144 (2,914) 34,230
Hh A REREREEEE
330,617 (5,856) 324,761
Contract assets (d)  Lifetime ECL (Simplified approach) 140,932 (973) 139,959
BHEE PHERBEEEE (BRhE)
Deposits (c)  12-month ECL 9,019 - 9,019
g 12{AAEBEEEE
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Notes: FiaE -

(a) For account receivables, the Group has applied the () BHEMERNE  ASEEA
simplified approach to measure the loss allowance at e AT 22 HEAEERS
lifetime ECL. The Group determines the expected credit BEATHEERE - A5E
losses by using a provision matrix, grouped based on ERREEEETEEAEES
share credit risk characteristics and the days past due. B REXREERBREER

MEBEEITHME -
The loss allowances for account receivables as at 31 2022 F &2021F12 A31
December 2022 and 2021 were determined as follows: A EUEEROEBREEETE

T

Not 1to 31to 61to 91to  Over180

31 December 2022 2022512 A31H yet due 30days 60 days 90days  180days days
MAGH 1Z30H 31Z60H 61Z90H 91Z180H 180HML

Gross carrying amount FEAEGEETT)

(HK$'000) 9,465 1,577 = 516 3,668 25,228 40,454
Less: Individually assessed 5t : fE5IFHE (E%Fr)
(HK$'000) = = = = = (833) (833)

Carrying amount under *RAFETZEEE
collective measurement (B TT)

(HK$'000) 9,465 1,577 - 516 3,668 24,395 39,621
Expected credit loss rate (%) FEHIEEEER (%) - 0.50% 1.00% 1.50% 3.00% 6.00%
ECL allowance for collectively £F;t8 7 EHEE
measurement (HK$'000)  B5EEHE (B%TT) - 8 - 8 110 1,463 1,589
Individually assessed loss  {EIBIFF{E s 1B e
allowance (HK$'000) (B¥F) - - - - - 833 833
Total loss allowance BRAREE(EETT)
(HK$'000) = 8 = 8 110 2,296 2,422
Not yet 1to 31to 61to 91to  Over180
31 December 2021 2021F12 /4318 due 30 days 60 days 90days 180 days days Total
HASHE 12308 31Z60H 61R90H 91E180H 180RML &t
Gross carrying amount EHLE(EETT)
(HK$'000) 74,940 25,233 7,904 4,327 3,704 26,370 142,478
Less: Individually assessed i * {EBIFE(E (B Fir)
(HK$'000) - - - - - (833) (833)

Carrying amount under ERNETZEEE

collective measurement (BEFr)

(HK$'000) 74,940 25,233 7,904 4,327 3,704 25,537 141,645
Expected credit loss rate (%) EHEEHEE %) - 0.50% 1.00% 1.50% 3.00% 6.00%
ECL allowance for collectively £[FztE 2 BHEE

measurement (HK$'000)  &5ERH (BT L) - 126 79 65 111 1,532 1,913
Individually assessed loss ~ fERIFHE BB E

allowance (HK$'000) (BT ) - - - - - 833 833
Total loss allowance BRARERE(EETT)

(HK$'000) - 126 79 65 111 2,365 2,746

L= e A= T P P T P PP P PP PP PP P PP PPPUPPIIPPPPIRPPPP :;ﬁ::ifﬁiﬁ
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(b) For retention receivables, the Group has applied the
simplified approach permitted by HKFRS 9 to measure
the allowance for credit losses at lifetime ECL. The
retention receivables is assessed for ECL by using the
provision matrix. Other than impairment on individual
assessment of HK$220,000 (2021: HK$196,000) of
retention receivables, the directors of the Company
consider that the allowance for ECL for the year ended 31
December 2022 and 2021 on retention receivables are
insignificant to the Group by using the provision matrix.

(c) For other receivables and deposits, the Group has
assessed these balances using 12-month ECL basis as
there was no significant increase in credit risk for these
balances since initial recognition. Other than impairment
on individual assessment of HK$2,981,000 (2021:
HK$2,914,000) of other receivables, the directors of the
Company consider that the allowance for ECL for the year
ended 31 December 2021 and 2022 on other receivables
and deposits are insignificant to the Group.

(d) For contract assets, the Group has applied the simplified
approach permitted by HKFRS 9 to measure the
allowance for credit losses at lifetime ECL. The contract
assets are assessed for ECL by using the provision matrix.
The allowance for ECL on contract assets of HK$649,000
(2021: HK$973,000) is recognised as at 31 December
2022.

(c) Liquidity risk (c)

The Group adopts prudent liquidity risk
management which includes maintaining
sufficient bank balances and cash, and having
available funding through an adequate amount of
committed credit facilities.

Since the year end, there have been no changes

in the risk management department or in any risk
management policies.

ISP HOLDINGS LIMITED .....................................................................................
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NOTES TO

Financial risk factors

Liquidity risk (in HK$’000)

THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
8 35 R MY &E

53 L B R 3=
nBETRER(EETIT)

Total
contractual
Less than Between Between undiscounted Carrying
At 31 December 2022 R20224612 A31H lyear land2years 2and5 years cash flow amount
T NF ARREN
—E@F MELFE RERSLH REE
Continuing Operations BFRCEER
Lease liabilities HEaE 1,072 59 - 1,131 1,112
Payables and accruals FER RS R e & 171,394 4,650 46,656 222,699 222,699
Total mE 172,466 4,709 46,656 223,830 223,811
Total
contractual
Less than Between Between undiscounted Carrying
At 31 December 2021 20214612 A31H lyear land2years 2and 5 years cash flow amount
N NF  KREH
PR—F —ERF MELF HERBRE REE
Continuing Operations BFECEER
Lease liabilities HEGE 1,984 849 22 2,855 2,755
Amount due to the R HEEBHE
Disposal Group 333 - - 333 333
Payables and accruals FER R R e & 210,137 17,500 38,036 265,673 265,673
Total mEt 212,454 18,349 38,058 268,861 268,761

5.2 Capital risk management

5.2 BXRMBEIR

ARERABRRA A

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximising the return to shareholders through
the optimisation of the debt and equity balances. The
Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from prior
year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net of
bank balances and cash disclosed in note 22, and equity
attributable to owners of the Company, comprising
issued share capital and reserves.

The directors of the Company review the capital
structure periodically. As part of the review, the directors
of the Company consider the cost of capital and the
risks associated with each class of capital. Based on the
recommendations of the directors of the Company, the
Group will balance its overall capital structure through
the payment of dividends, new share issues, issue of
new debts or the redemption of existing debt.
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5.3 Fair value estimation

Other than those as disclosed in note 21, the carrying
amounts of the Group’s current assets and liabilities
approximate their fair values due to their short term
maturities as at 31 December 2021 and 2022.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, the
directors are required to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
The estimates and associated assumptions are based on
historical experience and other factors that are considered to
be relevant. Actual results differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period or in the period of the revision
and future periods if the revision affects both current and
future periods.

(a) Useful lives of property, plant and equipment

Management determines the estimated useful lives and
related depreciation and amortisation charges for its
property, plant and equipment. Such estimate is based
on the historical experience of the actual useful lives
of property, plant and equipment of similar nature and
functions.

(b) Impairment of receivables, deposits and
contract assets

Management determines the specific provision for
impairment of receivables, deposits and contract
assets based on assessment of the recoverability of
the balances. The assessment is based on the specific
recoverability assessment on individual counterparties
with reference to ageing profile, historical payment
pattern, the past record of default, forward-looking
factors and assessment of their financial position.
The specific recoverability assessment, credit risks
of counterparty, the estimated timing and amount of
future cash flows requires the use of judgements and
estimates. Management would make specific provision
against individual balances with reference to the
estimated recoverable amount.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Group has set out policies to ensure follow-up
action is taken to recover overdue receivables and
deposits. As at 31 December 2022, the Group has
made impairment provision of receivables and contract
assets approximately HK$5,623,000 and HK$649,000
respectively. The Group has been negotiating with
the counterparties for the payment of settlement. The
determination of the provision involved significant
management estimation.

Construction contracts

The Group recognises the revenue from design, supply
and installation service over time based on output
method by directly measuring the value of construction
work transferred to the customer to date relative to the
remaining construction works promised to be completed
under the construction contract. Most construction
works take 1 to 3 years to complete and the scope of
work may change during the construction period. The
Group reviews and revises the estimates of contract
revenue, contract costs, variation orders as well as the
financial impact of claims, disputes and liquidation
damages prepared for each construction contract as
the contract progresses. The management’s estimate
of revenue and the completion status of construction
works requires significant judgement and has a
significant impact on the amount and timing of revenue
recognised. The construction works performed by the
Group would be certified by the quantity surveyors of the
customers or payment applications from the in-house
surveyors periodically according to the construction
contracts. The Group regularly reviews and revises
the estimation of contract revenue prepared for each
construction contract as the contract progresses based
on the construction progress and the certification issued
by the customers.

(c)
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(d)

ISP HOLDINGS LIMITED

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had certain
claims over its contract assets and receivables in
respect of disputes or prolonged negotiation between
the Group and the employers in certain building
construction contracts. The Group is closely monitoring
the development of these contracts and has been
negotiating with the employer. The directors of the
Company are of the view that the carrying value of
the balances as at 31 December 2022 would be fully
recoverable. The determination of the recoverability
involved significant management estimation.

Income tax

The Group is subject to income taxes in Hong Kong,
Macau and the PRC. Significant judgement is required
in determining the provision for PRC income taxes.
There are a number of transactions and calculations for
which ultimate tax determination is uncertain during
the ordinary course of business. The Group recognises
liabilities for potential tax exposures based on estimates
of whether additional taxes will be due. Where the
final tax outcome of these matters is different from the
amounts that were initially recorded, such differences
will affect the income tax and deferred tax provision in
the period in which such determination is made.

(d)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(e) Fair value measurement

A number of assets and liabilities included in the Group’s
consolidated financial statements require measurement
at, and/or disclosure of, fair value.

The fair value measurement of the Group’s financial
and non-financial assets and liabilities utilises
market observable inputs and data as far as possible.
Inputs used in determining fair value measurements
are categorised into different levels based on how
observable the inputs used in the valuation technique
utilised are (the ‘fair value hierarchy’):

Level1: Quoted prices in active markets for
identical items (unadjusted);

Level 2: Observable direct or indirect inputs
other than Level 1 inputs;

Level 3:  Unobservable inputs (i.e. not derived

from market data).

The classification of an item into the above levels is
based on the lowest level of the inputs used that has a
significant effect on the fair value measurement of the
item. Transfers of items between levels are recognised
in the period they occur.

The Group measures the below item at fair value:

Financial assets at FVTPL

For more detailed information in relation to the fair value
measurement of the item above, please refer to note 21.

(e)
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SEGMENT INFORMATION

In accordance with the Group’s internal financial reporting
provided to the chief operating decision-makers, identified
as the Executive Committee of the Company, who are
responsible for allocating resources, assessing performance
of the operating segments and making strategic decisions, the
reportable operating segments and their results are as below:

interiors and special projects business (“ISP Business”);
and

property and facility management business in China
(“PFM China Business”).

Two Operating businesses regarding the ancillary business
including integrated procurement, laundry, cleaning,
security, maintenance and technical support services
(“Ancillary Business”) and property and facility management
business in Hong Kong (“PFM HK Business”) (collectively,
the “Disposal Group”) were discontinued during the year
ended 31 December 2021 and disposed in the Reporting
Year. During the Reporting Year, the Group reorganised its
internal reporting structure which resulted in changes to
the composition of its reportable segments. The segment
information reported below does not include any amounts for
these Discontinued Operations, which are described in more
detail in note 13A.

Segment assets and liabilities of the Group are not reported
to the Group’s chief operating decision makers regularly.
As a result, reportable assets and liabilities have not been
presented in these consolidated financial statements.
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RELERUEXTBNEASE LT
BN 13AR AR FH A H -

AEENDBEERABLEEHRAA
SEZTRLERREZ2H - At - A
TERZEERABEYRRUEFHFER
BRERAZ5 -
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(a) Segment Results (in HK$'000) (a) PEPEE(BEETT)

Continuing Operations

ARERABRRA A

Corporate
ISP PFM China Overhead
Business Business Subtotal (Note)
ZEREHR TENER THER
RHRERXE REEEXE Nt (HzE)
2022 2022%F
Revenue igs
— Qver time - —BkE 217,685 7,238 224,923 - 224,923
217,685 7,238 224,923 - 224,923
Gross profit ES 18,082 4,578 22,660 = 22,660
Gross profit margin EfE 8.3% 63.2% 10.1% - 10.1%
Operating expenses BER% (14,881) (4,735) (19,616) (6,072) (25,688)
Operating profit/(loss) "eEAN/ (BB 3,201 (157) 3,044 (6,072) (3,028)
Operating profit/(loss) BEER(EB) %
margin 1.5% -2.2% 1.4% - -1.3%
Direct cost in relation BENESER
to the Disposal BEKA - = = (5,650) (5,650)
Interest expenses forlease ~ EFNEEX (49) (38) 87 = (87
Other income At A 2,814 822 3,636 3,593 7,229
Profit/(loss) before taxation  BFiATER/ (E58) 5,966 627 6,593 (8,129) (1,536)
Taxation B (164) - (164) - (164)
Profit/(loss) for the year ERERl/ (B8 5,802 627 6,429 (8,129) (1,700)

Note:

activities, and shared services.

Corporate overhead mainly represents corporate and administrative

M : TREREIERDAIRITBUEE » M

RIZ RS -
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Continuing Operations

BECEEN
Corporate
ISP PFM China Overhead
Business Business Subtotal (Note) Total
ERRMRE REE R THER
BREBEE  REERER NGt (BitE) @t
2021 (Restated) 20215 (K E5)
Revenue Yz
— Overtime - —BREfH 418,875 11,776 430,651 - 430,651
418,875 11,776 430,651 - 430,651
Gross profit 7 8,849 8,647 17,496 - 17,496
Gross profit margin EfE 21% 73.4% 41% - 4.1%
Operating expenses BEmX (10,761) (8,703) (19,464) (9,191) (28,655)
Loss on early redemption of 2 ATEE Al AR EHH
convertible bond ER (2,005) - (2,005) - (2,005)
Interest expenses FMERAY (2,658) - (2,658) - (2,658)
Operating loss LeEEE (6,575) (56) (6,631) (9,191) (15,822)
Operating loss margin BEERE -1.6% -0.5% -1.5% - -3.7%
Direct cost inrelation tothe BB EHEH
disposal HERK - - - (6,337) (6,337)
Interest expenses for lease  FAEF B5% (69) (151) (220) - (220)
Otherincome EtbA 3,200 (105) 3,095 5177 8,272
Loss before taxation BRATER (3,444) (312) (3,756) (10,351) (14,107)
Taxation e (1,339) - (1,339) - (1,339)
Loss for the year FRER (4,783) (312) (5,095) (10,351) (15,446)

Note: Corporate overhead mainly represents corporate and administrative
activities, and shared services.

Information about major customers

Details of the customers contributing over 10% of total
revenue of the Group are as follows:

M : TRERIEARRRTEEY  URKAE

PR ©

IREFNER

EAREEREEEBL0% NEPHFE

FIEAT

Continued Operations

HEREEK
2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT T
Customer A® BE A 54,091 -
Customer B? ZF B! 46,703 -
Customer Ct ®pEC 34,533 -
Customer D? BPEDL 25,060 -
Customer E? EPE! 24,163 157,255
184,550 157,255
Note: B E
1 All of the above revenue were derived from ISP Business. 1. AT WEm IRk B ER AN R IR IE B E5 o

ISP HOLDINGS LIMITED
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(b) Geographical analysis

The Group’s operations are located in Hong Kong,
Macau and the PRC. The PRC includes Mainland China
but excludes Hong Kong and Macau.

The Group’s revenue and information about its non-
current assets by geographical location (excluding

8 35 R MY &E

(b) MELSH

AEBHNEBUREL  BRPI RS
c PEBETEAN BB
BB NIRFT o

AR B R 8 2 Wk K IE R B
BEEM (TEREEHAEE)F

deferred tax assets) are detailed below: MEAT
Revenue Y=
Continuing Operations
BHEREEK
2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BEET T
Hong Kong and Macau B KR 217,685 418,875
PRC m 7,238 11,776
224,923 430,651
Non-current assets ERBEE

Continuing Operations

BEREEE
2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$’000
BET T BT T
Hong Kong and Macau B KR 1,732 3,706
PRC =8 204 333
1,936 4,039
e I S N T TS —— —T - = EER
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8. OTHER INCOME AND GAIN OR LOSS 8. HAFiEE
2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BEET T
Continuing Operations FEREER
Government subsidies (Note) B HERE (5 2,128 -
Miscellaneous income E g A 684 3,174
Bank interest income RITFIBUA 3,374 146
Gain on disposal of property, HEME - WS R HE 2 W
plant and equipment 10 -
Corporate service support for the HEEENITEIRS &
Disposal Group - 5,177
Dividend derived from financial REZAFEFTAETZZ
assets at FVTPL TREEMRE 1,335 -
Fair value change on financial BAFEFABEIEREEDN
assets at FVTPL NEEEZES (1,018) -
Exchange gain/(loss) bE 5 Wz (B518) 716 (225)
7,229 8,272
Note: Predominantly comprised of subsidies from the Employment Support MisE © EEZREREEBERITEHEBRAPENE
Scheme (“ESS”) under the Anti-epidemic Fund of the Hong Kong HEETHRMETE((RIEETE )
Government, which aim to retain employment and combat COVID-19. A - xRk B R SLEE IR A o
9. INTEREST EXPENSES 9. FIRHE=
2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT
Continuing Operations BEREEK
Interest expenses on bank loans RITEFRAF BT - 616
Interest expenses on lease liabilities HEBBENAEMX 87 220
Interest expenses on convertible bonds AJ #i% &4 K 5 5 X = 2,042

87 2,878

ISP HOLDINGS LIMITED ..................................................................................... 2022 ANNUAL REPORT
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10. LOSS BEFORE TAXATION

8 35 R MY &E

10. fR¥AIASER

Continuing Operations

Loss before taxation is arrived after
charging:
Staff costs, including directors’
emoluments (Note 11)
Depreciation of property,
plant and equipment
Depreciation of right-of-use assets
Auditor’s remuneration
— Audit
— Non-audit
Short-term lease expenses

2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$’000
BET T BT T
BELEEE
BRI A EIEE R T &1E
BIRA(BIEESEHS)
(FFsE11) 52,371 52,238
YE - MR REEITE
713 721
FREEENE 2,302 3,639
IR
— FiZ 1,000 2,350
— T 150 148
HHEEMRY 31 310

11. STAFF COSTS, INCLUDING DIRECTORS’

11. ETHX(BEESHE)

EMOLUMENTS
2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BEET I
Continuing Operations FEREEYR
Wages and salaries TERY®
— included in cost of sales — FTAHERKA 37,020 40,809
—included in general and —FPA—RRITBAX
administrative expenses 15,004 11,208
Pension — defined contribution scheme Rk& — FE ke =]
—included in cost of sales — ETASHEKA = 14
—included in general and — AR RITHFX
administrative expenses 347 207
52,371 52,238

L= e A= T P P T P PP P PP PP PP P PP PPPUPPIIPPPPIRPPPP :;ﬁ::ifﬁiﬁ
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12. BENEFITS AND INTEREST OF DIRECTORS 12. EEEFIRER
(a) Directors’ Emoluments (in HK$°000) (a) ESME(BETT)
The remuneration of every director is set out below: BERZHMETIAT -
For the year ended 31 December 2022 BZE2022F12 A31BLLFE
Employer’s
contribution
Salaries, toa
allowances retirement
and benefit
Name of Directors EEHA bonuses* scheme*
EBEHRIK
E22c = 1 BRI E
RIEA* 2 *
Executive Directors HITES
Kingston, Chu Chun Ho NG 150 1,200 60 1,410
Independent BIUFHTES
Non-executive
Directors
Lau Man Tak 2= 240 - - 240
Eric, Lee Hon Man THHX 240 - - 240
To Chun Wai? TiRfE? 240 - - 240

Non-executive Director ~ F#{TES

Lam Chun Kit? N 523 - - 523
1,393 1,200 60 2,653
* Except for the independent non-executive directors, the amounts * MRIBIEMITE SN  ZE SRR
represented emoluments in respect of services provided in REBEEEARRRIRENB AR
connection with the management of the affairs of the Company ETZEB 2 RGBEZ B S -

or its subsidiaries undertaking.

1 Appointed as a Non-executive Director with effect from 16 i 202262 A 16 B REZERIEH
February 2022. 1TESE -

ISP HOLDINGS LIMITED ..................................................................................... 2022 ANNUAL REPORT
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HZE2021F12A831HILEE
Employer’s
contribution
Salaries, toa
allowances  retirement
and benefit
Name of Directors EEHA Fees bonuses* scheme* Total
B EEHIRIK
e o RBEL EAETE
e RIEAL* 2R #Et
Executive Directors HITES
Kingston Chu Chun Ho k1% 150 1,200 60 1,410
Mandy Hui Suk Man? B -E 150 2,718 88 2,956
Independent BYkHITES
Non-executive
Directors
Lau Man Tak Bt 240 - - 240
Eric Lee Hon Man ZTEH 240 - - 240
To Chun Wai? MiRES? 201 - - 201
981 3,918 148 5,047
* Except for the independent non-executive directors, the amounts * BIB T IERITE SN - ZESEIER
represented emoluments in respect of services provided in REHEEETEAARRNEWB AR
connection with the management of the affairs of the Company HIT 2 B2 RIGUWERZ BN & ©

or its subsidiaries undertaking.

2 Resigned as an Executive Director with effect from 9 January 2 20226 1 A9 HEBHERNTES -
2022.

g Appointed as an Independent Non-executive Director with effect 3 H2021F3 A1 HREZEABLIE
from 1 March 2021. HITES -

L= e A= T P P T P PP P PP PP PP P PP PPPUPPIIPPPPIRPPPP :;ﬁ::ifﬁi&
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(b)

Interest of Directors

() During the year, no retirement benefits, payments @)
or benefits in respect of termination of directors’
services were paid or made, directly or indirectly,
to the directors; nor are any payable (2021: Nil).
No consideration was provided to or receivable
by third parties for making available directors’
services (2021: Nil).

(i)  There are no loans, quasi-loans or other dealings (i)
in favour of directors, their controlled bodies
corporate and connected entities (2021: Nil).

(iii) No significant transactions, arrangements and (iii)
contracts in relation to the Company’s business
to which the Company was a party and in which a
director of the Company had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end
of the year or at any time during the year (2021:

Nib).

(c) Five highest paid individuals

During the year, the five individuals whose emoluments
were the highest in the Group include one director (2021
two) whose emoluments are included in note 12(a). The
emoluments payable to the other four (2021: three)
highest paid individuals during the year are as follows:

(c)

(b) ESH#Em

REA TEAEFHEN
3% S A SR AR IR AR A
BRARLEEERBZARHK
BA - IREAE AR U A
IR (20214 : &) - WEH
ESEERBMBBRE=
TR R 2 (B (2021 F :
&) -

B K - EE K H A
EE HECEEERLE
LEAEERATHAZRSD
(20214 : ££) »

RAFRERIRAFE M
Y EFEARRARILZ
BRAARBEB 2EAR
5 REHREH  MART
ExERREAERETESR
BAEZR (20214 : &) -

hfikESHAL

RER  REBRMUZSHFALE
F—H(2021F MEB)EF ' &
ECMEEEHRMFE12() o NF
A R TEMIEOE (2021F : =

FIRBHFALZMESFHBWT

2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BEET T
Salaries, allowances and benefits e EHREYAR
in kind 4,051 4,950
Pension — defined contribution BRE — RESNREE
scheme 62 134
4,113 5,084

ISP HOLDINGS LIMITED
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The emoluments of the above individuals fell within the
following band:

8 35 R MY &E

B ALHBEN FATHRE :

Number of individuals

A
Emolument band [l e M
Nil to HK$1,000,000 T2 % 1,000,000 7T 3 -
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 71 000,001 TTE
711,500,000 7T - 1
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 71,500,001 T &
7 2,000,000 7T 1 2
3

During the year, no emoluments were paid by the
Group to any of the five highest paid individuals as
an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office.

RER > NREE Y EREA AR
B ALTXMEAME - ERRE
A IARE BB & S AER
BEmfm(E -

13A. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS AND DISPOSAL 13A.ERIE¥BRHEHWEAT

OF SUBSIDIARIES

Pursuant to the circular of the Company dated 1 December
2021, the seller, being the Company, and purchaser, an
independent third party, entered into the sale and purchase
agreement on 26 November 2021, pursuant to which to
the seller conditionally agreed to sell, and the purchaser
conditionally agreed to acquire, the share capital, representing
100% of the equity interest in the Disposal Group, which in
turns hold the equity interests of the Disposal Group, at a cash
consideration of HK$539.0 million. The Disposal Group is
principally engaged in the provision of PFM HK Business and
Ancillary Business. On 10 January 2022, the transaction was
completed and the members of the Disposal Group ceased to
be subsidiaries of the Company.

Two operations discontinued along with the completion of
disposal of the Disposal Group as set out below:

(i)  PFM HK Business; and

(i) Ancillary Business including integrate procurement,
laundry, cleaning, security, maintenance and technical
support services.

The respective profit for the period from 1 January 2022 to 10
January 2022 and the year ended 31 December 2021 from
the Disposal Group is set out below.

] 72 e 720 2] /3% ] oo o G e OO OO

BEAANRBEA2021F12A18 2
K R2021F 118268 - &/ (A
AABNEE R BN E=7)FILEEH
HOBY BAEKGERELE KE
FEEEREWRERA(MGHEEEE
100% B%#E) M EEBEAFEHES
BErzHRE BaREABK
539,000,000 T ° HEEEEXEHEIR
HEBYMERREEIRETR - 2022 4F
1A10H REERK ' MEEEREZ
MERRTBARRARZHIBAR -

SR E R ERER T XAEMMRIER
BEEILEE

(i) BEVEMRBEEERS: &
(i) WHXEH  BEEE AKX B
BRI MEE MBI SR RTS ©

202241 H18 202241 H10H
RREZE2021F12 A31BILEEKRA
HESBEMNBBEFETIR T -
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13A. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS AND DISPOSAL
OF SUBSIDIARIES

(a) Results of the Discontinued Operations (d) StAGRSERREMEEUES
included in the consolidated statement of RNERIEEFEES

LA ERULRBRUSEHEAR

ISP HOLDINGS LIMITED

profit or loss and other comprehensive income

For the
period from
1 January
2022 to
10 January
2022 2021
2022 &
181B%
2022 5
1810H
il
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BEET T
Revenue g - 775,364
Cost of sales and service THE KRG A = (680,498)
Gross profit ESVY - 94,866
Other income HE A - 2,957
General and administrative expenses ~ —#& &IT X - (51,792)
Interest expenses FERZ = (293)
Net allowances for impairment EWEER R EHEEL
losses on receivables and BB E B R
contract assets - 237
Profit before taxation B 25 A g A = 45,975
Taxation IR = (5,740)
Profit for the period/year B, R T = 40,235
Intragroup elimination of SERA A REHEEN
revenue due to the Group AEE KR = (5,177)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries, HEMBAR 2 W - Mk
net of transaction costs (Note 13B) RS (3£ 13B) 438,440 -
Profit for the period/year attributable 72 @ (5 8RR, A% 7
to the Group 438,440 35,058

2022 ANNUAL REPORT
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Profit for the period/year from Discontinued Operations REABKRIEES 2 BHA/ FEREF
includes the following: BIEATEIE :
For the
period from
1 January
2022 to
10 January
2022 2021
2022 £
1A18%
2022 £
1A10H
HARS
Profit before tax has been arrived at PR A& A 2 0B 51 & I8 HK$’000 HK$’000
after charging: BT T BT T
Staff costs, including directors’ BTN (BIEESEHS)
emoluments - 581,458
Depreciation of property, ME - IS RREITE
plant and equipment = 2,355
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEERE - 5,502
(b) An analysis of the cash flows of the (b) ERLEBZRERES WA
Discontinued Operations is as follows: T:
For the
period from
1 January
2022 to
10 January
2022 2021
2022 £
1H81H8Z&
2022 £
1A810H
HARS
HK$°000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Net cash outflows from operating LB 7SR TR
activities = (87,251)
Net cash inflows/(outflows) from KEEKZ2R®
investing activities WA (i) 58 529,197 (696)
Net cash outflows from financing BEXEE RS MLFRE
activities = (52,575)
Net cash inflows/(outflows) BWeEmACRit) F58 529,197 (140,522)

L= e A= T P P T P PP P PP PP PP P PP PPPUPPIIPPPPIRPPPP :%ﬁ::ifﬁi&
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(c) Related Party Transactions

The Discontinued Operations has the following related

party transactions during the period/year.

FEALR%

BR/FR - BRIEEBEUTH
BALRG o

Service charges paid to
— Company with common
controlling shareholder
Service income from
— Company with common
controlling shareholder
Maintenance and technical support
service income from
— Company with common
controlling shareholder
— Company controlled by a director

BRNINCIFEN 5T

— HEHERAR
/N

KA NI AR ZBRFWA

— SRR
PN

KA THNRBZ 4 Rl

S IEREA
— HEHERAR
pd/NC]

—H-REFEHZAR

For the
period from
1 January
2022 to
10 January
2022 2021
2022 £
1A18%
2022 £
1H10H
HA RS
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT T
- 5,176
- 1,485
- 2
- 80
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13B. ASSETS AND LIABILITIES DISPOSED OF AT
DISPOSAL DATE

The assets and liabilities disposed of at disposal date:

13B. REEBBMHEZSERAR

REERMHEZEERAR

As at

10 January

2022

R2022F

1A10H

HK$’000

BET T

Property and equipment EYNE L 10,169

Investment properties wEMZE 6,800

Deferred tax assets BELEFIBEE 860

Contract assets BHEE 328

Receivables FEUBR TR 137,754

Prepayment and deposits BNHRIERES 18,797

Taxation recoverable B EEE] 1,912

Amount due from Continuing Operations FEUFS BB A4S & TS R IR 333

Pledged bank deposits/time deposits with BHERIRITIFERREIEH

original maturities over three months @ =1E A 2 HFR 1,261

Cash and cash equivalents RekFeEE 9,803
Payable and accruals FERTBR R R IERT B R (64,106)
Contract liabilities aHEE (12,684)
Lease liahilities HEBE (7,304)
Taxation payable AN (1,383)
Long services payment liabilities RERBEAE (1,903)
Deferred tax liabilities FERRIBAE (77)

Net assets disposed of EHEEEFE 100,560
] e e e 12 /a8 ] et OO e P O —E - —EER
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Consideration: HE :
HK$’000
BT
Cash consideration BeRE 539,000
Gain on disposal of the Disposal Group: HEEEHDEE 2 Wes -
HK$’000
BT T
Cash consideration BeRE 539,000
Net assets disposed of BEHEEEFAE (100,560)
Gain on disposal (Note 13A(a)) s e (s 13A@)) 438,440

Net cash inflows arising on disposal:

HEFRELNRSRAFHE -

HK$’000
BT T

Cash consideration received BUERESR(E 539,000
Less: Cash and cash equivalents disposed of B RENREeRREER (9,803)
Net cash inflows FIREBRMA 529,197

ISP HOLDINGS LIMITED .......................................
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

14. TAXATION

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5%
(2021: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profit for the year
after setting off available tax losses brought forward from
prior years. On 21 March 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative
Council passed The Inland Revenue (Amendment) (No. 7) Bill
2017 (the “Bill”) which introduces the two-tiered profits tax
rates regime. The Bill was signed into law on 28 March 2018
and was gazette on the following day. Under the two-tiered
profits tax rates regime, the first HK$2.0 million of profits of
the qualifying group entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits
above HK$2.0 million will be taxed at 16.5%. The profits of
other group entities in Hong Kong not qualifying for the two-
tiered profits tax rates regime will continue to be taxed at
a flat rate of 16.5%. Accordingly, the Hong Kong profits tax
of the qualifying group entity is calculated at 8.25% on the
first HK$2.0 million of the estimated assessable profits and
at 16.5% on the estimated assessable profits above HK$2.0
million.

The PRC EIT was calculated at the statutory income tax rate
of 25% (2021: 25%) on the assessable profits.

During the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, no
Macau Complementary Income Tax has been provided since
there were no assessable profits generated.

Taxation on profits generated outside Hong Kong has been
calculated on the estimated assessable profits for the year
at the rates of taxation prevailing in the countries/places in
which the Group operates.

8 35 R MY &E

14. IR

BEBMNBHNDEAEE 2 B R G
FIEREAFEE 2 e ARIBR U
R16.5% (20214 : 16.5%) £ - B
20183 A21B AL EZ 2 A B
2017 F5i# (1BFT) (B 7 IEHIER)
(MEBIEZ]) » A5 ARARFIIS B R
FIE o &P E R 20184F 3 A28 H
RERAEN  THRZBETIE - EWMR
FIBHRHMESET  TEEREEER
B 75 2,000,000 7T #9 3% A1 #5 42 8.25%
R R F - B ¥ 2,000,000 7T HY
m A B #3216 5% ML R TR - TEFE
MBRFIERHEFEERNEEHME
EEEAGEF S EEIR165% 05—
BBt AEBREERERBHNED
RS % & 78 % 2,000,000 7T Y 4 51 78
FRFR R 80 8.25% K B 1375 2,000,000
TR AT ERRLE AR 16.5% 5T H o

A B 1 AT S R TR B SR B s M AR E
FriSTifi =R 25% (2021 4F : 25%):t & -

BRE £20229F K20214F12 A31H
IFEERTEEARRFEHN R E
SRPIFEATIS B e o

ERENNEEFNBORBCREASF
JE ARG R IE AR Bt A A SR B AR & P B
RABERRITHESHE
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The amount of tax charged/(credited) to the consolidated GeBEINEMEmEm WSRO (GT
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income AN)ZBIBSFEWT ¢
represents:
2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Continuing Operations BEKEER
Current taxation B ETIE
Hong Kong profits tax BBNER
— provision for the year —FNEE 207 1,361
— over provision in prior years —BEFERBERE = (162)
Deferred taxation EEFIE (43) 140
164 1,339
The taxation on the Group’s loss before taxation differs from 7N &= B B B BT S 18 2 B 18 B iR AR 7] BT
the theoretical amount that would arise using the taxation ERR B REEL VI RFIS Y =40
rate of the home country of the Company as follows: m
2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT T
Continuing Operations BESEER
Loss before taxation BT A& R (1,536) (14,107)
Calculated at a taxation rate of HWRHE16.5% 18
16.5% (2021: 16.5%) (20214 : 16.5%) (253) (2,328)
Effect of different taxation rates HA M el A R TR R
in other tax jurisdictions IEE 19 41
Over provision in prior years BEFEHEERE = (162)
Income not subject to taxation BAERBUA (1,299) (493)
Expenses not deductible for PRI F 2
taxation purposes 1,654 953
Utilisation of tax losses previously TR LA R ERNTRISER
not recognised (778) -
Unrecognised tax losses RERER 2 TIEE1E 721 3,328

164 1,339
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15. DIVIDEND 15. iRR

2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$’000
werr Rk

Continuing Operations FEREEYR

Dividend recognised as distribution RREFEEHERAEDIK

during the Reporting Year: 2R
First special dividend of HK$0.59 per ~ $£—XERIAXE © TN
share (Note) B 0.59 7T (B5E) 297,862 -
Second special dividend of HK$0.20 FTRERIRE - BRRHG
per share (Note) B #0.20 7T (F&E) 100,970 -
398,832 -

Note: At Board of Directors (“Board”) meetings held on 20 January 2022 and
23 November 2022, the Board resolved to declare special dividend
of HK$0.59 per share/per convertible preference share and HK$0.20
per share/per convertible preference share respectively based on
504,850,000 shares (including 424,850,000 ordinary shares and
80,000,000 convertible preference shares) for the year ended 31
December 2022 (2021: Nil and Nil, respectively).

At a meeting held on 24 March 2023, the Board resolved not
to declare final dividend for the Reporting Year (2021: Nil).

E] el T 5]l /a8 1] oo OO e e ORI

BfiaE © M 202241 A20H &2022F11 A23 0 &
mrEse((Esg)eamt B8R
% B FE2022612AH318 It £ E B
504,850,000 A& 15 (24 424,850,000 % &
AR % 80,000,000 A% AT B R ESERR) © 2 5
IR BIRR B FRARD A (B AR
0.59 7T KRR IR (D /AT 852 (B S AR 5 0.20
TL(2021%F : DRI BERE) o

R2023F3 248 8RR 12zt B
EEERTHUBEFETRAERE
(20214 : #®) o
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16. EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE 16. SREF (&R)
(@) Basic earnings/(loss) per share is calculated by dividing (@) BREXRREF(EHE) HIRERE
the Group’s profit/(loss) attributable to the equity BHE ABMGAREBERF,(EE) M
holders less dividends (if any) to convertible preference AEBELRREREAZRE
shareholders by the weighted average number of (0B BAFEAB 217 E B nE
ordinary shares in issue during the year. FHHETHE o

-:a 2021

Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to RX#EHE AEIRER

equity holders (HK$’000) wmAl (R (BT
— Continuing Operations and —BELEEBRERLE
Discontinued Operations EFE 436,740 19,612
— Continuing Operations —REREER (1,700) (15,446)
Less: dividends to convertible W AERE LR E A
preference shareholders ZIRE BT L)
(HK$’'000)
— Continuing Operations and —REREEBRERIE
Discontinued Operations ESi (63,200) -
— Continuing Operations —RELEER - -
Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to & @AY AL B A EIHF R
ordinary shareholders (HK$’000) wm A, () (B )
— Continuing Operations and —RBELEEBRERLE
Discontinued Operations Ei 373,540 19,612
— Continuing Operations — RELEE (1,700) (15,446)
Weighted-average number of ordinary =217 % @A I 152
shares issued ('000) (F1) 424,850 424,850
Basic earnings/(loss) per share BREARRF/ (EE)
(HK cents) €t
— Continuing Operations and —RELEEBRERIE
Discontinued Operations Ei 87.9 4.6
— Continuing Operations — REEE (0.4) 3.6)

ISP HOLDINGS LIMITED ..................................................................................... 2022 ANNUAL REPORT



(b)

SEEBARA A

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Diluted earnings/(loss) per share for the Reporting (b)
Year is calculated by dividing the Group’s profit/(loss)
attributable to the equity holders by the weighted-

average ordinary shares outstanding after adjusting

for the potential ordinary shares to be issued on
convertible preference shares and convertible bonds.

The calculation of the diluted earnings/(loss) per

share attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the

Company is based on the following data:

8 35 R MY &E

RB|EFE2EFREERFN (B
18) Th0 5k AT S8 4R 48 5t v Je AT R i
BHH T RITONEEE BRELH
BE RERERAEABGAEE
Al (B 18) B LA 17 3 d AR 0 i
FHEFE - ARBEBRERE
ANEEESREERT,(ER) TR
BATBURRTE -

-:m 2021

Earnings/(loss) BA(E18)
Earnings/(loss) for the purposes FERERETN(EE)H
of basic earnings/loss per share B/ (BER)(BEFr)
(HK$’000)
— Continuing Operations and — FELEEBRERKLE
Discontinued Operations S 436,740 19,612
— Continuing Operations — R ET (1,700) (15,446)
Number of share &G EE
Weighted-average number of BT T mAR i T2k
ordinary shares issued ('000) (Fr&) 424,850 424,850
Effect of dilutive potential BEBETTRR I FE
ordinary shares:
— Convertible preference shares — ATEEIRE S AR (FAR)
('000) 80,000 80,000
Weighted-average ordinary shares St EGRESER T/ (EE)
for calculating diluted earnings/ 2 INREF T E AR (TR
(loss) per share ("000) 504,850 504,850
Diluted earnings/(loss) per share BREERF(EE)
(HK cents) (EEEL)
— Continuing Operations and — FELEEBRELLE
Discontinued Operations 7% 86.5 3.9
— Continuing Operations — FBKEE (0.3) (3.1)

Note: The effect of any potential exercise of convertible bonds is
excluded from the calculation of diluted earnings/(loss) per share
for the year ended 31 December 2022 and 2021 as the effect

was considered to be anti-dilutive.

o AR R TE R A IR E SR Y
TBIEEE E20224F 2021412
A31AILFEREETREAF (&)
WatEF - HFEWRARRESY -
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Discontinued Operations

For the year ended 31 December 2022, basic and diluted
earnings per share for the Discontinued Operations was
88.3 HK cents and 86.8 HK cents respectively (2021: basic
and diluted earnings per share was 8.3 HK cents and 6.9
HK cents respectively), based on the profit for the year from
Discontinued Operations attributable to ordinary shareholders
of the Company of approximately HK$438,440,000 (2021:
HK$35,058,000) and the denominators detailed above for
both basic and diluted earnings per share.

17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

SH I

HE2022F12 A31HIEFE  B&I1E
EBHNBREAREERT DR ABE
88.31l B % 86.81L (2021 4F : FIRE
KRR ESE R D R AEES 3L K& EE6.9
W) - TR AR A R TR ERE A AR
HMERIEEBNTFE RGN B
438,440,000t (20214 : & ¥
35,058,000 T ) & EXFil v BRER
REEARN A -

17. W% - Bes iR

Furniture
Right-of-use Leasehold Motor and
assets improvements vehicles equipment Total
ERELEE HENELE RE BERRE @zt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BT BETT BT BETT
Cost BA
At 1 January 2021 202161710 23,697 10,950 4,647 61,319 100,613
Exchange differences EHESE - - 45 79 124
Additions RE 8,119 188 352 663 9,322
Disposals/written-off HE /i (14,261) 3) (209) (9,998) (24,471)
Transfer to Disposal Group BRNEEEENE
classified as held-for-sale BRIELE (11,072) (9,193) (1,879) (42,414) (64,558)
At 31 December 2021 72021512 A31R 6,483 1,942 2,956 9,649 21,030
Exchange differences EREE (583) 7 (133) (167) (876)
Additions RE 1,614 - - 188 1,802
Disposals/written-off HE /s (3,09) (426) - (2,012) (5,533)
At 31 December 2022 R2022%12F31H 4,418 1,523 2,823 7,659 16,423
Accumulated depreciation B iTE
At 1 January 2021 R202161A10 (11,510) (10,732) (4,017) (55,934) (82,193)
Exchange differences EREE - - (45) 77) (122)
Depreciation for the year FRHE (9,141) (91) (350) (2,635) (12,217)
Disposals/written-off HeE /s 12,956 3 209 9,984 23,152
Transfer to Disposal Group BRNEEEENE
classified as held-for-sale RIELE 3,876 8,974 1,778 39,761 54,389
At 31 December 2021 2021512 A318 (3,819) (1,846) (2,425) (8,901) (16,991)
Exchange differences EREE 444 (6) 112 164 714
Depreciation for the year FRITE (2,302) (20) (282) (411) (3,015)
Disposals/written-off e /M 2,368 426 - 2,011 4,805
At 31 December 2022 #2022 12 31H (3,309) (1,446) (2,595) (7,237) (14,487)
Closing net ook value FRERTE
At 31 December 2022 R2022%12A31H 1,109 77 228 522 1,936
At 31 December 2021 2021412 A31H 2,664 96 531 748 4,039

ISP HOLDINGS LIMITED

2022 ANNUAL REPORT



SEEBARA A

Right-of-use assets

For both years, the Group leases office premises and furniture
and equipment for its operations.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
8 35 R MY &E

EREEE

RMEFE  AEELSEZ;
MEMRIB MR

Leasehold Furniture
Land and
and buildings equipment Total
HEL i
kEF REREE st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
BETIT BETIT BETIT
At 1 January 2021 20214 1A1H 11,682 505 12,187
Additions B 7,635 484 8,119
Termination eyl (1,231) (74) (1,305)
Depreciation e (8,844) (297) (9,141)
Exchange differences MEH =5 - - -
Transfer to Disposal Group ERHEEEE N
classified as held-for-sale BEELRE (6,828) (368) (7,196)
Balance as at 31 December 7202112 A318X
2021 and 1 January 2022 20221 A1 Ar#EH 2,414 250 2,664
Additions NE 1,614 = 1,614
Termination eyl (728) - (728)
Depreciation e (2,180) (122) (2,302)
Exchange differences fE N =58 (139) - (139)
At 31 December 2022 202212 A31H 981 128 1,109

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the total
cash outflow for leases were HK$2,474,000 (2021:

HK$9,659,000).

HE2022F12A31BIEEE &2
BRI AEREABE 2 474,0007T(2021
£ : ##9 659,0007T) °
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18. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 18. REME
2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BEET T
At 1 January ®1A1H - 6,800
Transfer to Disposal Group classified ~— EHREPEEBEHBEABELE
as held-for-sale (Note 13B) (fi#E13B) - (6,800)
At 31 December ®12A31H - -

Note:

(a)

ISP HOLDINGS LIMITED

The investment properties were valued as of 31 December 2021 on
the basis of their open market value by an independent professional
property valuer, Savills Valuation and Professional Services Limited.

Valuation processes of the Group

The Group measures its investment properties at
fair value. The fair value of the Group’s investment
properties at 31 December 2021 has been determined
on the basis of valuations carried out by independent
valuers. Discussion of valuation processes and results
are held between the Group’s senior management and
valuers at least once every six months, in line with the
Group’s interim and annual reporting dates. At each
reporting date the Group’s senior management:

—  Verifies all major inputs to the independent
valuation report;

— Assess property valuations movement when
compared to the prior period valuation report; and

—  Holds discussions with the independent valuers.

Change in Levels 2 and 3 fair values are also analysed
at each reporting date during the semi-annual
valuations discussions date between the Group’s senior
management.

Wi

(a)

WEWMER 202112 A31 BHBIEEY
EEEME - ATFRENEERSEBRE
RA AR AR E R -

KFEEZGERR

REBZEAFENFEELREYE -
REBZIREWMENR2021F12 A
31 H 2 A F{E TR I8 7 (G E R
TZHEEE - AEESEEEA
BHEEME LS NEAR (EAL
Bz RFEREAHE ) #E

T—REERFRERT® - RS
#&iﬁﬁﬁ AEBSEEEAS

- ERBUGBEBRSANME
ERHARIE

- Hr-HRENEEREET

BB EMEEHEEZS

K
-  ERTAERETHR
AEEREERARTHE_HR
F=MATEZEPIREHE A
ETFFEE2BENREETD
il
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(b) Fair value hierarchy (b)

The following tables analyses the fair value of
investment properties at different levels defined as
follows:

— quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities (Level 1).

= inputs other than quoted prices included within
Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that
is, derived from prices) (Level 2).

— inputs for the asset or liability that are not based
on observable market data (that is, unobservable
inputs) (Level 3).

Quoted prices
in active
market for
identical
assets

(level 1)

AEAE
WERDS L
218 ()
HK$’000
BT

As at 31 December 2021 72021412 A31H

Recurring fair value KEEAFERTE
measurements
Investment properties HEYHE -

CIAL STATEMENTS
8 35 R MY &E

NEEEBR

TREINTEEBRZEMERF
B BRERZERNT :

- REEEXEERERTS
EZRECRERAR) (F—
AR o

- FAEBRAZBEARINZ
EERABZABEHAR
B TwmEx (BER)XME
BETEEER) (E=R) -

- UFERABRMBEIEZ
BEXAERARE(TATE
RPABBR)(F=) -

Significant
other Significant
observable unobservable
inputs inputs
(Level 2) (Level 3)
BERHEMA BEAARA
EZRARE BEAAHE
(B=&) (B=8)
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BETT

6,800 -

There were no transfers between Levels 1, 2 and 3
during the year.

Fair value measurements using significant other
observable inputs (Level 2)

Fair value of the investment properties are derived using
the direct comparison method. This valuation method is
based on comparing the property to be valued directly
with other comparable properties, which have recently
transacted. However, given the heterogeneous nature
of the properties, appropriate adjustments are usually
required to allow for any qualitative differences that may
affect the price likely to be achieved by the property
under consideration.

172 20 12l 738 ] | oo OO e OO P PO

RAFR  E—K B_RKRE=
A A S -

EREAREMTEEGABBEZA
FEFEEZR)

REMEZ A FEERBERLBOL
B - WAEETAE T EEZY
KEMTHIR G2 Hb R B LB %
ETZERLBAER - AT - @
REYMEZHEETHER - BEAR
EHBEERE  MAAFEAREY
SRR REER BB/ ZEM
BleE£-
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19. CONTRACT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

19. SHEERKR

2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Contract assets BHEE
— contract work of ISP Business ~ — &= R & 2 7k 18 B 0)
EBMEHNTIE 116,548 140,601
Less: impairment B ORE (i) (649) (973)
Total contract assets BHIEERE 115,899 139,628
Contract liabilities EHBE
— contract work of ISP Business ~ — ZE A ZE £ 2 B k1B B (iif)
EBMEHTE = (497)
Total contract liabilities EHBEERE = (497)
Notes: Bt &E -
0} Significant changes in contract assets (M) AHEENERES
Contract assets have decreased as the Group has completed contract EREERD  ARAKER2022F412A4
work in progress as at 31 December 2022. 31 BRAETR TIRE AP o
(i) Movements in the provision for impairment of contract assets that are (i) AHNEE(RERIMORE) 2 REREZS N

ISP HOLDINGS LIMITED

assessed for impairment collectively are as follows:

T

2021
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT BT

Contract Assets AREE
At 1 January ®1A1H 973 773
Reversal of impairment loss A ERE D (324) -
Provision for impairment recognised BRI E RS - 200
At 31 December ®12A31H 649 973

For contract assets, the Group has applied the simplified approach
permitted by HKFRS 9 to measure the allowance for credit losses at
lifetime ECL. The contract assets are assessed for ECL by using the
provision matrix similar with the approach of trade receivables. After
the assessment by the directors of the Company, the allowance for ECL
on contract assets are HK$649,000 as at 31 December 2022 (2021:
HK$973,000).

MAHNEEMS ' ARECHABRSHIER
SRR F AN A E R HTE
HEEBEEL T ZEEBERE - 60E
ENEHREEBEERESERFIES A8
UE) B R 1R AT o A AR E BT
f - R2022612 A31 8 - AHEENTER
EE B8 B A% 649,000 (2021 4F :
##973,0007T) °
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(iii) Revenue recognised in relation to contract liabilities (iii)

The following table shows how much of the revenue recognised in the
current reporting period relates to carried-forward contract liabilities.

8 35 R MY &E

MENR ERR RS

TRIFELAEANHENEBERBNNA
FHRARDSERENBEFERTHRELD
BEARHEHE -

2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT T
Revenue recognised that was included in REAEF A SN BERMRENEER
the contract liability balance at &
the beginning of the period
Contract work of ISP Business R LSRR R NS LTI 497 894
Property and facility services LIEYSE A - 12,689
(iv)  Unsatisfied long-term contract work of ISP Business (iv) ZEREHMRFHREEEBHORTRERDAED

The following table shows unsatisfied performance obligations resulting
from long-term contract work of ISP Business.

I

TRIBRNZEA KM RFHRIA R EBN &
HAHTRHRTRENRE -

PEEER12 A31BH D HEE
RIERE N R RFRIE B 25
HRIAGHNZ ZERTE

Aggregate amount of the transaction price
allocated to long-term contract work of ISP
Business that are partially or fully unsatisfied
as at 31 December

2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BETT
285,900 328,800

Management expects approximately that HK$285,900,000 to the
unsatisfied contracts as of 31 December 2022 will be recognised
as revenue during the next financial year. As at 31 December 2021,
management expects approximately that HK$289,700,000 to the
unsatisfied contracts would be recognised as revenue in 2022,
remaining aggregate amount of transaction price allocated to long-term
contract of HK$39,100,000 will be recognised in the 2023 financial year.
The amount disclosed above does not include variable consideration
which is constrained.

EEEBMAOTEN 2022412 A 31 AKRZEMK
A #HEH 285,900,000 TS EFHER A T
—HRFERE - B2021F 128318 ¢
EEEBMABIFTATRANNER
289,700,000 7T # & 37 #E 7 £ 2022 F Y I
& PEERFEHNNB TR S ERBES
#39,100,000 7T #§ 74 2023 BF B 6F [ S 5 FE
R LA S R AR AT A SR i A 8
KB -
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20. RECEIVABLES 20. FEUTAREX

ISP HOLDINGS LIMITED

The credit period of the Group’s accounts receivable generally
ranges from 30 to 60 days (2021: 30 to 60 days) and the
majority of the Group’s accounts receivable are denominated
in Hong Kong dollars. The ageing analysis of accounts
receivable by invoice date is as follows:

REBEWERZEER—MBNTFI0E
60H (20215 : 30E60H) - AEE 2
AW AR TIREEEHE - IBBE
BEIDFE 2 FRUBR R Z BRER AT LN TS

2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BRI
Accounts receivable PEUR BR X
0to 30 days 0%30H 11,042 64,690
31 to 60 days 312 60H - 30,861
61 to 90 days 61%90H 516 10,993
Over 90 days 90 HEA E 28,896 35,934
40,454 142,478
Other receivables Hit W IE 11,460 37,146
Retention receivables (Note /) EWRES (M) 56,548 68,334
Receivables (Note /l) PEUSBRTR (AYaE 1) 108,462 247,958
Impairment of accounts receivable, FEWIRF - BUWRE S R HAitt
retention receivables and FEW R IE ZRAE (e 11)
other receivables (Note /l/) (5,623) (5,856)
102,839 242,102
Transfer to Disposal Group HBHEEEZ2EABELE
classified as held-for-sale - (137,754)
102,839 104,348
Note I: Htazl:

Retention receivables in respect of the contracting business are settled in
accordance with the terms of the respective contracts. At 31 December
2022, retention receivables held by customers for contract works amounting
to approximately HK$4,954,000 (2021: HK$4,378,000) are expected to be
recovered or settled in more than 12 months from the end of the reporting
period, all of the remaining balances are expected to be recovered or settled
within one year. Retention receivables are included in current assets as the
Group expects to realise these within its normal operating cycle.

The retention receivables are contract assets under HKFRS 15 until the end
of the retention period as the Group’s entitlement to this final payment is
conditional on the Group’s work satisfactorily passing inspection.

AGREER 2 BRUWIR B THRIEARRE & HE k& 1 -
2022612 A31H %7 # 4,954,000t (2021
& : B 4,378,000 L) 2B PRI A T EFFE B IE
YR B € AR RS AR 1218 A B Uk = k4
5+ A SRR TR H N 1 4 R UK B sk 45 £ o FE MR E
SHARDEE  AAASEEHNEECLBE
FIN L EFOA -

RRRE S RE B EREENFE 15K THANE
E G EEREMTERL  AAKERIZ KRR
BERASEZ TREmEERANGREZ— -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For retention receivables, the Group has applied the simplified approach
permitted by HKFRS 9 to measure the allowance for credit losses at lifetime
ECL. The retention receivables are assessed for ECL by using the provision
matrix similar with the approach of trade receivables. After the assessment by
the directors of the Company, the allowance for ECL on retention receivables
are insignificant to the Group as at 31 December 2021 and 2022.

Note Il:

As of 31 December 2022, accounts receivable of HK$28,568,000 (2021:
HK$64,786,000) were past due but not impaired. These related to a number
of independent customers for whom there is no recent history of default.
Accounts receivable of HK$2,423,000 (2021: HK$2,895,000) were past due
and impaired.

Note lll:

The other classes within trade and other receivables do not contain impaired
assets. The Group does not hold any collateral as security.

8 35 R MY &E

HEWRESHE  ASECEABBHBREE
B 9SRFTERTM L A AsT 22 B HEEER
BATZEEBBREE BRRESZEHEEE
18Ty 1E A ERE 5 FEUGRIE 77 A A IR0 B (e AB R 5T o
KRN R EETE - R20214F % 2022612 A31
B BHRE<EHEEEEREYANEENS I
TEKX °

B Il

2022412 A31H - ##¥28,568,0007T(2021 4 :
71 64,786,0007T ) 2 EWBR K E B HAE RIBE °
ZEFIER S R Y R NS B R AR
75 #2,423,000 7T (2021 & : ##2,895,0007T) Z
FEWIERE B E RIRIE ©

BtaE i

B REMEBUFANEMBH LT BECHESR
E o AREWES B TAERRIERER

2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT BT IT

Impairment of receivables PR IE R
At 1 January R1A1H 5,856 6,074
Provision for impairment recognised BRI E B = 43
Written off i gH = (24)
Reversal of provision for impairment BB R R (233) (237)
At 31 December W12 A31H 5,623 5,856

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the carrying value
of the accounts receivable mentioned above. The Group does not hold any
collateral as security.

K& A HEER 2 &5 EERR A Ll KRR
ZBREE o ANEEESS A TR E A R (EER -
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21. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVTPL

21.

BATEFARBRNEMEE

2022

HK$’000
BT T

2021
HK$'000
BT

Listed equity securities in Hong Kong

B LTRBRARES

28,653 -

The listed equity securities are classified as current assets
as the management expects to realise these financial assets
within twelve months after 31 December 2022.

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets are measured at fair
value on a recurring basis

The following table provides an analysis of financial
instruments that are measured at fair value at the end of each
reporting period, grouped into Levels 1 to 3 based on the
degree to which the fair value is observable in accordance to
the Group’s accounting policy.

AR EREFEIBEE 2022412 A31 8
BI2ERAANEEELSREE - tHK
KEHWDEBRBDEE ©

ARENSREERERELTEUAT
it &

TRHFIINEHREHRZAFETEN
ERTANN ERBEASEN SR
R BAFENIBERESRF —E
E

ISP HOLDINGS LIMITED

2022
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
E—& et 1 FE=K gt
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BET T BT T BET T BET T
Financial asset TREE
Financial assets at FVTPL BATHER A BER
— Listed equity investment ~ — FHIRAIERE 28,653 - - 28,653
2021
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
F—1 F_K F=1 et
HK$’'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BRI PRI T AT T BT T
Financial asset TREE
Financial assets at FVTPL BATHER ABET
— Listed equity investment  — FHRARE - - - -

During the year, there was no transfers of fair value
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers
into or out of Level 3 (31 December 2021: Nil).

ER E—REE R REWEEREAN
FEE - MESEASKEHE=H(2021
F£12H318 : &) -
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The valuation techniques and input used in the fair value
measurement of financial instrument are as set out below:

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

8 35 R MY &E

SRIARTFEIEMALSENER
HABEBIIT ¢

Valuation
Fair value technique and

Financial asset Fair value of hierarchy key input

fhE R =R FEE
THMEE AFE AFEER BB
Financial asset at FVTPL
BATEFABRNSREE
— Listed equity securities HK$28,653,000 Level 1 Quoted closing price

in Hong Kong (2021: Nil) in an active market
— BB T TRAES 755 28,653,000 7T E—& FE)& BB T 3% P R Y
(2021 % : f%) W&

22. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND PLEDGED
BANK DEPOSITS/TIME DEPOSITS

22. RERREFERERFPRITE
o/ RHER

2022 2021

HK$’000 HK$’000

BT T BT T

Cash and bank balance e RIRTTER 21,049 76,174
Time deposits with original REIEEA=EANUNTH

maturities less than three months TEHAfF K 132,378 6,487

Cash and cash equivalents BeMReEFE 153,427 82,661

Pledged bank deposits/time BEBRITFR R A

deposits with original maturities BB = A 5 A7

over three months 19,524 -

172,951 82,661

The majority of the Group’s deposit, cash and cash equivalents
is denominated in Hong Kong dollars.

The deposits, cash and cash equivalents disclosed above
and in the consolidated statement of cash flows include
HK$18,801,000 (2021: HK$20,926,000) which are held in
the PRC. These deposits are subject to regulatory restrictions
and are therefore not available for general use by the other

AEBZEF  BeRREFERBN
AR REAL -

EXHENGER  BeRBESSEMF
AFREIR & MmER S 18,801,000 7T
(20214 : % #20,926,000 7T ) ¥ 7 $
BFE ZETARZETRS  BiE
EANEMEBTAEEREA—RBE -

entities within the Group.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, there is no bank
deposit pledged as security for the Group’s bank loan as the
bank loans were fully settled.

HERERA A

HZE20215F12 A31 B IEFE @ #ER
ThERBIEAEEEITER ZEIF -
BIRITERB BELEL -
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23. PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 23. E{IRA:MESHEA
The credit period of the Group’s accounts payable generally REBENERZEER BN TFI0E
ranges from 30 to 60 days (2021: 30 to 60 days). The ageing 608 (20214 : 302 60H) °» HHEEH
analysis of accounts payable by invoice date is as follows: HS 2 R ERFZ BREC D ATIAT
2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Accounts payable PEATERTX
0to 30 days 0Z230H 100,796 171,859
31 to 60 days 312 60H 8,828 6,214
61 to 90 days 61290H 5,796 6,098
Over 90 days 90 B A E 28,033 27,370
143,453 211,541
Retention payables, other EfRES  HESERR
payables and accruals &R 79,246 118,238
222,699 329,779
Transfer to Disposal Group HEHEEEESEAR
classified as held-for-sale BELHE = (64,1006)
222,699 265,673
Retention payables in respect of the contracting business AEEE Y EMNREELS DIRERABA Y
are settled in accordance with the terms of the respective (&S AER o
contracts.
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24. LEASES LIABILITIES 24. HEBE
Leasehold Furniture
land and and
buildings equipment Total
HELTHR
BF HKERRE wast
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BT BT TT BT
At 1 January 2021 M2021F1H1H 11,473 555 12,028
Additions NE 7,635 484 8,119
Termination Rk (1,158) (89) (1,247)
Interest expenses FIEFS 491 22 513
Lease payments MERK (9,016) (333) (9,349)
Exchange differences EHER (5) - (5)
9,420 639 10,059
Transfer to Disposal Group HENEEEENER
classified as liabilities HEHEAE
held for sale (6,828) (476) (7,304)
At 31 December 2021 and M2021F12 A31HK
1 January 2022 20221 81H 2,592 163 2,755
Additions NE 1,614 = 1,614
Termination Sl (760) = (760)
Interest expenses FMBEFRX 77 10 87
Lease payments MERK (2,307) (136) (2,443)
Exchange differences EHER (242) 100 (1412)
At 31 December 2022 A 2022512 A31H 975 137 1,112
Represented by: RE
Current TRE 916 137 1,053
Non-current FEmED 59 - 59
975 137 1,112
%ﬂa%gﬁﬁﬁgﬁ/&a ........................................................................................................................... :;ﬁ::ifﬁi&
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Future lease payments are due as follows: RRBEEMFKEIEAT
Minimum
lease
payments Interest Present value
BEHEEMRK FIE RE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT T BETT
Not later than one year 1FR 1,072 (19) 1,053
Later than one year and not 1FEE2FA
later than two years 59 - 59
At 31 December 2022 A 2022F12A31H 1,131 (19) 1,112
Minimum
lease
payments Interest  Present value
IEHE K F.E RE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT BT
Not later than one year 1FR 7,270 (310) 6,960
Later than one year and not 1F&E2FA
later than two years 2,939 (58) 2,881
Later than two years and not 2 F{&{E5E R
later than five years 222 (4) 218
10,431 (372) 10,059
Transfer to Disposal Group HEHESBESEA
classified as liabilities FIELEEE
held for sale (Note 13B) (Pt3E13B) (7,576) 272 (7,304)
At 31 December 2021 R2021F 12 A31H 2,855 (100) 2,755
25. AMOUNT DUE TO THE DISPOSAL GROUP 25. E(THEEEMIA
The amount due to the Disposal Group is unsecured, interest- ENEERBERIELAEKT 25 KAE
free and repayable on demand. LERKEE -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

26. LONG SERVICE PAYMENT LIABILITIES

Pursuant to the Employment Ordinance, Chapter 57, the
Group has the obligation to pay Long Service Payment (“LSP”)
to qualifying employees in Hong Kong upon retirement,
subject to a minimum of 5 years employment period, based
on the following formula:

Last monthly wages (before termination of employment) x 2/3
x Years of service

Last monthly wages are capped at HK$22,500 while
the amount of long service payment shall not exceed
HK$390,000. This obligation is accounted for as a post-
employment defined benefit plan.

Furthermore, the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance passed in 1995 permits the Group to utilize the
Group’s mandatory MPF contributions, plus/minus any
positive/negative returns thereof (collectively, the “Eligible
Offset Amount”), for the purpose of offsetting LSP payable
to an employee (the “Offsetting Arrangement”). The LSP
obligation, if any, is presented on a net basis.

The Employment & Retirement Schemes Legislation
(Offsetting Arrangement) (Amendment) Ordinance 2022
was gazette on 17 June 2022, which will eventually abolish
the Offsetting Arrangement. The Amendment will come into
effect prospectively from a date to be determined by the Hong
Kong SAR Government, which is expected to be in 2025 (the
“Transition Date”). Under the amended Ordinance, the Eligible
Offset Amount after the Transition Date can only be applied
to offset the pre-Transition Date LSP obligation but no longer
eligible to offset the post-Transition Date LSP obligation.
Furthermore, the LSP obligations before the Transaction
Date will be grandfathered and calculated based on the Last
monthly wages immediately preceding the Transaction Date.

8 35 R MY &E

26. RAIRHERE

RIERBIEPIESTE  AEBEEBKE
BENEEREERARERE N RS
REe(ERHERBE]) ELEAS
FHOREY  AEARNT

RE—EATE (R IEERERT) x 2/3 xR
BER

B —BAIER LR AZBE 22,500
T MEHREESNESETSHBBEEE
390,0007C ° WIEEBIERBERE R E
EBFFTEIALR ©

BESN 1995 G B3 Ay 58 il 1E AR & 7T
iRl 7o 5 AN SR B A AN SR Y 58 il 1E
Bef - L REERER/AE
El#% (GREa (R EREHEE] - EH
ENEENRARGEE (TEHZHE]) -
RHRBENEL (WA) DIAFERE

2R -

2022 FlEE KRR EAM R L HE)
(EETIEBIE R 20226 A17 B TIE -
ZIED ARG RERR Y R L HE - ZIEIER
BREBERRAEEN B BB E
B FEEHSTE 2025 F (T84 B |) A3 -
BIEEIEETIER - EHIBRMEERIK
$H%8 R Be B R ¥R B 5 B AT Y & 2R AR 7S
© MABAEERERESHEZNRBE
R E o thoh X5 B Z AR ERS
CEBEIZRES - WIERHHZ A
BE—HAILEE -
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27. CONVERTIBLE BONDS

27. oJRER(ESS

ISP HOLDINGS LIMITED

The Company issued 84.0 million, 7% convertible bonds
with a principal amount of HK$42.0 million on 18 November
2019. The convertible bonds are denominated in Hong Kong
dollars. The bonds will mature by two years from the issue
date with repayment of principal amount or can be converted
into ordinary shares of the Company at the holder’s option
at the fixed rate of one share per HK$0.5 of the outstanding
principal.

The fair values of the liability component and the equity
conversion component were valued by independent
professional valuer, Pretium Advisory Services Limited, at the
issuance of the convertible bonds and not subject to annual
revaluation. The fair value of the liability component included
in non-current financial liabilities was calculated using a
market interest rate for an equivalent non-convertible bonds.
The residual amount, representing the value of the equity
conversion component, is included in shareholders’ equity net
of deferred income taxes.

The Convertible Bonds were redeemed in full during the year
ended 31 December 2021. Following the redemption, there
was no principal amount outstanding under the Convertible
Bonds and no Convertible Bonds have been or will be
converted into ordinary shares of the Company.

X 2 @ M2019%11 8188 ﬁ
84,000, 000H;<7% AMRES ~e
%ﬁ%%Ag%Q%Oxoﬂ@hﬁ%&
BEEE - BHFBERETH2FRE
B BEAAEREEELASHNIEARE
BAREGHEY0S TR — RN ZEER
BERE AR N T TR

BESORERERITS 2 ARETIH
B S F ¥ & B Bl (Pretium Advisory
Services Limited) )‘5’\%/_—[?‘% H%ﬁ#ﬁ%ﬁ
EBEREFBFEMH - BEFHPZANE
(af]\#um%ﬂiﬁﬂﬁfi)75195?@:%5#7
BRES 2 ST R E - 848 (B
BRI S 2 (BE) i AR SRR IEE
FriS#i o

AR E SR E £ 202112 A31 81tk
FEERHELD - BEOR TRiRES
THEGREEZASRE H*E}Hﬁﬂ?ﬁé
BEHFELIEEERAR G L@ -

The convertible bonds recognised in the consolidated 2021 F 4R A B RS AR R AER 2 AT A%
statement of financial position in 2021 is calculated as BHAENAT :
follows:
2021
HK$'000
BT IT
Equity component at 31 December MR12 A31BZERISH -
Liability component at 1 January R1A1BZ8EHS 38,912
Interest expenses FEFISZ 2,042
Interest paid [=ENEIES) (959)
Repayment of Convertible Bonds BEARRES (42,000)
Loss on early redemption of Convertible Bonds 12 BTiE R Al A& %5 2 B8 2,005
Liability component at 31 December R12A31BZAEHS -

Interest expenses on the convertible bonds are calculated
using the effective interest method by applying the effective
interest rate of 17.1% to the liability component.

Al AR E 7 2 B B F T E A ER A X
EABERD ZERME17.1%E -
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28. DEFERRED TAXATION

Deferred taxation is calculated in full on temporary differences
under the liability method using tax rates substantively
enacted as at the date of statement of financial position. The

8 35 R MY &E

28. JEERIR
EERARARPBARRZ AHEE
B 2 B R IR B (B R B B A R AR BT
B RERA(RE) BERBFEZ

movement on the net deferred tax (assets)/liabilities account BEHIOR :
is as follows:
2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$'000
BEET T BT
Beginning of the year F7) (139) (782)
Deferred taxation recognised REBRER ZIELERIE (M 14)
in profit or loss (Note 14) (43) (140)
Transfer to Disposal Group classified ERNEEEESEARIELE
as held-for-sale = 783
End of the year FR (282) (139)

The movement on the deferred tax assets and liabilities (prior
to offsetting of balances within the same taxation jurisdiction)

during the year is as follows:

ERERREE N AR (R AR RDAE
B HAA A NAFRE 2 BT

Deferred tax Deferred tax

liabilities assets

EEBEEE BELEHEEE

Accelerated Accounting

tax tax

depreciation  depreciation

MEFHERE SFHEFRE

HK$’000 HK$’000

BT BT T

At 1 January 2021 R2021F1H1H 385 (1,167)
Charged/(credited) to profit or loss RiEzEM&, (GEA) (179) 39

Transfer to Disposal Group classified HERNESEEESEARBIELE

as held-for-sale (77) 860
At 31 December 2021 2021412 A31H 129 (268)
Charged/(credited) to profit or loss REZ R, (GTA) (71) 28
At 31 December 2022 202212 A31H 58 (240)

No deferred tax assets are recognised for tax losses
carried forward. The Group has unrecognised tax losses of
HK$177,139,000 (2021: HK$178,508,000) to carry forward
against future taxable income. The remaining tax loss do not

have expiry dates.

SEEBARA A

MEntAEnHEEERREEHIEE
E o ARBZARAERWIESE  BEE
#177,139,0007C (20214 : B *&
178,508,0007T) * Al &E8E LA EH AR 2R 2
FERRBEULA o 88 T 71 I8 B 48 30 48 J& i B
Hy o
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Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a EEETEURTENEEBHEBEEE
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against HE AR IE B EEE - MEERIES &
current tax liabilities and when the deferred taxes relate to B — B B - Rl A] R AE B 18 & A
the same fiscal authority. The following amounts, determined EEFIEEEL AR - Bt AEE R
after appropriate offsetting, are shown in the consolidated iH1& » T A BELEE VBN KA
statement of financial position. i

2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BETIT
Deferred tax assets ERERBAEE (240) (268)
Deferred tax liabilities EERIARE 58 129
(182) (139)
29. SHARE CAPITAL 29. BAX

Number of
shares Amount
e Kot ]

’000 HK$’000
TR BT T

At 31 December 2021, 1 January 2022 2021412 831H ’ 20224

and 31 December 2022 1A1HK2022F12A831H
Authorised: VERE ¢
— Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each —BRETEREE0LT 9,000,000 900,000
— Convertible preference shares (“CPSs”) — &% A] &4 8 45 % ([ 7] #ik
of HK$0.1 each (Note) BN A 0.1 7T (BEE) 1,000,000 100,000

10,000,000 1,000,000

At 31 December 2021, 1 January 2022 4202112 A31H 20224

and 31 December 2022 1H81HK&2022%12H31H
Issued and fully paid: BETRHE
— Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each —SRTEEEE LT 424,850 42,486
— Convertible preference shares (“CPSs”) — &% A & ¥ 8 45 j% ([ A] Eik
of HK$0.1 each (Note) B5ek]) B 0.1 7T (Fish) 80,000 8,000

504,850 50,486
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Note: 80,000,000 CPSs of HK$0.75 each were issued as part of the
consideration paid for the acquisition of ISP business in late 2012. The
rights, privileges and restrictions of the CPS are set out below:

(0] Dividend

Holder of each CPS shall have the same entitlement to dividend
and other income distribution as the holder of each ordinary
share of the Company and shall rank pari passu with ordinary
shares of the Company as to dividend payments.

(i) Return on capital

On winding up of the Company, the holder of the CPSs shall be
entitled to the return of capital on the basis of the issue price of
the CPSs and in priority to ordinary shares of the Company.

(iii) Conversion rights

The CPSs is convertible at the option of the holder at any time
after the issue date. Conversion of the CPSs shall be subject to,
among others, the minimum public float requirements stipulated
under the Listing Rules or as required by the Stock Exchange
being satisfied.

(iv) Conversion price

The conversion price is HK$0.75, subject to adjustment in
accordance with the terms of the CPSs. The adjustment event
includes consolidation, sub-division, right issue, issue of the
Company’s shares for cash and grant of options or warrants to
subscribe for new shares of the Company at a discount of more
than 20% of the market price.

(v) Redemption
The Company shall have the sole right to redeem the CPSs at any

time after the issue at the issue price of the CPSs, i.e. HK$0.75
per share.

el R R T e

8 35 R MY &E

sk © 20124 /K 31780,000,000 % FAZEE0.75
TR AR B E R IEREE =R KR
XBHREN 9 TRKRELKRZE
R~ BEAR T

(i) B8

FRATARE SRR ZFE AREGRA
RAE B ZFE ARES REMmUK
ADKAEZEREERN - BRIKE
HEERR B EBRE A RS

Fl

@iy AXE

AR EERZHEABEIRAR
BIEBEEENAR R EABIZ A7
BRELBRZBETEEEERERE -

(i) HpAE

FA AR AT B IR TR
HER A RE AR - BIARRRES
BRARED (B efF) EmRAIFR
ERBRXMERZZERRFRE
& AT

(iv) IB(E

HIER¥0.75 7T - AIRBAIRRE
TR R T IARE - ZEHBEM
BEAM A HERETARF
R AERIR € - A R IR H BB AR R sk
FRR T AR T (B8 20% 2 TR R0
AR ©

v) Em
RAREBBEBET - aJRETEH

RAEAI R ETE(ANERE0.75
T) BB B AT AR B SR A o
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30. RESERVES

Details of movement in the reserves of the Group are set out

on page 92.

The following describes the nature and purpose of each
reserve within owners’ equity

Reserve

it

30. fitfR
AEERFEOEDHERNE 2 -

TR A B P B M R
B :

Description and purpose

HiR B8

Share premium

Bt i (B

Merger reserve

BBt

Exchange reserve
bE 3

Equity component of
convertible bonds

AR ES R
Retained earnings/

(accumulated losses)

REBBF(RFHER)

ISP HOLDINGS LIMITED

Prior to 3 March 2018, the application of the share premium account was
governed by s.48B of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, Cap. 32. In
accordance with the transitional provisions set out in s.37 of Schedule 11 to the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, Cap. 622 (the Ordinance) any amount standing
to the credit of the share premium account at the beginning of 3 March 2018
became part of the Company’s share capital. The use of this share premium
balance is governed by s.38 of Schedule 11 to the Ordinance. Pursuant to a
special resolution passed by the shareholders at the special general meeting of
the Company on 7 November 2022, an amount of HK$185,420,000 standing to
the credit of the share premium account of the Company was reduced and the
credit arising therefrom be transferred to the contributed surplus account of the
Company.

R20183 A3 HAT  RINGEERZEAXEERRKRDI(F32F) E48BIER
B RBBEBRAMEOI(F622F) (KIEH)MIR11E 37 RAE 2 BE KX - B
2018 3 A3 HFAERN REBRZEMERBEEK B/ ARFRA—E 5 - A
LSRN R EEHIZIEPI K11 FE 38 HERE - RIBARAIRRMR 2022411
R7BMBRERAS FRBHN —HEEFIRER - AR ARG R EROERES
# 185,420,000 TTHREIR * ALLESAERBEFBARDBNERZRERS -

Amount of proceeds on merger accounting relating to the difference between the
cost of investment and the nominal value of the share capital acquired.
ERENANEWBRAATEZHAERAENAHEAREEL ZMBHRIES
B o

Gains/losses arising on retranslating the net assets of foreign operations into
presentation currency.

ENMBREBIEEREFERERERELN NS EE -

Equity component was equal to the difference between the net proceeds received
and the fair value of the liability component on issue of convertible bonds (i.e.
option to convert the debt into share capital).
BRafoSRBETRREFZEWAERIEFEEGEN S A FEZHANER
(Bl B E R AR A BARE)

Cumulative net gains and losses recognised in profit or loss.

Rt MR F RN B R o
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31. NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS

(@) Reconciliation of (loss)/profit before taxation
to cash generated from operations:

31. RERBIRERMIE

(a) FRBIAI(ASIR) ERIEREER
BEEZREHERR :

2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T ST IT
(Loss)/profit before taxation B AT (E518), % A (1,536) 26,691
Depreciation e 3,015 12,217
Impairment/(reversal of impairment)  EUERE 2 BUE, OR{ERE)
of receivables 288 (194)
(Reversal of impairment)/impairment & #&E 7 ORiERRE) FE
of contract assets (324) 200
Loss on early redemption of IRRIE R TR ES 8
convertible bonds - 2,005
Interest income A EHBA (3,374) (229)
Interest expenses FERHE 87 3,171
Fair value change on financial assets A F(EE AR
at FVTPL CRMEEZANBEZD 1,018 -
Dividend income derived from BAFEGTAEZEZ
financial assets at FVTPL TRVEEMS 2R BMA (1,335) -
Gain on disposal of property, plant HEYE -« EES B
and equipment 2 WEs (20) (12)
Operating (loss)/profit before working &8 & & & Ea] 2 £ %
capital changes (E518) & 7 (2,171) 43,849
Decrease/(increase) in contract assets & #I&ER L (3L ) 24,053 (49,822)
Decrease in receivables JE U BR FURL 1,526 28,353
Decrease in deposits and prepayments 1% 4 & 78 < Z I8 R 2 1,110 3,335
Decrease in payables and accruals RS - Bt EARRH
and long service payment liabilities i =E =y (43,841) (16,664)
Cash (used in)/generated from EER (R EE2RS
operations (19,323) 9,051
] e e e 12 /a8 ] et OO e P O —E - —EER
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(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from (b) MEXEELEZEBHIRR
financing activities
Interest Lease  Convertible
Bank loans payable liabilities bonds

RITE K FERTFILE HEEBE ABRRES
(Note 24) (Note 27)
(fF5E24) (Fg5E27)
HK$’'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
BT BT T BT T BT

At 1 January 2021 M2021F1A1H 64,000 32 12,028 38,912
Drawdown of bank loans  B)fRR1TE R 85,000 - - -
Repayment of bank loans {&&FE1TEH (149,000) - - -
New lease entered during FRFI L HE

the year - - 8,119 -
Bank loans interest paid B FERITERFIE - (648) - -
Repayment of BRI ES

convertible bonds - - - (42,000)
Interest paid on RARRESEN

convertible bonds A - - - (959)
Lease payments HERK - - (9,349) -
Total changes from MERERELE

financing cash flow #Ea (64,000) (648) (1,230) (42,959)
Foreign exchange SN T B

adjustments - - (5) -
Loss on early redemption 42 A & 2] 7] #2 A% & %

of convertible bonds o) 1= - - - 2,005
Lease termination RIERE - - (1,247) -
Interest expenses FMERX - 616 513 2,042
Total other changes Hih @ s)aaE - 616 (739) 4,047
At 31 December 2021 M2021F12 A31H - - 10,059 -
Transfer to Disposal BERENESEZENE

Groups classified BREEHE

as liabilities held for sale - - (7,304) -

ISP HOLDINGS LIMITED ..................................................................................... 2022 ANNUAL REPORT



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
8 35 R MY &E

Bank loans
BITER

HK$’000
BETT

As at 31 December 2021 F2021 412 A31H

Interest
payable
EAFE

HK$’000
BETT

Lease Convertible

liabilities

HEsE #

bonds
BRRES

(Note 24) (Note 27)
(FieE 24) (MizE 27)

HK$’000
BET T

HK$’000
BET T

and 1 January 2022 20221 A1H - - 2,755 -
Lease payments HERK = = (2,443) =
Total changes from MERERELED

financing cash flow Fok = = (2,443) -
New lease entered FRFFILEE

during the year - - 1,614 -
Foreign exchange HINGEE 3 2&

adjustments - - (141) -
Lease termination RIEHE = = (760) =
Interest expenses MERXZ = = 87 -
Total other changes H i Z 8@z - - 800 -
At 31 December2022 2022412 A31H - - 1,112 -

SEEBARA A
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32. LITIGATION 32.

)

ISP HOLDINGS LIMITED

Reference was made to the interim report of the Company
for the six months ended 30 June 2022 (the “2022 Interim
Report”) and the announcement dated 18 January 2021.
Falcon Insurance Company (Hong Kong) Limited (“Falcon”),
as the 1st defendant and ISP Construction (Engineering)
Limited (“ISPCE”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company, as the 2nd defendant (collectively, the
“Defendants”) received a writ of summons under action
number HCCT 6 of 2021 (issued from the Court of First
Instance of the High Court of Hong Kong) by the solicitors
acting for the employer of the factory development of Yuen
Long (the “Project”) as a plaintiff (the “Plaintiff”) against the
Defendants for the sum of approximately HK$54.4 million
regarding the Defendants’ alleged breaches of the surety bond
(“the Surety Bond”) executed by the Defendants to guarantee
due performance and observance by ISPCE for construction
of works for the Project. A permanent stay of proceedings in
favour of arbitration has been granted to ISPCE by the Court
on 21 September 2021.

Reference was made to the 2022 Interim Report and the
announcement dated 1 March 2022. The Company (as the 1st
defendant) and ISPCE (as the 2nd defendant) received a writ
of summons on 25 February 2022 under action number HCA
245 o